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I. ORIGIN, SmUCTURE AND JURISDlCTION OF THE COURT

A. Creation of the Courl

The lnter-American Courl of Human Rights (hereina fter "the Court") was brought into being by the
entry into force of the American C on ven tion on Human Ríghts "Pact of San José, Cos ta Rica"
(hereinafter "the Convenlion" or "the American Convention"), which occurrcd on July 18, 1978, upon the
deposit o f lhe eleven th instrument of ratification by a Member Sta te of the Organiza tion of American
States (hereinafte r "the OAS" or "the O rganiza lion") . The Convention was adoptcd a l thc Inter­
American Specialized Co nference o n Human Righ ts, which took place Novcmbc r 7-22, 1969, in San José,
Costa Rica.

The lwo organs for the p rotection of human rights provided for under Artide 33 of the Pact of San José,
Cosla Rica, a re the In ter-American Commission on Human Rights Iherei nafter "the Commission") and
the Cou rt. The function of these organs is lo ensu re the fu lfillmen l of the com rnitrnen ts rnad e by the
States Parties lo the Conven tion.

B. Organizalion of!he Court

In accordance with the terrns of the Sta tu te o f th e Cou rt (hereinafter "the Sta tu tc"), the Cou rt is an
autonornous judicial institut ion which has ils sea t in San José, Costa Rica, and whose purpose is the
application and interpretation of the Co nvenlion.

The Court consists of sevcn jud ges, nat íonals of the Member Sta tes of the OAS, who ac l in an individual
capacity and are elected from among [uris ts o[ the highest moral authoritu and o[ recognized competence
i" the field of human rights, who possess the quali[ica tions required fo r the cxcrcise o[ the highcst judicial
[u nctions in conformity with the law o[ the state o[ which they are nationals or o[ the state that proposes
them as candidates (Ar ticle 52 of the Conventi on .)

Article 8 of the Statute provides th at the Secre ta ry Genera l of the O AS sha ll request the Sta tcs
Parties lo the Conven tion to subm it a list of their candi d ates fo r the posit ion of judgc of the Court. In
accordance wi th Article 53(2) of the Convcntion. each Sta te Party may propose up to three candida tes.

The judges serve for a term of six yea rs. They are elected by a n abso lu te ma jority vote of the Sta tes
Parties lo the Convention . The e lection is by secre t ballol in a .Ccnera l Assembly of the Orga niza lion.
Judges shall con tínue lo hear the cases they have begun lo hear and that are still pcnding (Article 54(3)
of the Convention).

Eleclion of judges shall take place, inso far as possiblc. a l thc OAS Genera l Assernb ly irnmedia tely
prior lo the expira tion of the terrn of th e judges, Vacancies on the Cou rt caused by d eath, permanen l
d isa bi l i ty, resignation o r d ismissal , sha ll be filled by clec tion. if p ossib le, al the next General
Assembly (Article 6(1 ) and 6(2) of the Sta tu tc.)

In order lo preserve a q uoru m of the Cou rt, interim judges may be appointed
(Ar ticle 6(3) of the Sta tu te .)

bv the Sta tes Parties,

In lhe evenl lhal one of lhe judges called upon lo hear a case is lhe national of one of lhe Sla les parlies
lo lhe case, lhe olher Sla les parlies lo lhe case may a ppoi nl an ad hoc judge. If none of lhe Slales
parlies lo a case is represenled on lhe Courl, each may appoin t an ad hoc judge (Artid e 10 of lhe
Sla lu le .)
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Sta tcs pa r lies lo a case a re rcprescntcd in th e p ro ceed ings before the Co ur t by th e Agen ts lhey
d esignale accord ing lo Article 21 of the Rules o f Proccdure o f the Cou rt « here inafle r "the Rules")
approved in [anuary, 1991 , which beca me cffccrive on August l , 1991 , and ap ply only lo cases subm itted
lo the Court subsequent lo that dale).

The judges are at the disposal of the Court and, pursuanl lo the Rules, meet in two regular sessions a
year and in special sessions when convokcd by the Presidcnt o r al the request of a majority of the judges.
Although the judges a re not rcquired lo reside a l thc sea t o f the Cou rt, the Presid ent rend ers his
services o n a permanenl basís (Article 16 of the Sta tu to and Articles 11 and 12 of thc Rul cs.)

The Presidcnt and Vice-P residcn t a re c lec tcd by thc judges for a period of tw o years and th ey may be
rcclected (Article 12 of the Sta tu te .)

There is a Pcrrnancnt Com mission of the Cou rt (hcrei naftcr "the Pcrrnanonr Com m ission" ) com posed oí
thc Presidcnt, Vice-President a nd a judge narncd by thc Presiden t. Thc Prcsidcn t may appoin t a fou rth
judge for specific cases or as a regular rncmbc r, The Cou rt may a lso crea te othe r co rnrnissio ns fo r spccific
mattcrs (A rticle 6 of the Ru les.)

The Secrctariat of thc Cou rl functions under the direction of the Secrctary, who is clectcd by the Cou rt.

C. Composilion of tite Court

As of Deccmbcr 31, 1992·, which rnarks th e end of th e pcriod covcrcd by th is Rcport. th e Cour t was
composed of the following judges, in arder of precedence:

H éctor Fix-Zamudio (Mexico), Presidcnt
Sonia Picado-Sotcla (Costa Ri ca ), Vice-Presiden¡
Rafael Nicto-Na via (Colom bia)
Alejandro Monticl-Arg üello (N icaragu a)
Máximo Pacheco-C ómcz (Chile)
Hernán Salgado-Pcsantes (Ecu ad or)
Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren (Venezuela)

• Doctor Asdrúbal Agu iar-Aranguren was clec tcd )ud ge by the States Par ti cs lo the Convention during
thc XXII Regular Session (lf the General Assernbly of th c O AS, to replace Judge Orlando To var-Ta rnayo
(Venezuela), who died on Novembcr 21 , 1991. [udgc To va r-Tarnayo was Vice-Prcsidcnt o f the Cou rl al
the lime of his d eath.

The Secrcta ry of the Cou rt is Manuel E. Ven tu ra -Rob les and the Dcpu ty Secreta ry is Ana María Reina .

D. jurisdiction of the Court

The Conven lion gives thc Cou r t co n len lious and advisory funclions. O nc involvcs the po wer to
ad jud íca te di sputes relat ing lo cha rges that a Sta te Party has viola ted the Convcn tion . The sccond
fun ction involves the power lo interprct the Convenlion or oiher trcaiies concern ing the protection of
human righ ts in the American states a l the requcst of the Mernber Sta tcs of the O AS. \Vilh in their
spheres of co m petence, thc organs Ii sted in lhe OAS Charler may in like manner consu ll lhe COUrl .
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1. The Court's Contentious ]urisdiction

The contentious jurisdiction of the Court is spelled out in Article 62 of the Convention, which reads as
follows:

1. A State Party may, upon d eposiling its instrurnent of ratification or adherence lo this
Convenlion, or al any subseq ue nl lime, decla re that it recognizes as bind ing. ipso faclo, and not
requiring special agreernent, th e ju risd ícrio n of the Courl on al l ma llers relaling lO lhe
interpretation or application of thi s Convention.

2 Such dcclaration may be made uncond ilionally. on the condilion of reciprocity, for a
specified period, or for specific cases. It shall be presented lO the Secretary General of the
Organization, who shall transmit copIes thereof to the other member sta tes of the Organizalion
and lo the Secrelary of rhe Courl .

3. The jurisdiction of the Courl shall comprise all cases concerning the interprelation and
application of the provi sions of this Convention that are subrnittcd ro il, provided that the States
Parties lo the case recognize or have recognized such jurisdiction , whether by special declaration
pursuanl lo the preceding paragraphs, or by a special agreemenl.

Since States Parties are free to accept the Court's jurisdiction at any time, it is possible to invite a State
lo do so for a specific case.

Pursuant to Article 61(1) of thc Convention, lolnly the States Parties and the Commission shall have ihe
right to submit a case to the Court.

Article 63(1) of the Convention contains tho following provision relating to the judgments that the
Court may render:

If the Courl find s that there has been a violation of a righl or freedom protccted by this
Convention, the Court shall rule that the inju red part y be ensu red the enjoyment of his right or
freedom thal wa s viu latcd , It shall a lso ru le, if a p prop ria te, that the consequenees of the
measure or situation that consti tu tcd the breaeh of such righ t or Irccdorn be remed ied and rhat
fair com pensation be paid to the in jured parly

Paragraph 2 of Article 68 provid cs that the part of a judgment tha t stipulates compensalory damages
may be execuied in Ihe cou nlry concerned in accordance with domesiic procedure governing the execu lion
of [udgments againsl Ihe sta te.

Article 63(2) reads as follows:

In cases of extreme gravily and urgency. and when necess'lry to avoid irreparable damage to
persons, the Court shall adopt sue h provisional measures as il d eems pertirient in matters it has
under eonsideration . With re spect to a case not yet subm itted to the Court, it ma)" aet al the
reguest of the Commission.

The judgment rendered by the Court in any dispute submitted to it is final and nol subject to appeal .
Neverthcless. [iln case of disagreemenl as lo Ihe meaning or scope of Ihe judgment, the Cour! shall
interprel it al ihe request of any of the parties, provided the request is made unthin ninely days from the
date of notification of the judgm ent. (Article 67.) Moreover, the Stales Parlies to the Convention
underiake lo comply ioith the [udgment of ihe Courl in any case lo which Ihey are parties (Article 68.)

The failure of a state to cornply with a judgment of the Court is a matter to be dealt with by the General
Assembly of the Organizatíon. The COUTt submits a rcport on its work to eaeh regular session of the
Assembly, and it shall specify . in parlicular, Ihe cases in which a slale has no! complied with ¡ts
judgmenls (Articlc 65'>
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2. The Court's Advisory ]urisdiction

The jurisdiction of the Court to render advisory opinions is set forth in Article 64 of the Convention,
which reads as fol1ows:

1. The member states of the Organization may consult the Court regarding the
interpretation of this Convcntion or of other treaties concerning the protection of human rights
in the American sta tes. Within their spheres of competence, the organs listcd in Chapter X of
the Charter of the Organization of American Sta tes, as amendcd by the Protocol of Buenos Aires,
may in likc manner consult the Court.

2 Thc Court, at the request of a member state of the Organization, may provide t hat state
with opinions regarding the cornpatibility of any of its dornestic laws wirh the aforesaid
international instrurncnts.

It should be emphasized that standing to rcquest an advisory opinion from thc Court is not limited to
the States Parties to the Convention: any OAS Mernber State may request such an opinion.

The Court's advisory jurisdiction cnhanccs the Organizations capacity to dcal with qucstions arising
under the Convcntion. for it cnables thc organs of thc OAS to consult the Court whcncvcr there are
doubts regarding Ihe intcrprctanun of that trcaty.

3. Recognition of the [urisdiction of the Court

Fourteen States Parties to thc Convention have now recognized the jurisdiction of the Court. They are
Costa Rica, Peru, Venezuela, Honduras, Ecuador, Argentina, Uruguay, Colombia, Guatemala, Suriname,
Panama, Chile, Nicaragua, and Trinidad and Tobago.

Atable showing thc status of ratifications of the Convention may be found at the end of this report
(Appcndix XII).

E. Budget

The presentation of the budget of the Court is governed by Article 72 of the Convcntion which sta tes
that the eourt shall draw up its own oudget and submit it for approval to the General Assembly through
the General Secretariat. The latter may not introduce any chaflges in it . Pursuant to Article 26 of its
Statute, the Court administcrs its own budget.

F. Relations with Other Regional Organizations

The Court has close institutional tics with thc other organ provided for in the Convention, the
Cornmission. Thesc tics have bccn solidificd by a series of meetings bctween membcrs of the two bodies.
The Court also maintains coopera tive relations with the Inter-Arncrican Institute of Human Rights,
established under an agreement betwccn thc Government of Costa Rica and the Court, which entered
into force on Novernber 17, 1980. The lnstitute is an autonornous internationaI academic institution with
a global, multidisciplinary approach to the teaching, research and promotion of human rights.
Furtherrnorc, the Court has held working sessions with the European Court of Human Rights, which
was establishcd by the Council of Europe and exercises functions within the framework of that
organization comparable lo thosc of the Inter-American Court.
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n. ACTIVITIES OF THE COURT

A. XXV Regular Session oí the Court

The Court held its XXV Regular Session from january 13 to 15, 1992, at thc scat of the Court in San Iose,
Costa Rica. Present werc judges Héctor Fix-Zarnudio (Mcxico). Presidcnt: Sonia Picado-Sotela (Costa
Rica), Vicc-Prcsident: Rafael Nicto-Na via (Colombia); Alejandro Montie!-ArgüelJo (Nicaragua); and
Hernán Salgado-Pesan tes (Ecuador). Also prescnt were the Secretary and Dcputy-Sccrctary of the
Court, Manuel E. Ventura-Robles and Ana María Reina.

During this session, two of the three ncw judges of thc Court werc sworn in and took office, narnely.
Alejandro Montiel-Argüello and Hernán Salgado-Pesan tes.

At this session, the Court cxamined and approved its Annual Report to thc OAS General Assernbly tor
1991, which took place in Nassau, Bahamas, beginning on Monday, May 18, 1992. The Court also heard
thc report of the Exccutivc Director of the Intcr-Arncrican Instituto of Human Rights on the activities
of that body and analyzcd administrativo and budgetary matters.

B. Refererice to the Court oí the Cayara Case

On February 14, 1992, the lntcr-Arncrican Commission on Human Rights submittcd joint cases Nos.
10.264, 10.206, and 10.276 to thc Court. pursuant to Artiele 61 of the American Convention on Human
Rights. These cases relate to evcnts that occurred beginning on May 14, 1988, in the District of Cayara,
Province of Víctor Fajardo, Dcpartrncnt of Ayacucho, Rcpublic of Pcru.

The complaint of the Commission al1eges that the Government of Peru apparently violated several
artieles of the American Convention (Appond ix D.

The Commission appointed the following persons as its delega tes in this case: Dr. Marco Tulio Bruni­
Cel li. Chairman, and Dr. Edith Márquoz-Rodrígucz. Exccutive Sccrctary. Dr. Bru ni-Celli was
subsequently replaccd by Profcssor W. Michacl Reisman. The Government appointed attorney Alonso
Esquivel-Corncjo as its Agent and Dr. Manuel Aguirrc-Roca to serve as its ad hoe judge.

e. Presentation oí the Court's Annua! Report to the Committee on juridical and Political Affairs
oí the OAS in Washington, D.e. .

•

From March lO to 12, 1992, thc Prcsidcn t. Vice-Prcsidcnt and Secretary of thc Court submitted the
Annua! Report on the Aetivities of thc Court for thc year 1991 lo the Organization's Committee on
[uridical and Política! Affairs in Washington, D.e. ln his spccch to the Cornmittcc. the President
dcscribcd the acti vi tics ca rr icd out by the Courl during thc period covcrcd by the report and
emphasized thc necd to provide tho Courl with sufficient financia! rcsourccs to cnablc it to ful1y
eomply with its manda te.

Bascd on the Annual Report prcscntcd to the Committee on lu ridical and Political Affairs, the
Permancnt Council transmitted the fol1owing draft resoiution lo the Ccneral Assembly:

L To take note of thc Annual Report of the í ntcr-Arncr ican Court of Human
Rights.

2. To wclcomc t hc obscrvations and rccommcndations made bv t hc Pcrrnancnt
•

Council of the Organization on the Annual Report of the lntcr-American Court of Human Rights
and tu transmit thcm to that Court.



-10-

3. To urge the member sta tes of the GAS th a t have not yet done so to rat iiy o r
accede to the American Co nve ntion on Human Rights "Pa et of Sa n José, Costa Rica," a nd ro
reeognize the binding ju risd ictio n o f the Inter-American Court of Human Rights.

4. To give t he Court the fi na ncia l and fu ne tional support it need s to perfonn the
high functions assigned to it in the American Conven tion on Human Rights.

5. To express its reeogn ition to the lnter-Ameriean Court of Human Rights for the
work done in the period eovered by this report, a nd to urge it to eontinue to perform its
important funetion.

The Presidenl was reccived by th e Sccrcta ry General of the D AS, with whom he discussed specific
issues relating lo the Cou rt. He was a lso recei ved by the OAS Com mi ttee on Adrninistrati ve and
Budgelary Mallers, whose Chairman had been prescnted with a request for a budgel increase, d eemed
essential for the Courl lo be able lo co nri nue its cu rre nt ac tivities. The Com m ittee heard the
presentation of the Prcsidcnt of the Court : thc rcquest was gra ntcd by the General Assemb ly in Nassau,
Baharnas, in the month of May.

D. Presentation of Advisory Opinion Request OC-13 to the Court

On May 7,1992, the Governmenls of Argentina and Uruguay submitted a requcst for an advisory opinion
seeking the Cou rt' s interpretation of Articles 41 , 42, 44, 46, 47, 50 and 51 o f the Convcntion, as they
relate to the situa tion and circurnstances ex p ressed therein. The ad visory opi nión request was dealt
with in the manner prescribed in the apphcabl e rules. The Presidcnt fi xed November 16, 1992 as the
deadline for presentation of observations and relevant documents on the issue, Fu rthcrrnore, pursuant to
Article 54(4 ) of the Rules, the Presidcnt sched ulcd a publi c hearing on th is request for ad visory opinion
for February 1, 1993 (Appcnd íx 1]) .

E. XXII Regular Session of the General Assembly of the OAS

Al the XXII Regular Session of the OAS General Asscmbly, the Cour t wa s rcprcscnted by its Permanent
Commission, constituted by the President . ludge Héctor Fix-Za m ud io and by Judges Sonia Picado-Sotela
(Více-Prcsident) and Rafael Nieto-Navia . Al so present was thc Secretary o f the Court , Manuel E.
Ventura-Robles. The Genera l Assembly m et in Nassau, Ba harnas, from May 18 to 23, 1992.

•

Afler h earing the Annual Rc port o n tho activir ies o f the COUrl, thc Genera l Assem bly passed the
foll owing resolution:

Rights.
1. To take no te o f the An nua l Report of the In ter-Ameriea n Cou rt o f H uma n

2 To acce pt the observatio ns a nd reeommend at ion s made by the Permanenl
Cou ncil o f the Grga niza tion o n the Annual Report of the Inter-Ameriea n Cou rt of Human Ri ghts
a nd lo transmit them to that Court .

3. To urge the member sta tes of the G AS thar have not yct d one so to rat ífy or
accede to thc American Convent ion on Human Rights "Pact of San José, Costa Rica" a nd
recognize the eo m p ulso ry jurisdicti on of the Inter-Arnerican Cou rt of Human Rights.

4. To gi"e the Court add itiona l fina neia l and funet ional supporl it necd s ro
contin uo to perform rhc cri tiea l fu ne tions assigned to it in rhc America n Convention o n Human
Righ ts, in an arnount of up to S70,OOO.

5. To tha nk thc Court the work done in the period covered by th is repo rt, and to
urge ji to eo ntinue to perform its important funetion.
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The Presidenl of the Courl exp ressed hi s gralilude for the budgel increase and for the general sup po rt
accorded lo the Court,

• Election of a new Judge

During the XXII Regul ar Session of th c O AS Genera l Assembly, the Sta tes Pa r ties to the American
Conven tion o n Human Rights elected Dr. Asd rúbal Aguiar-Aranguren (Venezuela) Jud ge of the Cour t, to
complete the terrn o f Judge Orland o To var-Tarnayo, who di ed on No vember 21, 1991. Judge Aguiar­
Ara nguren's term will end on Dccembcr 31 , 1994.

F. Meeting with the Inter-American Comm ission on Human Rights

During the XXII Regul ar Session of the Genera l Assembly of th e O AS, the d elegation of the Cou rt to
that Asscmbly met on May 22 with the Cha irman of the Com mission, Dr. Marco Tulio Bruni-Cell i, the
Second Vice-Chairman, Professor W. Michael Reisman . the Execu ti ve Secre ta ry, Or. Edith Márquez,
and o ther officers of the Execu tive Secre ta ria t.

Se veral agreem en ts aimed a t sl reng thening the lnter-American sys tern for the protection of human
rights were reached al the meeting . These are being implemented .

G. XXVI Regular Session of the Court

The Court held ils XXV I Regular Session from ju ne 22 to july 9, 1992, a t its sea t in Sa n José, Costa Rica .

At this session, judges Máxi mo Pachcco-C órnez (Chile ) and Asd rúba l Aguia r- Ara nguren (Venezuela)
were sworn in and took office. They, together with H éctor Fix-Zam udio (M éxico). President; Sonia
Picado-Sotela (Costa Ri ca ), Vicc-Pre sid cn t: Ra fael N ie to -Na via (Co lo m b ia ); Alejandro M onr íel­
ArgüelJo (N ica ragua ); and Hcrn án Sa lgad o- Pesanles (Ecuador) composed the Cou rt o n this occasion.
AIso prescnt were Manuel E. Ven tu ra-Rob les, Secre tary, and Ana Ma ría Reina , Depu ty-Secrcta ry,

Du ring this session . the Court considercd the cases of Neira Alegría el al. against Peru , Cayara agains l
Peru and Ga ngara m Pand ay againsl Surina me. To that cnd, the folJowing ad hoc judges (appoin ted by
Pero a nd Surina rnc) participated in thc rneetings of the Court, jorge E. O rihuela-Iberico (Neira Alegría
el al. case); Manuel Aguirre-Roca (Cava ra case), who was swo rn in a l this session; a nd Antonio A.
Caneado Trinda de (C angara rn Panday case). The Cou rt also began considera lion of Advisory Opini ón
OC-13 .

On [une 24, the Courl held a public hearing on the prelimina ry objections in terposed by the Government
o f Peru in the Cayara case. Afte r it exam ines the evid ence and the written and oral pleadings
presentcd by the parties. the Co urt will pronounce judgmenl on the preliminary objections.

In the case of Neira Alegría el al. , the Court, con stitu ted as ind ica ted aboye with the participation of
ad hoc Jud ge jorge E. O rihuela-Ibc rico . issucd an ord er on [un e 29, 1992, whi ch decided the folJowing
(Ap pe nd ix ll l):

1'0 con tin uo to hea r the case of Neira Alegría et al., except fo r matters related to the motions
fi lcd by thc agent of the Govern mcnt against the judgment of December 11, 1991 , which shall be
resolved by the Court as it was composcd when rhat judgmenl was rendercd .
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Although Ihe order was approved unanirnously, Judge N ieto-Na via issued a dissenling opinion and
Judges Montiel-Argüello and Orihuela-lberico each wrote an individual opinion .

On [une 30, the Courl held another hearing on the di squalificali on 01 witncsscs in the case of Nei ra
Alegría el al. and issued an order whereby, pursuant to Ar ticle 37 of its Rul es, it re jected the objections
and reserved the right lo assess the valuc 01 Ihe sta tem en ts that the persons in question rnighl make a l
sorne futuro date (Appendi x IV).

On July 1, 1992, Ihe Court issued an order regarding the lirning o f thc presentarion u f expert evidence
offered by the Cornrnission in the case of Neira Alegría el al.

A public hearing wa s held al the seal uf the Court on July 8 and 9 on the question of disquali fications
witnesses and expert witnesses and the rcccption of testirnony on the merits in the case of Canga ra rn
Panday. The agent of the C overnment of Suriname withdrew th e disquali íications he had intcrposed .
As a result, the statemcnts o f the witnesscs produced by Ihe Com miss ío n were hcard .

The Courl decided that its XXVII Regu lar Session would be held frorn [a nuary 25 to Fcbruary 5, 1993, a t
the seat of the Court.

H. XII SpeciaI Session of Ihe Court

The Courl held its XII Special Session from [une 29 to July 7,1 992, a l its sea t in San José, Costa Rica .

For this special session. th e Court was co m posed as follo ws: H éctor Fix-Za m udio (Mcxico) . President;
Son ia Picado-Sotela (Costa Rica ), Vice-Prcsidcnt: Thorna s Bucrgc ntha l (U nitcd Sra tcs 01 Arncrica):
Rafael Nieto-Navia (Colomb ia); Julio A. Barberis (Argen tin a ); and Asd r úba l Aguiar-Aranguren
(Venezuela ). Also prescnt were Man uel E. Ven tura-Rob les, Sccrcta ry, a nd Ana Ma ría Reina . Dep u ty
Secretary.

The ad hoc judges appointed by Peru and Suriname --Jorge E. O rihu ela-lberico (Neira Alegría el al.
case) and Antonio A. Canead o Trindad c (Ga ngaram Pand ay and Aloeboc toc el al. cases )-- a lso
participated in th ís sessio n.

The Court devoted this specia l session lo consid era tion of the case of Neira Alegría el al. againsl Pero,
narnely, the requ est for revi si ón and interprctation of the jud g ment o n the prcl im ínary objections
rendered by the Court w ith the aboye com position. and thc cases of Alocboctoc el al. and Cangararn
Panday against Surínamo.

O n [uly 1, a public hearing was he Id to co nsider the petitions fo r rc vision a nd interpretati on of the
judgment on the prclirninary objections in th e case of Neira Alegría el al. [ust bc íorc the hearing bogan.
thc Agent of the Covernment of Pcru submitted a written corn munica tion withdrawing the petition for
revisi ón that had been fil ed. O n [uly 3, 1992, the Court issu ed an ord cr which, by five vo tes to one,
decided as follows (Appcndi x V):

l. Takes note of the Govern ment' s withdrawa! of its request fo r revision of the judgment
and reserves until later its dccision as to co urt costs, if any.

Judge Jorge E. Orihuela-Iberico easls the di ssenling vo te .

...

2 Rejeets as inact missib le the reques l for interpre ta tion o f ils )lIdgmenl of Deeember 11 ,
1991 . on the preliminary objeetions.

Judge Jorge E. O rih lle la-Iberico casls the d issenting vo te.
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Judge Thomas Buergenthal appended a declaration.

In the case of Gangaram Panday, the Court, pursuant to Article 54(3) of the Convention, unanimously
ordered on [uly 7 [tlhat this case continue to be heard by the Court as composed after [anuarv 1, 1992
(Appondix VI).

On that same date, the Court hcld a public hearing to consider the disqualifications to witnesses and
expert witnesses and the pleadings of the parties with regard to compensation and costs in the case of
Aloeboctoc et al. against Surinarne. By arder of July 7, 1992, the Court rejected the disqualifications
against the witnesses and reserved its right to assess the value of their statements at a later date and
to summon them to testify as provided in Article 35 of its Rules (Appendix VI\).

I. Accession of Brazil to the American Convention on Human Rights

On September 25, 1992, the Government of the Federal Republic of Brazil deposited an instrument of
accession to the American Convention with the General Secretariat of the OAS. In acceding to the
Convention, the Covcrnment of Brazil made the following declaration: The Government of Brazil
undersiands that Artieles 43 and 4S(d) do not include an automatic righ! to carry out visits and in loco
investigations by the lntcrAmcrican Commission on Human Right», ror which thc express agreement of
the State shall be requircd.

J. Deliberations on a Possible Revision of the American Convention on Human Rights

By note of November 16, 1992 to the Prcsidcnt of the Perrnancnt Council of the OAS, the President of the
Ínter-American Court and the Chairman of the Ínter-American Commission rcplied to the request of the
Permanent Council and to an earlier communication of the Committee on [uridical and Political Affairs
of thc OAS, inviting the Cornmission and thc Court to submit thcir observations regarding any practical
difficulties they might have encountered in the irnplementation of the provisions of the American
Convention as they relate to their own statutes and regulations (Appendix VIII).

K. Requests for Provisional Measures Subrnitted by the Inter-American Commission on Human
Rights

Thc Commission submitted to the Court the request for provisional mea sures pursuant to Article 63(2) of
the Convention. The first, receivcd on Novernbcr 23, concerned 'Case No. 11.083 (Chipoco case) against
Peru and currently before the Commission. The second requcst. rcceíved on Novernbcr 25, relatcd to
Cases Nos. 11.015 and 11.048 (Peruvian Prisons cases) against Poru, also bcforc thc Commission.

In accordance with the provisions of Article 24(4) of the Rules, the Prcsídcnt of the Court dcterrnincd on
December 14, 1992, that in both cases it was prernaturc to order the Government of Peru to adopt the
urgent provisional measures requested. The Prcsidcnt also decided to submit both requests for
provisional measures to the consideration of the Court al its ncxt regular session, in order to cnable the
Court to make the appropriate decisión pursuant to Article 63(2) uf the Convontion (Appendices IX and
X) .

L. Reference to the Court of the Caballero Delgado and Santana Case

On December 24, 1992, pursuant to Article 61 of the American Convention, the Intcr-American
Cornmission on Human Rights submitted Case 10.310 for consideration by thc Court. This case arose as a
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result of the cven ts that took place on Fcbruary 7, 1989 in the locality of Guaduas, Municipality of San
Alberto, Department of Cesar, Republic of Colombia.

The complaint of the Commission alleges that the Government of Colo mbia apparently vio la ted
several artic1es of the American Convention.

The Commission appo íntcd Dr. Leo Vallad ares-Lanza as its d el egale lo represenl it m this case
(Append ix XI).

M Sessions of the Permanent Commission

The Permanent Commission of the Court, composed of thc Prcsident, judge H éctor Fix-Zamudio, the
Vice-President, Judge Sonia Picado-So tela . and the former Presid cn t. 11Idge Rafael Nie to-Na via, met
on four occasions during 1992. The purpose of these sessions was to ad vise thc l'rcsident, who has had lo
issue various orders regarding the cases before the Court (Neira Alegría el al. and Cavara agains l Pcru,
Aloeboeloe el al. and Gangaram Panday againsl Surinamc), and lo sched ule the activities of tho Cour t
and meel with the agenls and d elega les dcsignated in the aforementioncd cases. The Cornmission also
collaborated with the President in the proceedings relating lo Adviso ry Opinion OC-B. The
Permanent Cornmission rnet al the seat of the Courl on january 16, 17 and 18, 1992, after thc conclusion of
the XXV Regular Session; on March 21 , after the Meeting of tho Boa rd of Directors of the lnter­
American Instituto of Human Rights: on May 21 in Nassau , Bahnmas, d uring the OAS Genera l
Assembly; and on Seprernber 23, 1992, on the occasion of the X ln terd isciplinary Cou rse on Human Ríghts
of the In ter-American Inst ituto of Human Rights,

A Special Commission of the Court, established for the case 01 Nci ra Alegría el al., met in the month o f
[anuary to decide on the procedure lo be followed as regards thc evidcncc in that case and lo rnect with
the parties to the case. That Commission wa s cornposcd o f the mcmbers of thc Permanent Cornmission
and ad hoc Judge Jorge E. Orih uela -Ibcrico.



APPENDIXI

February 12, 1992

Mr. Secretary:

1 have the pleasure of addressing you in order lo transmil the case that the ínter-American Commission
of Human Rights submits lo the Inter-American Court of Human Rights against the Government of Peru,
because of the events that have occured since May 14, 1988 in the District of Cayara, which led to cases
10.264,10.206 and 10.276 (accurnulated ).

i have also cnclosed report N ° 29/91 of February 20, 1991, the Government of Peru's brief of May 27,
1991 , and Rcsolution 1/ 91 referring lo report number 29/91 of November 11,1 991 , in addition to the
adduced evidence relating to the events that have led lO th ís requcst.

1write to inform you that the In ter-American Commission on Human Rights has decided lOdesignate as
its representa ti ves, Dr. Marco Tulio Bruni-Celli, President of the Commission and Dr. Edith M árquez­
Rodríguez, Executive Secretary, who will chose at the appropriate time a lawyer from her staff to assíst
the delegates in the fulfillment of their duties,

The delegates of the Commission will be assisted by the following advisors: Francisco Soberón-Garrido
(co-petitioner) for the Association for Human Rights of Peru, for the National Coordinator of Human
Rights of Peru, and representative of the famili es of the victims; Miguel Talavera, for the Legal Defense
Instilute of Peru, and for the Natíonal Coordinator of Human Rights: Pablo Rojas-Rojas, for the Human
Rights Commission o f Peru; Javier Zuñiga, [ill Hedges, Wilder Taylor and Peter Archard for Arnnesty
International, a co-pctinon ing institution in the cases befare the Commission; Juan M éndez and Carlos
Chipoco for Americas Watch, a co-petitioning institution in the cases before the Commission; and José
Miguel Vivanco, representing the Ccnter for [ustice and International La w.

Mr. Sccretary, please accept the assurances of my highest and distinguished consideration.

(s) Edith Márquez-Rodríguez
Executive Secretary

Lic. Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Secretary
Inter-American Court of Human Rights
San José, Costa Rica

Annexes: indicated
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COMPLAINT

FILED BYTHE

INTER-AMERICAN COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

AGAINST

THE PERUVIAN STATE (*)

In connection with the events that began on May 14, 1988 in

the district of

CAYARA

(*) This is a literal transcription of the original text submitted by thc Commission.
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1. /PURPOSE OF THE COMPLAINT

The Inter-American Commission on Human Rights is petitioning the Inter-American Court of
Human Rights that:

1. It find that Ihe C overnment of Peru. Ihrough the acts o f its agents, has viola led the right lo Iife,
the right lo humane treatment, the right lo personal libcrty, Ihe right lo a fair trial , the righl lo property
and the right to judicial protection, recognized in articles 4, S, 7, 8, 21 and 25, all in relation Article 1.1 of
the American Convention on Human Rights, as a consequence of the extrajudicial executions, torture,
arbitrary arrest, forced disappearance and damage lo public properly and the property of Peruvian
citizens, victims of actions that mernbers o f the Peruvian Army look s ta r ting on Mar 14, 1988, in the
district of Cayara, Province o f Víc to r Fajardo, Departrncnt of Ayacucho, and the folIowing persons in
particula r:

ARBITRARY EXECUTIONS ANO FORCEO DISAPPEARANCES

1. APARI TELLO, HERMENEGIL.DO
2. ASTO BAUTISTA, ESTEBAN
3. BAUTISTA PALOMINO, GUZMAN (d isappea red)
4. BERROCAL. PALOMI NO, EMILIO
S. CCAYO CAHUAYMI, DAVID
6. CCAYO CAHUAYMI, PATRICIO
7. CCAYO NO A, SOLANO
8. CCAYO RIVERA, JOSE
9. CHOCCÑA ORE, ALEJANDRO
10. CRlSOSTOMO CARCIA, FELIX
n. CRISOSTOMO C ARCIA, MARTA
12. ECHECCAy A VILLAGARAY, ALEJANDRO
13. CARCIA SUAREZ, jOVITA
14. G ARC IA PA L.OMINO, SAM UEL.
15. GARC IA TIPE, ANTO N IO FELlX
16. GONZALEZ PALOMINO, ARTEMIO
17. G UTIERREZ H UM\1AN, MAG DALENO (d isa ppea red)
18. HUAYANAYBAUTISTA,ALFONSO
19. IP URRE BAUTISTA, HUMBERTO (disappearcd)
20. IPURRE RAMOS. GREGORIO (dísap pca red)
21. lPURRE SUAREZ, IGNACIO
22. MARCATOMA SUARES VDA . DE IPURRE, SECUNDINA (d isappea rcd )
23. NOA PARlONA, TEODOSIO
24. ORE PALOMINO, EUSTAQUIO
25. PALOMINO BAUTISTA, ZACARIAS
26. PALOMINO C HOCCÑ A, AURELlO
27. PALOMINO DE IPURRE, BENIGNA (disappeared )
28. PALOMINO QUISPE FERNAN DINA
29. PALOMINOSUAREZ, FIDEL TEOOOSIO
30. PALOMINO TUEROS, INDALECIO
31. QUISPE PALOMINO, FELl X



-18-

32. RAMOS PALOMINO, CATAUNA (d isa ppca red )
33. SUAREZ PALOMINO, DIONISIO
34. SULCA HUAYTA, PRUDENClO
35. SULCA ORE, EMIUANO
36. TAQUIRI YANQUI. ZOZIMO GRACIANO
37. TARQUI CCAYO, IGNACIO
38. TELLO CRISOSTOMO, SANTIAGO
39. TINCO GARClA, JUSTINIANO
40. VALENZUELA QUISPE, TEODOSIO

TORTURE

PALOMINO DE LA CRUZ, INDALECIO
DE LA CRUZ IPURRE, CESAR
TARQUI QUISPE, AVEUNO
ESQUIVEL FERNANDEZ, DOMlTILA
VALENZUELA CCAYO, BENEDICTA MARIA
CCAYO RIVERA, ClRO
CRISOSTOMO GARClA, TEOFILO
VALENZUELA P ALOM INO, NESTOR

DAMAGE TO THE PROPERTY O F

IPURRE RAMOS, GREGORIO
SUAREZ PALOMINO, DIONISIO
TILLO, LUCIA
CABRERA DE PALOMINO, PRIMITIVA
GARClA PARlONA, MODESTO
TORRES TINCO, TEODOSIO
DE LA CRUZ VDA . DE TORRES. CATALINA
SUAREZ BAUTISTA, PA ULI NA
HUAMANI, APOLONIO
CARClA PARlONA, EN EDIN A
AQUINO PAICO, EMIUANO

DAMAGE TO PUBUC PROPERTY

CAYARA HEALTH 5TATION
CAYARA DI5TRICT CO UNCl L
CAy ARA EDUCATION CENTER

2. It find that thc Covernment of Peru has faiIed lo honor its obligation lo respect and guaranlee the
exercise of the righls rncntioned in the preceding paragraph, under the terrns of Article 1.1 of the
Convenlion.
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3. lt set the reparations and compensalory damages to which the victims and/or their next-to-kin
are entitled as a consequence of the actions of the agents of the Peruvian Governmenl described in this
complaint, in accordance with Article 63.1 of the Convention.

4. lt instruct the Government of Peru lo conduct a thorough and impartial investigation of the facts
denounced in this submíssion, single out those responsible for the violations denounced and bring them
to trial so that they may receive the punishrncnt that the law demands,

11. THE FACTS

A. General stalement of lhe facts in this case

On May 13, 1988, al around 21:00 hours, in the vicinity of the hamlel known as Erusco, a
Peruvian Army convoy was ambushed by an armed group belonging lo the Peruvian Communist Party
-also known as the Sendero Luminoso (Shining Path] --, leaving four soldiers dead and another 14
wounded. Erusco is located in the District of Cayara. Province of Víctor Fajardo, Deparlment of
Ayacucho, a region that has bcen the scene of very serious violcncc dating back to 1980, when thc group
launched its armed fighl againsl the Peru vian constitutional systcm. Sinco December 1982, the
Department of Ayacucho has been in a state of emergency and under authority of a Political-Military
Command. At the lime of the events in question, thc Chicf of thc Political-Military Command was
Brigadier General José Valdivia Dueñas, who was prometed to the rank of División General in December
1990.

The next day, May 14, military lroops instituted a series of actions in the Cayara district which
resulted in the arbilrary execution of 33 persons, the disappearance of 7, the torture of at leasl 6 who
survived and damage to public and prívate property, all within the period from May 14, 1988 to
September 8,1989. In committing the violations mentioned herein, the mililary troops' purpose was to
take reprisals --targeled at a community who the military considered lo be terrorists-.. and to eliminate
those persons whose narncs appeared in a letter that an anonymous informant scnt lo an Army officer in
that area. Sorne of the persons whose names were menlioned in thc lctter were killed on May 14, while
others were arresled and then killed on May 18. Others were arrested and disappcared on [une 29 of that
year, while another was summarily executed on Deccmbcr 14. Property belonging to sorne of the other
people on the list was damaged and lootcd. Aparl from the individuals on the list in question, military
troops proceedcd to execute arbitrarily other persons from the town, while othcr people wcrc the victims
of cnforced disappearance. Thc soldiers also tortured an unknown number of persons lo obtain
information on the subversivo group's activities.

The authors of these actions also cornmitted acts calculaled lo conceal the truth. Pressure was
used to force witnesses lo change their testímony and those who would nol were physically eliminated.
And so it was that on Seplember 8, 1989, the last of the key witnesses was murdered. The authors also
took measures to cover up their tracks, which included cfforts to wash away the bloodstains in the
church and to hide the bodies of the victims, most of which have not yet becn found. Their actions were
also calculated to thwart the proceedings conducted by those organs of the Peruvian State thal werc
endeavoring to ascertain the facts and, as thc case gained notoricty, lo obtain from organs of the Peruvian
State versions that were consistent with those spread by the Army.
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As a result of all these ac tions. th e Office of the Attorney Genera l of the Na tio n has not indicted
any of the authors of thcse even ts, though the Special Prosecu tor did subm it an officia l repon prepared
on the basis of his investiga tions w herein he charges that th e indi vidual that bears the p rincipa l
responsibility for these even ts is th e C hief of the Poli tica l-Mili ta ry Com mand of Ayacucho. The
Government Commission -also known as the Commission of Notables-, appointed by th e Execu tive
Power, al so failed to arrive at any clear-cut conclusions concerning the responsibility for these actions. It
should also be noted that the majority opinion of the Sena te Investigating Committee al so concurs with
the Army's version of what happened, while two minority opinions hold th e Army rcsponsible. The
Military Court failed to convict anyone for these actions and d ismissed the respecti ve case. AIl th is could
not have happened without complicity a t the highest deci sion-making levels within the Peruvian State.
There events are not unprcced ented in Peru, where there have been o thcr kill ings by th e securi ty forces.
Moreover, when it comes to the practice of enforced d isappearance of persons, Peru is at the top of the
list.

APPENDICES:

1. Map of the area.

2. Report of the Office of the Inspector General of the Army, May 31, 1988, on the events
under exa mina tion.

3. Cayara pleadings.

4. Report of Genera l José Valdiv ia Dueñas to th e Provincia l Prosecu tor of Ca ngallo, Dr.
Jesús Gra nda, da ted Novernbcr ]8, 1988.

5. Report of the Special Prosecutor. Dr. Carlos Escobar Pined a, da ted October 13, ]988.

6. Report of the Provincial P rosecu tor of Cangallo, Dr. Jesús Granda .

7. Report of the Prosecutor for Víctor Fajardo, Dr. Rubén Vega Cárdenas .

8. Report to the Sena te Investigating Committee.

9. Attachment to the s ta te rnent made by Amnesty lnterna tional befare the Inter-American
Commission on Human Rights, February ] 991.

B. Statement of the specific facts

1. Death and subsequent disalWearance of Esteban Asto Bautista

On May 14, 1988. the Army scized total control of the a rca and sorne 80 sold iers, o rganized into
seven patrols, entcrcd the dis trict of Cava ra, province of Víctor Fajardo, Depa rtment o f Ayacucho.

At the entrance to the to wn, a t the place known as Apaju lo, they a rbit ra rily executed ESTEBAN
ASTO BAUTISTA. That night, the so ldiers rcturned to look fo r thc victirn' s bod y and removed it.
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EVIDENCE:

1. Report of General Valdivia to Prosecutor Granda, dated Novernber 18,1988, wherein he
mentions the operation involving seven patrols and the fact that there was a dead man at
the entrance to the town.

2. Testimony of Indalecio Palomino de la Cruz to the Spccial Prosecutor, dated May 21 ,
1988.

3. Testimony of Martha Crisóstomo García to the Special Prosecutor, datcd May 21 , 1988, on
what Magda Su árez Valcnzuela, wife of Esteban Asto Bautista, had said .

4. Testimony of Marco Antonio Taquiri Infante boforc the Special Prosccutor, May 26,1988.

5. Testimony of Maximiliana Noa Ccayo to the Special Prosecutor, dated May 26, 1988.

6. Testimony of Valeriana Ipurre Marcatoma d e Apari to th e Special Prosecutor, dated May
26,1988 .

7. Minority Report of the Sena te Investigating Commiltee, prepared by Senator Javier Diez
Canseco (lACHR Repon 29/91, page 88), on sta tcmc nts made by the victim's wife.

2. The Material Damagg

The soldiers then e nte red the town, where they damaged the clinic, the premises o f the Town
Council and the school. They looted and damaged stores and other prívate property. Sorne of the
damage and thefts involved property belonging to persons whose names appeared on a "lis t of
subversives" that the Army had in its possession and whose existence it acknowledged. That list was
later published by the press. Sorne of those whose property was damaged were being sought openly by
the Army and were killed. e ither that every day or thereafter. To loca te the homes and then identify the
persons on the list, the soldiers forced Marcial Crisóstomo de la Cruz lo accompany thern.

EVIDENCE:

1. On-site inspeetion eonductcd by the Special Prosecutor on Ma y 2], ]988 (page 7 o f the
Report of the Special Prosecutor), an inquiry that concerned the following property:

a . That of Gregorio Ipurre Ramos, located in Cayara; the house was burned com ple tely to
the ground.

b. That of Lucia Tello, located in Cayara, which was also the residence of Dionisio Suárez
Palomino; the door had been broken down and sorne of her belongings burned; the
flarnes and gone as high as the ceiling as the rafters were a lread y soo ty; darnage
estimated at 1. /40,000.
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e. That o{ Primiliva Cabrera de Palomino, loeated in Caya ra; thc general slore was found
to have been looted by sold ie rs on May 14, 1988; thc s tolcn property was valued al
1./ .20,000.

d. That o! Modesto Garda Pariona, located, in Cayara; it was established that the general
store had been looted by soldiers on May 14, 1988; the eeonomie 1055 was 1/.50,000; the
door and the glass shelving had been broken and electrical d eviees stolen, the value of
the 1055 being 1/.30,000.

e. That of Teodosio Torres Tinca. in Cayara; the door of the house had been foreed; Army
soldiers had stolcn cash in the amount o f 1/.30.000.

f. That of Catalina de la Cruz Vda. the Torres. localed in Cayara; Army soldiers stole
1/ .40,000 in cash from her general store.

g. That of Paulina 5uárez Bauti sta, in Cayara; a food storc whcre Army troops broke down
the door and stole 1-/2.000 in cash, The inquiry was suspended al 9:(XJ p.m., lo resume
on May 26, 1988, al 2:00 p.m.

h. At the Cayara Medica! Station, where the witness Agapito Tinco Noa was present; by
the time of the inspection everything was found to be in order, though it was said that
on May 14 everything had bcen 10m apart by the soldiers.

i. At the prernises of the Cayara Town Cou ncil; by the lime of the inquiry everything has
been repaired and recently painled; though one co uld s till sec that a d oor had been
forced open .

j. Al the home of Apolonio Huarnaní, located in Cayara, where thc door had been broken
down and everylhing had been 10m apart .

k. Al the Cayara Edueation Center, where the inquiry found that there were five
aluminum pots missing, which the Army troops were said lo have bcen u sing.

l. That of Enedina Garda Pariona, located in Cayara; th c d oor of the general store had
been foreed open. ripping off the hinges and latches, which were turned over as the
corpus dclicti; Army sold iers were said lo ha ve stolen cash and e lcc trica l d cvices valued
all/ .15.{XlO.

m. That of Professor Emiliano Aquino Paico, located al Cayara, wherc the d oor had been
foreed .

2. A letter that an anonymous informant scnt to an Army Ca p tai n, in which the following
persons are named as being terrorist:

José loayo Rivera (killed in Ccechuaypampa on May 14, 1988)
Dionisia Suárez (janitor at the school, home damaged and killed in Cceehuaypampa)
Román Hinostroza Palomino
Gregario Ipurre (house burned, arrcsted [une 29,1988 - see Il.B.? - and disappcared)
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[ustini ano Tinco García (Acting Mayor, murdered on December 14, 1988, while
travelling - see II.B.8-)
Guzmán Bautista (school janitor, arrested [une 28,1988 - see II.B.7.- and disappeared)
Ceseliano Apari de la Cruz
Luis Chipana García
Victoriano Apari García
Mauro García Palomino
Samuel García Palomino (arrested, May 18, 1988, rnurdered and buried at Pucutuccasa,
see II.B.6.)
Fidellpurre
Arotinco Félix Curo and
Alejandro Echaccaya Villagaray (arrcsted on May 18, 1988, murdered and buried at
Pucutuccasa, see 11.8.6).

The existence of this list has bccn acknowledged in the Report that thc Chief of the Ayacucho
Political-Military Command sen t lo Prosecutor Jesús Granda dated Novembcr 18, 1988, and to
which a copy of the anonymous lettcr that included that list was aff ixed . The existcnce of the
líst is also acknowledged in Officia l Communique No. 064 /S-2 /BCS 34/20.00, wh ich appears in
the Report of the Office of the Army Inspector General sent by Genera l Jaime Enrique Salinas
Sedó, Acting Commandant o f the II Military Regicn. dated May 31, 1988. The list was
published in the magazine OIGA , dated May 23, 1988.

3. Testimony by Fe rna ndina Palomino Quispe before the Special Prosecutor, o n [une 19,
1988, page 4. She was the wife of Solano Ccayo Noa, who was murdered al
Ccechuaypampa and was hcrself murdered on December 14, 1988, whi le on the road, see
ILB.8.

4. First les timony given by Mar tha Crisóstorno before the Special Prosecutor. May 21, 1988.
Murdered on September 8, 1988, in Ayacucho, see 11.9.

3. The Deaths at the Cayara Church

On the morning of that May 14, the sold iers went lo the church of Cayara where the festival
honoring the town's patr ón saint, the Virgin of Fatirna, was coming to an end; they ordered those inside
the church to go outside, to the town square, where they were assembling a number of people. They then
proceeded to separa te the wornen and child ren from fi ve rnen, whom they ord ered back into the church.
The women and children heard the men sereaming, as if they were being tortured. The men were kept
inside the church that night. The sold icrs su rrounded it and d id not all ow relativos and townspeople lo
enter or go near the church.

lnside the church, the soldiers killed :

1. EMILIO BERROCAL CRISOSTOMO
2. PATRICIO CCAy AO CAHUAYMI
3. TEODOSIO NOA PARlONA
4. INDALECIO PALOMINO TUEROS and
5. SANTIAGO TELLO CRISOSTO MO

They then procceded lo move the bodies during the night. In thc day that Iollowed, they
scrubbed down the ch urch floor wi th cooking oil and dirl to remove the bloodstains.
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The bodies of the victims were la ter found by their relatives at Quinsahuaycco, where they were
buried. On May 30, an attempt was made to conduct an exhumation, but the graves were discovered
empty; however, they still contained human hairs and pieces of human skin that, according to the tests
conducted by the políce, dated from the time thesc events occurred.

EVIDENCE

1. Testimony of Paulina Gonzalez Cabrera de Noa before Special Prosecutor on May 21,
1988, plus her expanded statement, May 26,1988.

2. Testimony of Julia Noa Palomino before the Special Prosecutor, May 27, 1988.

3. Testimony of Fabián Suárez Pariona before thc Special Prosccutor, on [une 11, 1988.

4. Testimony of Victoriana Meza Cabrera before the Special Prosecutor, [uno 2, 1988

5. Exhumation proceeding conducted on May 30, 1988, by the Judge of Cangallo, Dr. César
Amado Salazar, in the company of forensic physicians from Lima, Dr. Víctor Maurtua
and Dr. Rodolfo Díaz Cucho, and in the presence of Special Prosecutor and the witness
Julia Noa González.

6. Examination Report No. 02384, dated August ro. 1988, from the Peru vian Forensic
Medicine Institute.

4. The Deaths and Disal2l2earances at CccchuaYl2aml2a, obstruction of proceedings and concealment

A number of military patrols continued on their way on the afternoon of May 14 and arrived at
Ccechuaypampa, a place that is an hour and a half walk from Cayara. There they arrested a group of
campesinos who were returning from Ccechua after working on their harvests: the soldiers separated the
women and children from the men and began to torture the latter mcrcilessly, interrogating them about
the ambush that occurred the previous day. They cut off cactus leaves and placed them on the backs of
the campesinos, as the latter lie face down on the ground; they stepped on the campesinos and beat them.
The soldiers then killed them using their own work tools, axes, hammers, knives, sickles and machetes.
Those who were not killed outright, they shot. As they killed thern, they "pilcd them up like sheep at the
foot of a molle tree'' (Tcstimony of Fernandina Palomino). AH of this occurred in the presence of the
women and children. lt should be noted that sorne of those tortured survived, as in the case of the minor
Ciro Ccayo Huayanay. Those who died as a result of these actions were buried in al lcast five graves,
from which the soldiers removed their bodies. Thosc killed in these actions were:

1. DAVIDCCAYOCAHUAYM1(62)
2. SOLANO CCAYO NOA (29)
3. JaSE CCA YO RIVERA (56)
4. ALEJANDRO CHOCCNA ORE (58)
5. ARTEMIO GONZALEZ PALOMINO (45)
6. ALFONSO HUAYANAY BAUTISTA (18 student)
7. IGNACIO IPURRE SUAREZ (55)
8. EUSTAQUIO ORE PALOMINO (17 student)
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9. ZACARIAS PALOMINO BA UTISTA (58)
10. AURELIO PALOMINO CHOCCÑA (38)
11 . FIOEL TEODOSIO PALOMINO SUAREZ (62)
12. FELIX Q UISPE PALOMINO (48)
13. DIONISIO SUAREZ PALOMINO (42)
14. PRUDENCIOSULCA HUAYTA (58)
15. EMILIANO SULCA ORE (32)
16. ZOZIMO GRACIANO TAQUIRl YANQUI (40)
17. TEOOOSIO VALENZU ELA RIVERA (60)
18. IGNACIO TARQUI CCAYO (50)
19. HERMENEGILDO APARI TELLO
20. INDALECIO PALOMINO lPURRE
21. PATRlClO CCAYO PALOMINO
22. ILDEFO NSO HINO STROZA BAUTISTA (20)
23. PRUDENCIO PALOMINO CCAYO (55)
24. FEUX C RISOSTOMO GARCIA

Arnong thosc who survi ved thc torture were:

1. CIROCCAYOH UAYAN AY
2. TEOFlLO CRISOSTO MO GA RCI A
3. N ESTO R VALENZUELA PALOMINO

On the ni ght of May 14, 1988, Val eriana Ipurre Marcalorna d e Apari, who lives near
Ccechuayparnpa, received MA GDALENO G UTIERREZ in her horno. Gu tierrez arrived cornplaining of a
s trong pain in the hcad, saying th at they had shot h im. Together with h er mother, SEGUNDlNA
MARCATOMA SUAREZ vda. de lf'URRE, age 80, the two women dressed C u n érrcz' wou nd, but did not
turn on the light for fear of th e soldiers, since both of th em had seen w ha t had happened in
Ccechuaypampa. At fi vc or six in the morn ing, Army troops arríved and forced Valeriana Ipurre to leave
her horne with her child ren, so that her m other and Magdalena C uti érrez rernained inside. Accord ing to
Valeria Ipurre's testimony, she scnt her young so n to seo w ha l was happening . The first day he saw his
g rand molher and Mr. C u ti érrcz, but on the sccond day he did not see thern and they have been missing
ever smce,

On May 20, 1988, the Provincial Judge of Cangall o, Dr. Simón Palomino Vargas, did an on-s ite
inspection at Caya ra and , ba scd on what relativos had lold him co ncerning the exis tence of bodies a l
Ccech u aypa mp a, a tternptcd lo rcach that poi n t: he was, ho wever, forced to suspcnd the proceedings
when thc group heard sho ts fro m a ncarby hi ll , w hereupon th e m ili tary escort told them thal they must
not continue any furlher.

On May 21 , ano thcr attcmpt was mad c to cond uc t an exhuma tion proceeding at Ccechuaypampa
but a military control Huancapi, under th e com m and of "Major Yauyos'', did not allow the expcrts
accom panying the Judge of Cangall o to continuo, thereby thwarting the proceedings yel another time.

O n May 25, the soldicrs o rdercd the townspeople not lo come ou t of their houses, loaded the
bodies that were at Ccechuaypam pa on horscback and took them off in the direction of Huayla. On May
27, 1988, the judge of Cangallo, Dr. César Carlos Amad o Salazar, cond ucted an exhumation during thc
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course of which five empty graves were found; the graves had the odor of bodies and the remains that
were found were analyzed by forensic laboratories, which established that they were human remains.

On June 11, at the request of the Special Prosecutor, the judge of Cangallo conducted an on-site
inspection in connection with tho removal of the bodies denounced by several witnesses; ap proxima tely
one meter above the path in question, twisted among the plants bordering that path, strand s of human
hair and pieces of human skin were found, which was consisten! with the witnesses s ta temenls lo the
effect that the bodies were laken away on pack animals.

EVIDENCE:

1. Statement by Ciro Ccayo Huayanay before the Special Prosecutor, May 26, 1988.
2. Testimony by Fernandina Palomino Quispe for the Special Prosecutor, May 19, 1988

(II.B.2, para. 3).
3. Testimony by Priscila Isabel Carcía Oré before the Special Prosecutor, May 19, 1988.
4. Testimony by Valeriana Ipurre Marcatoma de Apar i before the Special Prosecutor, May

26, 1988.
5. Expand ed testimony by Paulina Conzalez Cabrera before the Special Prosecutor, [une 26,

1988 (lI.B.3, para . 1).
6. Testimony by Marco Antonio Taquiri Infante before the Special Prosecutor, May 26,1988,

nr.n.i. para. 4).
7. Testimony of Maximiliana Noa Ccayo before the Special Prosecutor, May 26, 1988 (lI.B.l,

para . 5).
8. Testimony of Delia Ipurre Noa before the Special Prosecutor, May 26, 1988.
9. Testimony of Aurora Palomino Suárez before the Special Prosecutor, [une 10, 1988.
10. Testimony by Crescencia Sulca Palomino bcfore the Special Prosecutor, [une 10, 1988.
11. Testimony by Urbana Noa Su árez de Conzález before the Special Prosecutor, [une lO,

1988.
12. Testimony by Maura Palomino de Oré bcfore the Spccial Prosecutor, [une JO, 1988.
13. Testirnony by Lucía Tollo d e Suárez before the Special Prosecutor, May 21, 1988.
14. Testimony by Teodora Apari Marcatoma de Palomino before the Special Prosecutor, May

21, 1988.
15. On-site inspection report, dated May 20, 1988, perforrned by the judge of Cangallo, Dr.

Simón Palomino Vargas, in connection with staternents by relativos concerning the
existence of bodies in Ccechuaypampa, a proceeding that had to be suspended because of
shots fired at the retinue from a nearby hiJI.

16. Report of the Special Prosecutor on the proceeding cond ucted lo exhume the bodies al
Ccechuaypampa which procedure was Irustrated due to the obstac les imposed by
miJitary personnel on May 21, 1988 (Annex No. 6, pagc 9).

17. A proceedi ng 10 exh ume a nd raise bod ies, cond ucted on May 27, 1988, by the judge of
Cangallo, César Ca rlos Amado Salazar, a t Ccechuaypa m pa, during which the cxrstence of
empty graves containing human remains and a strong od or of corpses were discovered .

18. Forensic Biology Opinion No. 1930-88, from the Central Laboratory of the Peruvian
1nvesligating PoJice Bureau .

19. Forensic Medicine Report No. 3615/88, on the skin of the hand of Eustaqu io Oré
Palomino.

20. Forcnsic Biology Expert Rcport No. 1930-88 to d etermine the characteristics of the traces
of blood and hair.

21 . Forensic Medicine Report No. 4286/88, on a piece o f cra nium.
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22. Examination Report No. 02384, conducted in connection with the exhumations of May 27,
1988.

23. The on-site inspection of the Special Prosecutor, dated [une 11, 1988.

5. Torture in the Cayara District Council

On the night of May 14, 1988, soldiers took into custody INDALECIO PALOMINO DE LA
CRUZ, CESAR DE LA CRUZ IPURRE, AVE LINO TARQUI QUISPE, DOMITILA ESQUIVEL
FERNANDEZ and BENEDICTA MARIA VALENZUELA CCAYO; the last of these was accompanied by
her your child. These people were taken to the premises of the Cayara District Council, where sorne 15
soldiers proceeded to torture them throughout the night. interrogating them about the ambush that
occurred the previous day and about their alleged connections with subversive groups. The torture
consisted of beatings, burns and lesions caused by pliers. Four of these people were released the
following day; Indalecio Palomino was released on May 16.

EVIDENCE;

1. Testimony of Indalecio Palomino de la Cruz before the Special Prosecutor, May 21, 1988,
(ii.B.l, para. 2).

2. Testimony of Benedicta María Benedicta Valenzuela Ccayo before thc Special Prosecutor,
[une 10, 1988.

3. Testimony of Fernandina Palomino Quispe before the Special Prosecutor, May 19, 1988
(lI.B.2, para. 3).

4. Testimony of Fabián Suarez Pariona bcfore the Special Prosecutor, [une 11, 1988 (lI.B.3,
para. 3).

6. Arrests and subsequent deaths of Alejandro Echeccaya Villagaray, Samuel Garcia Palomino and
Jovita García Suárez

On the morning of May 18, General José Valdivía Dueñas and ordcred the townspeople to
assernbly on the sports field, which is where the helicopters landed. Around midday, he read aloud a list
of names asking that the indivíduals in question turn thernsclvcs in since they werc regarded as
subversivcs. The Iist coincided wíth the names included in the aforementioned letter that the Army had
in íts possession, wherein an anonymous towns person reported the names of alleged subversives, except
in the case of Dionisio Suárez Palomino and José Ccayo Rivera, who had been killed in Ccechuaypampa
on May 14. Many people told General Valdivia that the individuals named were not subversives. At that
point, neme of those named by General Valdivia was found; he left in the hclicopter, after having
installed a permanent mililary garrison al the Cayara schooI.

Al around 3:00 on the afternoon of May 18, an Army Patrol arrived under the command of an
Army officer dressed in khaki pants, wearíng a black cap, with red hair and ruddy complexión: he would
later be photographed. The palrol wenl out in search of those narned by General Valdivia. On May 18,
en Erusco, this patrol arrcsted SAMUEL GARCIA PALOMINO and JOVITA GARClA, thc first of whom
was on the list. They were placed under arrest and taken to the Erusco school, in the presence of a
number of people who lived in that vicinity. Thirty other people were being held at the school at the
time. On May 19, ALEJANDRO ECHECCAy A VILLAGARAy was arrested: he, too, figured on the Iist
taken from the anonymous letter.
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On May 20, six soldiers loo k [o vita Carda lo her horne, where she was seen by her relativo
Zózima Carda, whom soldiers thrcw o u t of the house while they conducted a seareh. They then released
[ovita Carda but withheld her d ocurncnts . That n íght. the sold iers aga in wcnt out in scarch of [ovita
Carda, and found her al the home of her aunt, Lucía Bautista Su lca, the sold iers arrested [ovita Carda
again and took her away together with ECH ECCAYA and C ARCl A PALOMI NO. When they arrived in
Yarccapampa, the military patrol and the detainces spenl the n íght a l the home of a campesino by the
name of Julio Torres. Fifteen d ays later. the wives of the two men who had been arrcsted, Delfina
Pariona Palomino and Juana Apari Oré, found articles o f clo th íng and evid ence of the existence of a
grave on Mount Pucutuccasa. Afraid, they returned a month later and there íound the bodies. AII the
evidence pointed to the fact that the d etainees had been executed .

The body of [ovita C arcía was cxhu med and identified by her siste r F1avia and brother [ust iniano
Carda Su árez on Augusl 10, 1988, in the inq uiry conducted by Prosecutor Escobar. In thal same
proeeeding, [ustiniano C ard a id en tified the bodies of Alejandro Echeccaya and Sanuel Carda Palomino;
there was also fourth body, whi ch co u ld nol be id en ti fi ed. The Spccia l Prosecutor ob tai ned the
ñngerprints frorn the bod y of Sa rnuel Card a Palomino. Bccause of a lack of lransportation, o nly the
body of [ovita Carda was transponed lO the Cangallo Hospilal , where an autopsy was cond ucted and
she was identified by her nieee Martha Crisó stom o Carda. Senator Carlos Enrique Melgar requested
another exhumation of thc body of [o vita Carda, a proceeding that w as to have been conducted on
Novernber 9,1988; it was never cond ucted . howcver, because the bodies disappcared irom thc Cangallo
cemetery before the proceeding look pla ce. On August Iv, 1988, the Special Prosecutor finally managed
lo conduct another procceding lo exhu me the three bodies iound on Mounl Pucutuccasa, in the presence
of the Senale Investigating Com mission; i t wa s discovered that the thrcc bodies had disappcared .

EVIDENCE

1. Testimony of Martha C risóstomo Carda beiore the Special Prosccutor, May 21, 1988.
2. Testimony o i Flavia C a rda Su árez bcfore thc Spccial Prosecutor, [une 23, 1988.
3. Testimony of Anton ia Ceayo Quispe de Carda before thc Special Prosecutor, Augusl19,

1988.
4. Testimony of Juana Apari Oré before the Spccial Prosecutor. August 19, 1988.
5. Testimony o i Luda Baut ista Sulca beforc the Specíal Prosecutor, August 19, 1988.
6. Testimony of Zózima Carcía before the Specia l Prosecu tor, August 19, 1988.
7. Tcstimony oi Delfina Pariona Palomino d e Echeccaya beforc the Spccia l Prosecutor,

AugusI1 9,1 988.
8. Pholograph of thc Army officer in com mand oi the patrol that a rres ted [ovita Ca rd a,

Alejandro Echeeeaya and Samucl Card a Palomino.
9. Report o i the exhuma tion cond ucted of the bod y of [o vita C arda Su árez, August 10, 1988.
10. Autopsy rcport ior [ovita C ard a, August 10, 1988.
11. Report o i the p roceed ing to continue with exhuma lio n o i the bodies irom the g rave on

Mount Puclltu cca sa , August 19, 1988 wherein it is es tab lished that the bodies had
disappeared.

12. Forensic Medicine Report No. 5228/88 on portions o i the heart, lungs and skin irom the
body oi Jovita C arCÍa.

13. Forensic Medicine Report No . 5191/88 on fragment s from the craniu m oi Jovila Carcía.
14. Ballistics report No . 2901 / 88 o n the tow shell s iound on AUgllSt 10, 1988, during the

exhumation eond ucled on Moun t Pucutucca sa.
15. Forensic b iology report No . 2569/ 88.
16. Forensic biologic report No. 2493/88, d one o n the bloodsla ins o n a hal and o n s lones.
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17. Forensic biology reporl No. 2522/88, done on fragmenls o f bone, two large leaves and
hair.

18. Anatornical pathological s tudy No. 200-88, on portions of the body of [ovita García .

7. Disaj2pearance of Guzmán Bauli sla Palomino, Gregorio Ipurre Ramos. Humberlo Ipurre Baulisla,
Benigna Palomino de Ipurre and Calalina Ramos Palomino

On the nighl of [une 29, 1988, uniformed Army sold iers arrested GUZMAN BAUTISTA
PALO MINO, GREGaRIO IPURRE RAMOS, HUMBERTO IPURRE BAUTISTA, BENIGNA PALOMINO
DE IPURRE and CATALINA RAMOS PALOMINO in their homes in Cayara, and look them via Army
truck lo the garrison that had becn set up in Cayara. The first two were on the list of names read by
General VaIdivia, laken Irorn the anonymous letter. They were a lso key witnesses lo the events that
occurred in Cayara and had made sta tements in the presence of Prosecutor Escobar, the Sena te
Investigating Comrníttee and thc Peruvian press. The last three of thesc individuals were the father,
m other and sister of Gregorio Ipurre Ramos, respectively. In the ea rly morning hours, the detainees were
pul in an Army truck that headed ou t in the direction of the Huancapi Military Base. To dale, the five
individuals named herc are still li sted as arrestcd-disappeared .

EVIDENCE

1. Investigations No . 476 and No. 477 by the Special Prosecutor into cornp la in ts filed by
relat ives conccrning disappearances.

2. Testimony by relativos o f the disappeared to members of Americas Watch, published in
Toleraling Abuses, Viola lio ns of Human Righls in Perl!, an Americas Walch Report,
October 1988, pp. 49-50.

8. Oealh of lustiniano Tinco García, Fernandina Palomino Quispc and Antonio García Tipc

On December 14, 1988, the truck carrying JUSTINIANO TINCa GARCIA, FERNANDINA
PALOMI NO Q UISPE and ANTONIO FELIX G ARCIA TIPE, along with sorne 15 o ther ind ividuals, was
sto pped by hooded persons in the vicinity of Toccto, near a mil itary conlrol post and com m unica lions
sta tion guarded by troops of the Secu rily Pollee, 40 kilometers from Ayacucho. The individuals wearing
hoods selected the three people named aboye and killed them.

[ustiniano Tinco was Mayor of Caya ra and was on the li st takcn frorn the anonymous letter: his
wife, Benedicta María Valenzuela Ccayo, had been tortured in thc District Counci l. Fernandina Palomino
was the Secretary al the Mayor's Office and a key witness lo the even ts in Cayara, having testified in the
presence of Prosecutor Escobar, o ther authorities and thc press. sta ting that the rnilitary were responsible
for what happened. The third pcrson was the driver of the lruck.

EVIDENCE

1. Press reporl.
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9. Death of Martha Crisóstomo García

On September 8,1989, eight hooded individuals dressed in military uniform entered the home of
MARTHA CRISOSTOMO GARCIA in the neighborhood Cooperativo Ciudad de las Américas, San Juan
Bautista de Huamanga, Ayacucho, at 3:00 a.m. They shot her a number of times and killed her,

The victim was an extraordinary witness inasmuch as she had witnessed and testified to a
number of the key elernents in the chain of cvidcnce in this case and had rnade direct charges against
General Valdivia. It is also important to note that she had identified the body of her aunt [ovita García
and had been held for fifteen days at the Huancapi Military Garrison following the central events in
Cayara, whereupon she was released thanks to the efforts of human rights agencies.

Martha Crisóstomo García had left Cayara for reasons of safety and on November 19, 1988, had
sent an official communication to the Special Prosecutor of Ayacucho asking that she not be transferred
to Cayara from the Huamanga Hospital where she was working at the time, bccause she fea red for her
life.

Though there were any nurnbcr of witnesses to the murder who werc attracted to the scene
because of the victirn's screams and dcspite the fact that thrce bullcts were found in hcr body, the
investigation produced no results whatever; not even the bullets were identified. The case was
provisionaJly filed through a resolution adopted by the Provincial Prosecutor of Ayacucho on Ianuary 18,
1990.

EVIDENCE

1. Letter from Martha Crisóstomo to the Special Prosecutor dated Novcmber 19, 1988
requesting that he intercede to prevent her being transferred back to Cavara, since she
fea red for her life.

2. Letter from the Special Prosecutor to the Superior Criminal Prosecutor, dated Novernber
24,1988, informing him of Martha Crisóstomo's rcquest.

3. Decisión of the Provincial Prosecutor of the Third Public Prosecutor's Office of Ayacucho,
José Macera Tito, dated [anuary 18, 1990, ordering that the proceedings into the death of
Martha Crisóstomo be temporarily filed.

4. Letter from the Attorney General of the Nation to the Secretary General of Amnesty
International, dated February 28, 1990, wherein he transmits "a copy of the decision
handed down in the investigation into the death of MARTHA CRlSOSTOMO GARCIA, a
witness in the 'Cayara Case' ..."

J1I. MEASURES TAKEN BY THE STATE

When the facts in this case wcre made public, a series of measures were taken by various organs
of the Peruvian Sta te, including the Departrnent of [ustice, the Legislature, the Executive Office and the
Arrny. This subheading is devoted to a brief summation of these measures.

1. The Department of Justice

On May 17 an 18, 1988, various complaints were filed with the Acting Attorney General of the
Nation, Dr. Manuel Catacora González and with the Special Prosecutor for Dísappearances of Ayacucho,
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Dr. Carlos Escobar Pineda. Those complaints recounted the facls that are the subjecl o f this case. O n
May 19, 1988, the Office of the Attorney General of the Nation ordered that Special Prosecutor Escobar
take charge of the corresponding ínvestigation, an order confirmed by the Senior Criminal Prosecutor o n
May 24.

On October 3, 1988, the Special Prosecutor recei ved a communication dated Sep tcmber 21 , from
the Senior Criminal Prosecutor, Dr. Pedro M éndcz Jurado, asking that he su m mil the final report on the
invesligalion conducted . On October 13 of that year, Dr. Carlos Escobar Pineda sen t in his final report .
which included the following (see Annex N o. 5):

. . . that there is su fficie n l evid ence to be ablc lo file a complainl with the Lower Courl Judge of
Cangallo, since il is wilhin his jurisd iclion. The complainl would be for the co m m ission of the
cri mes of: homicide with extreme cruclty, p rovided for and punishable under Article 152 of the
Penal Code, arnended by Decree Law 18968, the victirn being [evita García Suárez; homicide,
provided for and punishabl e u nd er Arlicle 150 of the Penal Code, the victims bcing Alejand ro
Echeccaya Villagaray and Samuel García Palomino; vio la tions o f ind ivid ua l liberty, pro vided for
and punishable under Art icle 340 of thc Penal Code, the victirns being each and every o ne o f
thosc narned in this reporl as disappeared, including those li sted as dead and as having been
killed in Cayara and Ccechua , until such lime as their bodies appear a nd the charge can be
expanded lo inc1ude the crimc oí homicid e; robbcry, p rovided for and punishable und er Article
238 of the Penal Code, the vict irns being the townspeople listed under po ín t II.B of this report;
d arnages, pro vided for and punishablc und er Articlc 259 of the Penal Code. thc victirns being the
townspeople Gregorio Ipurre Ramos a nd Lucía Tello d e Suá rez referred lo under poinl II.B of
th is report: viola tion o f the ad rninistrat io n of justice, provided for an punishable under a rticle 332
of the Penal Codeo The Ch icf of the Polilica l-Mi lila ry Co m ma nd o f SZSNC-S o f Ayacucho,
Peruvian Army General José Vald ivia Dueñas, is presumed responsible, under the provisions o f
Artic1e 100 o f the Penal Code, amended by Law 12341. The fact s investi gares poinl lo
commission of a co n tinuo us crirne that began on May 14, 1988 ami cnd ed betwcen May 20 and 21
of lhal rnonth a nd yea r with thc dca th o f the thrce townspeo ple found a l Pucu tuccasa, a crime
invol ving material au thors, who executed an o rdc r, and in te llectu a l a u thors who in ten tionally
induced o the rs lo the com m ission of those crimes. The Office fu r ther íind s that there is su ffic ien t
cvidcnce lo ind ict the fo rcnamed Genera l as thc ind iv idu al a ll eged ly responsiblc . During the
cou rse o f the correspondi ng preliminary investigations, said general shou ld índ ica te a nd identify
those who ca rried o u t his o rders in comm ilting thc aforerncnt io ncd o ffenses .

As for the crime o t rape, which is also parl of thi s invostigations, one o f lhe allcgedly aggrieved
parlies has s la led Ihal she was nol raped, while lhe o lher has nol been localed.

It should be po inled ou l lhal in April 1989, lhe Altorney General oí lhe Na lio n decided lo
terminale Proscculor Escobar's posling in Ayacucho, so lhallhe lalter had lo leave lhal city and relurn to
lhe cily of Iquitos, where he took over his dulies on May 3 of lhat yea r. O n lu ly 31, 1989, Dr. Carlos
Escobar Pineda was permanently severed from lhe Office o f lhe Attorney Gene ra l o f lhe Nation.

On N ovember 11 , 1988, lhe Attorney General sen l lhe Speci al Proseculor's file lo lhe Provincial
P roseculor o f Ca nga llo, Dr. Jesús G ra nda O laechea, so lhat he mighl en la rge upon lh e invesliga lions.
Proscculor Granda ad d ressed lhe evenls lhal began on May 13, 1988, in Erusco a nd Caya ra, a nd issll ed
his finding o n November 24, 1988 (Ap pendix No . 6) wherein he d ecided nol to bring any criminal
charges for lhe crimes of homicid e, va ndalism, robbery , looling , crimes againsl individual freed om,
a rson, assault, battery, viola tions o f home, sexua l viola lions and cri mes aga insl lhe adminislration of
juslice. He jusl ified his decision on lhe grounds lhat it was imposs ible lo either identify o r single oul lhe
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authors of the "alleged crimes", Therefore, Prosecutor Cranda decided to file de proceedings
provisionally.

On August 29, 1989, the Attorney General of the Nation, Dr. Manuel Catacora C ., nuIlified
Prosecutor Cranda's decision and ordered that the investigation be expanded. He assigned the
Prosecutor of the Province of Cangallo, Dr. Rubén Vega, to the case. On [anuary 23, 1990 Prosecutor
Vega decided not to file criminal charges and to file the case permanently (Appendix No. 7). On [anuary
30, 1990, the Offiee of the Superior Prosecutor of Ayacucho eonfirmed Prosecutor Vega's decision. By
virtue of those decisions, the case was never brought to trial before the regular eourts since, under
Peruvian law, it is up to the Department of [ustice to file criminal actions with the judiciary.

As for the proceedings condueted in the case of the summary executions of Justiniano Tinco
Carcía, Fernandina Palomino Quispe and Anlonio Félix Carcía Tipe, which occurred on December 14,
1988, and the murder of Martha Crisóstomo Carcía on September 8, 1989, those cases wcre provisionally
filed by the Departmenl of [ustice.

2. The Army

On May 18, 1988 the Security Zone of the Peruvian Army Cerner issued the following official
cornmunique No. 003:

The national sccurity zone of the Center hereby informs thc citizcnry of the following:

1. On Friday, May 13, at approximately 23:00 hours, in the vieinity of the town of Cayara, in
the Provinee of Victor Fajardo, in the Province of Ayacucho, more than a hundred subversivo
criminals ambushed a patrol eonsisting of two Army vehiclcs, which was relieving men on duty
between thc towns of San Pedro de Huaylla and Huancapi.
2. As a result of this criminal action, the following membcrs of the Peruvian Army perished:

Infantry Captain Arbulú Sime José, Second Sergeanl Vargas Támara Angel, Corporal
Roldán Ortiz Fabián, Corporal Espinoza de la Cruz Carlos.
Fifteen Arrny soldiers were wounded, four of whom are in grave condition.
The murdered captain was buried in Lima on Monday, May 16, while the other troopers who
died were buried that same day in Huaraz.

It was also established that in repeIling Ihe attack, the soldiers managed lo kili six
unidentified subversives; the evidence discovered also indica les that there are an undetermined
number of wounded among them.
3. The Peruvian Army reinforcement patrols bogan to track down the subversive eolumn
that fled in Ihe dircction of the town of Cayara . The town was found cornpletely abandoned,
except for sorne ehildren and clderly people who said that there were four bodies in the lown
church.
4. In proseeuting the operations, thcre were additional c1ashes in the vieinity of the town
and an undelermined number of casualties among the ranks of the subversives.
5. On Monday, May 18, the Politieal-Mililary Command reporled these facls lo the
Ayacucho Prosecutor's Office so that the appropriale legal action might be laken. For íts part,
through the cornpctent organs, the Peruvian Army launehed the appropriate investigalion.
6. The unfound ed c1aim made by authorities from the area lo the eHecl that many
townspeople of Cayera 1051 thcir lives, is utterly false, as are the aeeounls of a bombing that never
occurred; the obvious purpose oí such charges is lo prevent the forces of law and order from
pursuing Iheir efforts lo capture the subversivo criminal s who arnbushed the Army patro!.
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7. The search operations continued and their results wil! be reponed as soon as they are
available.

On May 30, 1988, the Office of th e Army Inspector General relcascd a repon on the evcnts
denounced (Appendix No. 4) . On Novembcr 18, 1988, the Chief of the Political-M ilitary Com mand of
Ayacucho, General José Valdivia Dueñas, scnt the following report to Prosccutor Jesús Granda O. :

1. Concerning the AMBUSH of a MILITARY CONVOY a t ERUSCO-CAYARA

a. On May 13, 1988, at approximately 22:30 hours, an Army CONVOY was arnbushed in the
region of ERUSCO in the district of CAYARA, Province of VICTOR FAJARDO. The assailants
were sorne 200 subversivos. consisting of rnen, wornen and ch ild ren. The arnbush left one captain
(Captain ARBULU SIME JOSE), onc sergeant second c1ass and two corporals d ead, as well as a
number of wounded, five o f whorn wcrc very gravely woundcd: one troop carrier and a number
of rifles were also completely dcstroyed . Ten rifles and other a rticles also disappearcd .
b. During the clash with the surviving military personnel. four subversive crimina ls died
(three men and one wornan), and it is assumed that there wcro a nurnbcr of wound ed as well;
they may have been taken to CAYARA because of the consid erable trail of blood that was found
on the roads leading to that town.
c. Once they learned of the attack, patrols from H UANCAPI , PAMPA, CANGALLO and
AYACUCHO descended upon thc scene of thc events lo assist thc ambushed palrol and begin lo
search for and track down the subversivos.
d. On Ma y 14, 1988, the first patrol that had gone in thc direction of C AYARA Iollowing the
trail of blood, found a d ead body al the entrance lo thc town and was told by a number of
children that there were five peoplc dead inside the chu rch. C Ay ARA was virtually aband oned .
e. The patrol, which arrived at CAy ARA at approximately 15:00 hours after receiving
reports lo the effec t that a large grou p of crim inal subvcrsives had headed in the direction of
JESHUA-MAYOPAMPA (on thc MA NTAS or C ANG ALLO ri ver ), conlinued lo move in that
direction. While in route, a l a ro und 1:30 hours, thc patrol was a ttackcd from a woodcd hillsid c,
by indivíduals ca rrying rifles and explosives; thcre wa s a clash tha t !eft six subversivos dead: one
rifle that had bclongcd lo thc arnbushcd patrol was rec overed. as was an MGP pistol (property of
the Civil Cuard ), bags of d ynamite and four bloodstaincd Pcru vian Army blankets.
f. When thc criminal subversives rctreated in the dircction of MAYOPAMPA al around
18:00 hours, the patrol followed in pursuit until it reachcd that community, al around 4:00 hours
on May 15, 1988.
g . Another rnounted patrol that took the right flank (passing through CHINCHEROS)
headed toward MAYOPAMPA, found 500 d ynarnitc sticks in thc vicinity of HUAMANMARCA ,
but no inhabitants: however, on the return, as the patrol crossed the PAMPAS river on May 15,
1988, at 14:00 hours. il was attacked by approxima lely 25 subversives. T he sub versives scattered
when the patrol fired back, and su ffered perhaps t\Vo dead and o ther wounded. The patrol lost
one rifle lhat fell into lhe river.

NOTE: a diagram is attached (Annex 1)
h. When lhe firsl pat rol returned from MAYOPAMPA via lhe same roule on May 15, 1988,
the six bodies al JESHUA were no longer there nor \Vere lhe six lhal had been seen in CAYARA
the previous d ay .
i. On May 16, 1988, Ihrough letler No. 063, the Pampa Cangallo Ballalion Chief filed a
complaint with lhe Office o f the Provincial Prosecutor of G ANG A LLO and H UANCAPI
concerning lhe lerrorisl altack; lhe namcs of cerlain individuals who allcgcdly hclped plan and
execulc lhe a mbush were includcd in lhe complainl.
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j. Because of a tendentious and intentionally exaggerated repon relcased by the Mayor of
HUAMANGA Fermin ASPARRENT TAl'PE, on May 17, 1988, both the Office of the Army
Inspector General and various delegations of officials and journalists who went to CAYARA have
established that thcre was neither any harassment nor bombing there; no women were raped; no
children were killed; there was ncver any "slaugh ter" of sorne lOO campesinos; they were.
however, told that sorne 18 civilians died during the c1ashes that took place on May 13, 14 and 15,
1988. Moreover, the Office of the Army Inspector General, during the investigation it conducted,
proved that the complaint filcd with the Huamanga Prosecutor's Office by three alleged survivors
of CAl'ARA eoncerning the death of 20 individuals and 17 disappearanees was false (a copy of
doeuments signed by the alleged dead and disappeared is attachcd, prcscnted on May 22, 1988,
by the authorities of CAYARA, Annex 2).
k. Further, the Office of the Army Inspector General has also cstablished that the people of
CAl'ARA participatod in the Erusco ambush on the military convoy, which is obvious frorn the
following faets:

In thc c1ash that took place at jESHUA betwecn an Army patrol and CAYARA residents,
an FAL No. 57786 and four blankets that belonged to the patrol arnbushcd at Erusco were
recovered, as was the submachine gun MGP No. 16606, belonging to the CGP.

Subversivo propaganda and explosivo materials were found in various hornes in
CAl'ARA and the surrounding arca.

In the home of one CA YARA resident, pieces of Army uniforms and a cap of the kind
used by military personnel wcre found.

The written complaint (lctter to the Chief of the BCS of SAN PEDRO) brought by a
resident of CAl'ARA, to the effect that thcre were individuals there who wcre associated with the
subversives and that an ambush was being preparcd and that the townspcoplc knew about it;
unfortunately, this letter arrived too late (a copy is attachcd. Annex ).

1. We belicve it is important to point out, Mr. Prosecutor, that the purpose oí the subversive
propaganda spread in the eommunications media thanks to the delibera te disloyalty of the
Special Proseeutor (ESCOBAR PINEDA) and in connection with the events alleged to have
oecurred in CAYARA, has been to slander the Army and interfere with the countersubversive
operations.
2. Coneerning the discovery of an alleged "COMMON GRAVE" and the body of a woman
alleged to be JOVITA GARCIA.

a. Sinee August 12, 1988, newspaper in the capital, particularly LA REPUBLlCA and LA
VOZ, have repeatedly carried stories on the discovery of a "CO MMO N GRAVE" where,
according to Prosecutor ESCOBAR's version, the bodies of CA YARA campesinos who were
allegedly killed by the Army in May 1988 following the attack on the Military Convoy in the area
of ERUSCO were said to have bcen buried. Later, those same newspapers reported that the
alleged bodies were those of JOVITA GARClA SUAREZ and two persons who were said to have
been arrcsted by the Army betwccn May 18 and 19, 1988, and on orders from the Political­
Military Chief.
b. In this regard, Mr. Prosecutor, I rnust repon the following:
(1) It is true that on May 18, 1988, the Political-Military Chief of SZSNC-5 wenl to CAYARA
to investigate, firsthand, the alleged cxccsses that were mentioned in the communique released
by the Mayor of Huamanga on May 17, 1988. There, he establishcd that the charges against the
Arrny were false and spoke with townspeople and asked whcther the individuals named in the
anonymous lctter (mcntioned earticr) lived in CA y ARA and the surrounding arca. The answer
was yes, but that neme of those named was present; i t is thercfore illogical to asume that those
persons were arrested at that time.
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(2) Since May 17, 1988, no one from CAYARA and the surrounding area has been arrested
by the Army, much less JOYITA CARCIA SUAREZ, who was an Army informant; she was the
one that reported the exact place whcre the ambush on the military convoy occurred and also
asserted that residents of CAYARA had participated in the terrorist attack.
(3) According to staternents made by the townspeople, JOYITA CARCIA SUAREZ remained
in ERUSCO for several days following the events in CAYARA, and her narne did not appear in
the complaint about persons alleged to have died 01' disappeared in CAYARA.
c. We believe that the case of JOYITA CARCIA SUAREZ is a premeditated and carefully
prepared fabrication by the subversive delinquents of the Sendero Luminoso who have been
aided either consciously 01' unconsciously by Prosecutor ESCOBAR PINEDA and the leftist press
in order to discredit the forces of law and order and bring a halt to the countersubversive
activities.
Sorne time ago, we observed Prosecutor ESCOBAR PINEDA's suspicious activities; he quite
deliberately allowed seven days to go by before conducting the proceeding to exhume two
aIleged bodies, which according to newspaper accounts, had becn left in a "common grave",
whose location only Prosecutor and his witnesses knew. I attach a copy of thc letter sent to the
Political-Military Command reporting that he would conduct the proceeding on August 17, 1988
(Annex 4).

As for military jurisdiction, it should be noted that the Second Army District Court dismissed the
respective case on May 12, 1989, a decision that was upheld on [anuary 31,1990 by the Supreme Council
of Military [ustice.

3. The Executive Branch

On May 17, 1988, the Council of Ministers held a meeting where the situation involving the
cornplaints filed concerning the deaths in Cayara was exarnined and it asked the Attorney Ceneral of the
Nation to investigate the facts, for which he would have the Executive Branch's full support. These
staternents wcre rcitcrated by the Chairman of the Council of Ministers and Minister of the Presidcncy,
Dr. Armando Yillanueva del Campo, to the Attorney Ceneral of the Nation. Dr. Hugo Denegri Cornejo,
in a letter dated May 23, 1988.

On May 21, 1988, the Office of the Chairman of the Council of Ministers rcported that a
cornmission composed of the Minister of Dcfcnse, Ceneral Enrique López Albújar, the Minister of Iustice,
Dr. Camilo Carrillo, and escorted by the Dean of the Lima Bar Association. Dr. Raúl Perrero. and thc
then Auxiliary Archbishop of Lima, Monsignor Augusto Beuzeville, visited Cayara that same day
"having established in-si tu that there was no cvidcnce of boml:iing, fire or fighting in Cayara ... " and
that, "from the testimony given freely by the townspeople who were in Cavara, the vcrsions that alleged
that wornen were raped, that there were fires, bombardrnents, the murder of some lOO individuals and
other acts of genocide allegedly committed in Cayara and attributed to Army personnel were false."

Concerning this Press Release, Monsignor Bcuzcville addressed the following communication to
the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights on May 17, 1991:

CLARIFICATION

1. Monsignor Augusto Bcuzeville Ferro, Auxiliary Bishop in the Diocesc of Piura-Tumbes,
in the departments of those sarnc na mes, Republic of Pcru. at the urging of the Pro-human Rights
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Association (APROOEH), which is the petitioner in cases Nos. 10,206, 10,264, 10,276 and 10.446
(CAYARA Case), and in response lo the docurnent of May 27, 1991, co nta in ing the Peruvian
Government's reply to Report No. 29/91 of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights,
do hereby s tipu la le the following facts, in writing, lo c1arify the reply in question:

ONE: In May 1988, the Government of Pero, under the Presidency of Dr. Alan García P érez,
in response to reports that campesinos had been slaugh te red by sold iers in Cayara in the
Oepartment of Ayacucho, ord ered that a Covernmcnt Cornmission consisting of the Minister of
[ustice, Dr. Camil o Carrillo, and the Minister of Defense, General Enrique López Albújar, go to
that area to ascer tai n the fac ts. Thc undersigned, w ho was then Auxiliary Bishop of Lima, and
the Dean of the Lima Bar Associalion, Dr. Raúl Fcrrero Costa, were inviled to accom pany th e trip
as witnesses. The trip was made on May 21, 1988.

TWO: The report on the visit made lo the scene of th e unfortunate evcnts was given lo the
Prime Minister at the time, Armando Villanueva d el Campo, in a prívate meeling and in the
presence of the Minister of [ustice, the Minister of Defense and the Minis ter of the Interior.

THREE: To the surprise of Dr. Ferrero Costa and th e undersigned, on May 21, 1988, the Office
of the Chairm an o f the Council o f Mini slers issued an o fficia l co mm u nique, paragraph 5) of
which sta ted the follow ing: "The individuals in question went lo Ihe lown of Cayara (. . .), and
eslab lished th at there was no cvidence of bombing, fire or fighti ng in Cayara ."

In poinl 9), the communique states that : ". . . from the tcstirnony given freely by the townspeople
who were in Cayara , the versions th at alleged Ihal women wcre raped, tha t thcre wcre fires.
bombardrnents, the murder of sorne 100 individ ua ls a nd o ther ac ts of genocide a lleged ly
cornmitted in Cayara and attributcd lo Army personnel were fa lse." Dr. Fcrrero and 1 infor rned
the Prime Minister of our dissalisfaclion with this communique since we considered that it was
in com plete and inconsistent with the facts, since Ihose campesinos whom they allowed lo speak
with us in Plaza de Armas told us that on May 14, Ihere was a clash during the nighl when the
Sendero Luminoso am bushed two Army trucks, The following d ay, every ea rly in the m orning,
members of the Army took reprisal s against Ihe town, burning three o r fou r hou ses and
murdering 27 or 28 campesinos who were working on the harvest . However, we were unable to
establish the truth of a ll th is, since we had no decision-making power regard ing th o inspcction
schedule, which had already been es tablished by the government authorities .

FOUR: As a result of this co nvcrsa tio n, whcrein we shared ou r im pression tha t we suspected
this a rea of Ayacucho had been the scene of excesses on the parl of the Armed Forces, the Office
of the C hairm an o f thc Council o í Minislers issued ano ther commu niq ue on May 22, wherein he
reporled " . . . Ihal he is informing Ihe Office of the 1\ltorney General of the Nation of lhe
accounts given by inhabitan ts of lhe area who speak of the d ealh of Ihe lownspeople (. ..), since it
is up to Ihal aUlhorily lo prosecute Ihe relevant invesligalion s, which, by lhe ir na lure, a re beyond
Ihe m eans and lhe scope of lhe m ission ap poinled ."

Furlher, Ihe communique slaled that ''The governmen l co n firms ils d ecision lo gel a full
c1arificalion of any co nfl icting accounts Ihal may exist concerning whal happened ."

FlVE : This fi na l and d e fin ile offici a l co m m u niq ue seems lo be con trad ic lory and
inconsislenl wilh w ha l lhe Perll vian Go vernmenl s la les in ils reply lo lhe e ffec l Ihal: ''The
Executive Branch ap poin ted a Comm itlee of Notables, which visited Ihe area and found Ihat lhe
complainls were lInfounded .. ."
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In effect, that cornmittee, of which I was part, never said anything about a lack of dcfinitive
evidence; on the contrary, given the versions that the committee repeatedly heard both firsthand
and via the media, I said that these events had to be investigated by the appropriate authorities
such as the Office of the Attorney General of the Nation, the Judiciary and the Congressional
Human Rights Cornmission.

Moreover, that committee never released an official written communique to the public; it
reported its irnpressions in private meetings. whereupon those impressions were conveyed to the
general public by the Office of the Chairman of the Council of Ministcrs,

SIX: Finally. I should point out that my participation in the committee was on a personal
basis and not as a representative of the Church, since I considered it a duty and a service to my
country to get to the truth amid utterly conflicting versions,

It should also be noted that the then President of the Republic, Dr. Alan García Pórez, visited
Ayacucho and Cayara on May 22, 1988 and spoke with residents and area authorities.

4. The Sena te of the Republic

On May 23, 1988, the Senate of the Republic decided to form an lnvestigating Committee to look
into the matters that are the subject of this complaint. Tha t cornrnittce consisted of Senator Carlos
Enrique Melgar López, Scnator Esteban Ampuero Oyarce, Senator Ruperto Figueroa Mendoza and
Senator Alfredo Santa María Calderón, of APRA; Senator Javier Diez Canseco Cisneros and Senator
Gustavo Mohme LIona of the Izquierda Unida and independent Senator José Navarro Grau.

On May 9, 1989, the Sena te Investigating Committee released its report (Annex No. 8) which
contains majority findings and minority findings. The findings reached by the majority of the members
of the committee were signed by Senators Melgar, Ampuero, Figueroa and Santa María and were as
follows:

1. It has been established that on May 13, 1988, an Army patro! was arnbushed in the
vicinity of Erusco by mernbers of the Sendero Luminoso, who blew up one of the trucks using
powerful dynamite charges that had been la id in advance on the road; as a result, Infantry
Captain José Arbulú Sirne, Sergeant Second Ciass Angel Vargas Támana, Corporal Fabián Ronda
Ortiz and Corporal Carlos Espinoza de la Cruz died in the Mobile Surgical Unit from Ayacucho;
fifteen Army soldiers were wounded, five of them gravely.

2. It is established that the ambush totally decommissioned the UNJMOC troop-carríer No.
12082, Sta te property, and Senderistas either took and/or destroyed eleven 7.62-caliber light
autornatic weapons (FAL); a 9 - caliber HK-MPSKA submachine gun, plus 52 FAL cartridges and
14 HK cartridges.

3. It has been cstablished that in spite of the numerical superiority of the attackers and the
elernent of surprise they had in their favor in their ambush on the military convoy, the surviving
members of the patrol repclled. to the extcnt of their abilities, the attack; a number of unidentified
subversives were killed at the scenc of the events; presumably there were wounded among thern,
who were taken away by the Senderistas to the neighboring towns before the Army
reinforcements from Huancapi arrived.
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4. It has been established that Peruvian Army reinforcement patrols, following the plan of
operation in effect, principally the "PERSECUTION" plan (Peru vian Army PERSECUCION),
began to track down the Senderista column that had fled in the di rection 01 Cayara.

5. The town 01 Cayara was found scm í-abandoned, wi th only child ren and eldcrly people
present; they told of five bod ies in the town church, who were the subversives who had been
wounded during the arnbush on thc patrol and who d ied as the subversives fl ed, there being no
time to bu ry them or to take thern with them with fresh mil itary troops in pursuit.

6. As the search and pursuit operations continued in the arca near the town of Cayara,
specifically in the place called [eschua, there were new clashes between the (orces of law and
order and the Senderistas, leaving an undetermined number 01 casualties among the ranks 01 the
subversives.

7. lt has been established tha t on May 17, 1988, the Mayor of the Provincia l Council of
Huamanga, Mr. Fermín Dario Aspa rren t, issued a malicious communique knowingly reporting
false crimi nal acts alleged ly com mi ttee by rnembcrs of the Army against the townspeople o f
Cayara,

8. lt has been establishcd that these íalse criminal actions a ttribu ted to military troops,
accusing thern of su pposed excesses in Cayara, grad ua lly filtered to various national and fore ign
news media, a nd a manipulati ve campaign was rnountcd that purported to be and effort to
protect human rights; instead , one of its immed iate political objcctíves was to prevent the forces
of law and order from prosccuting their pursuit 01 the Senderistas following the Erusco ambush.

9. lt has been establishcd that to accomplish that political objcctivc, mcmbers of the Army
were accused of being the material au thors of a slaugh ter of 100 persons in Caya ra , which
consequcntly drew public attention both at home and abroad , and from the governmenl, public
powers and va rious pol itical and parliamentary sectors: o n the other hand , it genera ted an
obvious sense of solida rity wi thin the aforemen tioned communi ty and raised suspicions abou t
the military force sta tioned in Ayacuch o, which had to be investigated to c1arify the facts and
punish those responsible.

10. lt is cstablished that th is psychological opera tion, wherein the a lleged Caya ra excesses
were blown out of proportion, maliciously and intentionally, succeeded in paralyzing the
contersubversive military acti ons, thereby lhwarting the capture of the Scnderistas who operate
in Eru sco; the psychological operation was also calculated lo undermine the morale and fighting
spirit o f the troo ps whose com ma nders were wrongfully p laced under susp icion in certain
quarters of the med ia that serve as a sounding board IO r the subvers ivos. and wcre accused of
being directly responsible fo r the alleged Cayara exccsses.

11. It has been es tablished that w hen the Chief Prosecu to r for the Ad m in is tra tive
[urísd íct íon. Dr. Manu el Ca taco ra González was serví ng as Acting Atto rney Genera l of the
Nation --owing to the absence of the Attorney General-- when he was seized of the allegedly
criminal acts cornmitted in the town of Cayara; he immediately sent a telex ordering that the
Special Prosecutor for Ayacu cho, Dr. Ca rlos Enri q ue Escobar Pineda, take charge o f the
investigation; upon receiving that telex, the Iatter, rather than transrn itting the necessary
instructions to the Provincial Prosecu tor of Ca ngallo to fi le a cri mina l complaint or institute a
preliminary invest igation, as rcquired under Article 80 of the Sta tu te of the Office of the Attorney
General, unlawfully took upon himself the functions of the hierarchical su perior and, exercising
funclions that pertain lo another office, launched his ow n inves liga tion into the crimi nal cha rges,
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when that was the exclusive purview of the provincial prosecutors and not the superior
prosecutors; he thereby abused his authority by usurping another's authority, a crime provided
for and punishable undcr Article 320 of the Penal Codeo

12. It has becn establishcd that the Special Prosecutor, Dr. Carlos Enrique Escobar Pineda,
has committed criminal and disciplinary offenses by repeatcdly violating fundamental
procedural provisions and provisions of the Sta tutes of the Office of the Attorney General and of
the [udiciary, with the illegal investigation that he conducted into the alleged excesses committed
in Cayara by military pcrsonnel. as dcscribed in the pertinent part of the present repor!.

13. It has been established that the Special Prosecutor illegally requested the Office of the
Provincial Prosccutor of Cangallo to supply all record s in connection with thc investigation it was
conducting into the criminal offcnses cornmitted by the Senderistas in Erusco, thereby preventing
that investigation from following its normal course: the investigation has been disrupted by that
arbitrary decisión. which dcrnonstratcs an obvious and manifest concern to obstruct the
investigation of these subversivo elemcnts being conducted by thc Office of the Attorney General.

14. It has becn established that the interpreter Alfredo Quispe Arango has violatcd the public
trust and aggrieved thc State by identifying himself to the above-namcd Special Prosecutor using
various voting identification papers bearing differing numbers and that belong to other citizens,
as has been demonstrated in thc body of this report,

15. It has becn established that the above-narned Special Prosecutor was fully aware that the
interpreter Alfredo Quispe Arango bctrayed the public trust and aggrieved thc Sta te by having
various voter ídcntification bearing different nurnbcrs: neverthelcss. he did not report hirn, which
was his obligation, thereby neglecting the obligations of his office and failing to further the
prosecution and punishment of that crimc, which is a criminal offense under articlcs 333, 338, 339
and 361 of the Penal Codeo

16. It has been established that Alfredo Quispe Arango, acting as intcrprcter, has rendered
false translations, thereby committing a crime against the administration of justice, to the
detriment of the Sta te, and provided for and punishable under Article 334 of thc Penal Code, his
purpose being to obtain cvidcnce against Army personnel by misrepresenting, with thc
complicity of the Special Prosecutor, thc truth.

17. It has bccn establishcd that the Special Prosecutor, rather than keep the illegal
investigation that he conducted confidential, gave several interviews wi th a number of media and
provided information on how thc investigation was progressing, thcrcby violating the Statute of
the Office of thc Attorney Ceneral.

18. It has been established that the Special Prosecutor has had an obvious and notorious
interest in the investigation into Cayara - - even to the point of violating the law - - so as to
prevent, through his intervention, the forces of order from furthering their pursuit of the
Senderistas in the wake of thc Erusco arnbush, thcreby aiding the psychological warfare that was
mounted through scveral communications media to bring a halt to the contersubversive
operations, a campaign that was nurtured by the information that DI'. Carlos Enrique Escobar
Pineda provided.

19. lt has bcen established that the Chief Senior Prosecutor of Ayacucho, DI'. lván Enrique
Tello Mondoñedo. was fully aware of the offense that thc Special Prosecutor had committed by
usurping functions; nevertheless, he iailed to take the appropriate measures to correct the illegal
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investigation that the Special Prosecutor personally conducted in to lhe Cayara event, and did not
instruct the Provincial Prosecutor of Cangallo lo conduct the invesliga tion, as the law required,
thereby incurring criminal responsibility that rnust be rcported lo the Attorney General of the
Nation,

20. 11 has been estab lished that the Provincial Pro secutor of Cangallo, Dr. Jesús E. Granda
Olaechea, conducled an extended investigalion into the Cayara maller, based on the records and
the final report produced by the afo rcmentioned Special Prosecutor,

21. It has been estab lished that a l the end of the expanded invcs tiga tion, the Provincial
Prosecutor of Cangallo, on November 24, 1988, issued a d eci sion not lo bring criminal charges
againsl the Army p ersonnel for the alleged crimes com mi lled in Caya ra. and fil ed all of the
proceedings in Cangall o.

22. It has been esta b lished that with the intention of the Provincia l Prosecutor o f Cangallo,
the Office of the Allomey General as the single autonomou s agency of the State charged with
proseculing crime, has clarified the truth of what happened and ultimately the falsencss of th e
sland erous complaints against mernbers of the Peruvían Arrny, thereby redeeming the image of
that institution and of its ch íefs, o fficers and troop personncl w ho served in Ayacucho during
1988.

23. It has been establishcd that the then Political Milita ry Chief of Ayacucho, Peruvian Army
General José Valdivia Dueñas, is neither the intellectu al nor the material au thor of any of the
crimes with which he is slanderously cha rged in the cornplaints and hence bears no responsibili ty
whalever; ins tead he has been the victi rn of a treacherous campaign lo und ennine his au thori ty
and command, a s part of the s tra tegy that the Sendero Lum inoso is follow ing lo neutral ize
and/or destroy the forces of law a nd ord er lo d cstabil ize the dcmocratic reg ime a nd the rule of
law in Peru.

24. It has been established rhat the Lower Courl Judge of Cangall o, Dr. César Carlos Amado
Salazar, has, al the request o f the Special Prosecutor, cond uc ted a nurnber of extra-procedural
criminal inqu ires, laking measures that are pertinent lo thc exa mining phase and thereby
viola ting the code of criminal procedu re, procedure that ult irnatcly rnu st be carrier ou t by officers
of the cou rt.

25. 11 has been established that thc body found on August 10, 1988 a l Pucu tuccasa, hidden in
a grave, is not that of JO VITA GARClA SUAREZ, as the Special Prosecu tor wrongfully asserted
a l the ou tset,

26. T hal having establishcd that th e body is nol tha t of [ovita García Su árcz, th e death
certificare issued in her name and registered al the Cangall o Provincial Cou ncil, is null and void,
jpso jure, so that the Provincial Proseculor of Cangallo , as d efend er of the law, should institute
legal proceedings lo have that irregular record nullified.

27. It is established that in 1988, the rnembers of the First Corrcctional Tribunal of Ayacucho
acted irregularly in an appeals case in which they were reviewing the irregularilies cornmitted by
a lower cou rt judge; even though the Tribunal was the higher court, the members did nol correcl
lhose irregularilies by d eclaring a l! proceedings null and void a nd lhe Superior Proseculor's
pelil ion inad m issible, which would ha ve prolecled lhe righl of lhe representati ve of the Allorney
General's office lo proceed in accordance w ilh the la \\' .
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For his part, Senator Gustavo Mohme L10na arrived at the following conclusions:

1. The c1ues found by the judicial authorities and the representativos of the office of the
Attomey General corroborate the complaint to the effect that campesinos were killed by military
troops in Cayara; those c1ues indicare the need for a thorough investigation on the part of the
judiciary.

2. The terrn "slaughter" is not the proper one in strictly legal terms, because thus far the
corpi delicti have not been found; however, one cannot disregard the position takcn by the
Supreme Court of the Republic in the "Cárpena Case" where a murder was tried without the
body of the victirn having been found .

3. AH of this points lo the fact that when the slaughter was pubJic1y dcnounced, the
Political-military Command of Ayacucho decided to destroy the evidencc. Therefore, it barred
any civilian authority and member of the prcss from the area until one week latcr, during which
lime the bodies wcre disinterred and taken to higher altitudes in the Cayara arca.

4. The military troops did not stop their reprcssívc measures on May 14, 1988, the day of the
attack on Cayara; instead, several days later, on May 18, 1988, the Chief of the Political-rnilitary
Command of the area took into custody [ovita García Su árez. Alejandro Ectuecaja Villagaray and
Samuel Garda Palomino, who 70 days later were found buried in a grave in the Cayara
highlands. The entire population of Cayara was wimess lo the arrest of these townspeople who
were later described as "co mma nd inforrncrs'' in order to blame their deaths on the subvcrsives.

5. Responsibility for these very grave events must, beyond qucstion, be borne by the Chief
of the Political Military Cornmand, Peruvian Army General Valdivia Dueñas and the immediate
authors of the slaughter.

6. Rather than coneeal the eulpability of the military, the government must convince the
highest ranking authorities of the armed forces of the need to know the truth about what
transpired in Cayara and to punish those responsible, The forces of order know who they are,
sínce they know the names hidden behind the pseudonyrns used by each patrol chief.

Our Committee belicves that there is sufficient evidence to warrant an in-depth investigation on
the part of the competen¡ authoriries, into the events that occurred on May 14, 1988, in the lown
of Cayara, Province of Víctor Fajardo in Ayacucho, lo d etermine the identity of those responsíble
for the rnurder of 28 cam pesinos in Cayara.

The conclusions reached by Senator Javier Diez Canseco are as íollows:

1. The actions that occurred subsequen t to May 14 are an immcdiate and direct conscquence
of the attack on the military convoy that occurred the previous day in the vieinity of Cayara. The
military response had three components:

a. To provide direel supporl lo those ambushed, which was handled immcdiately once
the survivors were withdrawn .

b. Pursuit of the subversivos. for the purpose of annihilating them and recovering
weaponry, which continucd until May 15.
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c. Punishmen l o f the townspeoplc. who were considered lo be pa rl isan lo and
participants in the subvers íon, and the search for specific persons named on a list that the
Army had in its possession evcn before it entcred Cayara .

2. The exislence of lhal list of alleged subversive partisans, which the Army has in its
possession, is the factor that lriggered a crirnc wave targeted al eliminating all the subversive
agen ls and , in particular, the ind ivid ua ls on the list that military inlelligence had in its possession
and that, while it began in Cayara on May 14, continued with the arresls-d isappea ranees of May
19, [une 30, July 3 and, finally, thc murder of Fernandina Palomino, ]usticiano Tinco and Antonio
Careta Tipe on Decernber 14. Thc disappearance of the body of [ovita García Su árez is also part
of that crime wavc.

3. Judging by the leslimony of the witnesses, the remains found by the Special Prosecutor
when the graves were opened, and the gaps and contradictions in the information provided by
the Ministry of Dcfense. the Committce concludcs thal on May 14, 1988, the Mililary Command
ordered a n opera tion lo pursue and annihila le subversivo forces, which ac tion cu lmina ted in a
punit ive action against the people - - especia lly the mm - - of Caya ra for their alleged
participation in the ambush of May 13, which involved thc indi scriminale slaugh ter of dozens of
civilians and the arrests - disappearances of others.

4 . The Committce has fo und cvidence that d u ri ng the opera non, noncombatant civi lians
were murdered . suc h as the deaths that occu rred on May 14 at the place known as Erusco, al the
entry lo the town of Cayara a nd the four peop le who d ied latcr in the town of Mayupampa.

5. The Comrníttec finds that the Army has been unablc lo prove thal the townspeople of
Caya ra were subversivos a nd pa rticipa ted in the a rnbush as the conelusions of the report of the
Offiee of the Arrny Inspector General would sugges t, evcn lhough it aJleged ly had the clements
lo substa ntia te its versi ón, such as the fi nger print identifica lion of the Erusco bodies, lestimony
and evidence lo substan tia te its claims, and thc cartridges rccovercd al Cayara and [eshua .

6. The Comrnittee discards as untrue the notion that the disappearance of the bodies was
the work of subvers ives and coneludes that because of the corn plaints that began on May 17,
more specificaJly when Prosccutor Escobar requestcd the Army's supporl lO go lo Cayara lo dig
up the graves, which happened on May 25, the Army itsc lf retricved thc bod ics and caused thern
lo disappear, thereby atternp ti ng lo destroy all evidence of its enorrnous crime.

7. There is a delibera le cover-u p of information, in violation of thc prcccpts con tained in
artieles 179 v 180 of the Constitu tion. in that:

o

a. The complete versi ón of the repon of the lnvcstigation conducled by the Office of
the Arrny Inspector General and its appendices have nol bcen provided; instead, only lhe
conclusions have been su pp lied .
b. The fi ndi ngs of the fingerprint iden tificalion oi lhe four bod ies found al Erusco
have never been reponed .

8. The Com mission conel udes lhal Division General José Vald ivia Dueñas, Chief of lhe
Polilical-Mil ilary Command of that a rca, which was undcr a Sta lc o f Siege, was lhe ind ividual
immcdialcly and ullimalely responsible for p lann ing and cxecu ti ng the military ac tions lhat
began on May 14.
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9. The Commission has found evidence to indicate that on May 19, citizens [ovita Carcía.
Bautista, Alejandro Echeccaya and Samuel Garda were arrested by thc Army and later
kidnapped. Jt also concludes that the subsequent location of their bodies is evídence that the
authors of their deaths would be the same military troops who took them from Cayara.

10. The Commission contends that the ultimate disappearance of the body of [evita Garda
could only be for the purpose of making it impossible to establish, with legal certainty, that she
died at the hands of her abductors.

11. The Commission has found evídence to conclude that, discarding the version of the
kidnapping by a column of subversives, on [une 30, citizen Gregorio Ipurre Ramos and his
family were kidnapped by Army soldiers.

12. The Commission concludes that the remaining complaints involving murders of civilians
that occurred during the course of these events, of whom Prosecutor Escobar found unidentified
remains, must be clarified by the office of the Attorney General.

13. There has been deliberate and consistent obstructions of the investigations conducted by
Special Prosecutor Carlos Escobar Pineda, coupled with a lack of cooperation from the Political­
military Command of Ayacucho to enable him to perform his functions.

14. The facts investigated provide evidence that the actions committed are classified as
common crimes in our system and can in no way be regarded as military crirnes: it is the duty of
the office of the Attorney General to investiga te those crirnes and the duty of the Judiciary to
punish them.

15. The Commission concludcs that the crimes investigated must be viewed in the general
context of the counterinsurgency policy pursued by the prescnt adrninistration, to obtain
intelligence, the forces of order uscd, on modi operandi, such illegal force as torture or threats.
These methods are part of a logic of warfare wherein entire communities are classified as the
enemy and with which the State only continues to have a coercive relationship.

16. The Commission regrets to point out that the criticism it makes today is precisely the
same criticism that the Sena te Committee that investigated the events at Pucayaccu and
Accomarca made in October 1985, at the start of this Administration; this mcrcly confirms that
the change of administration did not bring a change in the anti-subvcrsive policy.

Senator José Navarro Crau. for his part, issued the folJowing opiruon:

Since the majority opinion contains detailed information taken from oral and wrilten statements,
from visits and proceedings in the capital as well as in the Department of Ayacucho, 1shall not
enumerate them again and go instead directly to my conclusions.

The Chairman of the Committee and its members have been quoted frequently by the press that
are carrying the problem that has come to be known as "Cayara" as news or as reading material
for various sectors of the public. This has created sorne expectations of this investigating
cornrníttee, which was to come up with one single version of the facts, since there is only one
version of the truth.
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However, despite all the effort and publicity, I cannot honestly say that because there is only one
truth, thal is whal has been d íscovercd. I have two differenl and often conflicting versions, one
from the forces of order and another from those who have appeared as witnesses lo the events.

Through their Polilical-Military Command, the forces of order assert that 18 people died and
thal all the thern were shol in the course of combat. They demonstrate their assertion by citing
Erusco, Cayara, Coshhua and the Pampas river, where those who died in combat wcre found. In
Erusco they showed the tracks of the fighting that began after an Army vehicle was dynamiled.
Al the other places, Ihey pointed lo other signs lo supporl thcir asscrtions. They presented the
officers and troops who participated and had it nol been for the existence of another version
from Ihe people of Cayara, we could have becn content with that versi ón.

Those who appeared as witnesses state that these were not combal deaths: in other words, that it
was a question of genocide, wherc the victims were seized, transported and executed with
macheles, axes, sickles and stones. They cite a number of dctails which I need not repeal here,
since they are recounted in the othcr opinions.

The disappearance of the bodies makes it impossible to confirm whether of not these people
died from bullet wounds. Because the two versions are complctely differenl as lo how their
deaths occurred, if only a few of the bodies were found , il would be possible lo know which
version is the truth. A congressman whose facl-finding mission is lemporary, only for as long as
the invesligalion lasts, cannot say which of the two partics is lelling thc truth.

On the one hand, the political-military command perforrns its functions by a mandale of the
Constitutional Governmenl and mu sl do so according lO the principies of thc Constitution. It is
not there of its choosing, but because of the presence of subversivo groups that want power lo
govern by their own rules, different from the rules contained in our 1979 Constitution, 5ince the
slruggle is an armed one. it is inevitable that Ihere should be dead and wounded. On the other
hand, the people of Cayara and the surrounding arcas have not jusi moved into the area as a
subversive movemenl; instead, they have lived there for generations. One cannol argue that
their presence constitutes proof of subversion, thereforc, since they find themsclves caught
belwecn two forces that expect information and supporl from thern: it is understandable why
they are rnistrustful and introvertcd. Uníortunatcly. Ihese pcoplc are always victirns: whether
the casualties be mernbers of the forces of ordcr or of the subversive forces. it is always possible
that either one or the othcr will pressure and oven puni sh , in various ways, these Andean
communities. Thus, lhe action oí either oí these two parlies may ultimately produce conflicting
teslimony.

The facl lhal genocide has been comm ilted in years past leads one lo suspecl lhal lhis is yet
anolher case. The facllhal a caplain was killed when lhe Army truck was blown up leads one lo
suppose thal the reaction musl have been swifl and hard against the authors; so if in lhe pasl
innocent people were accused and punished for much less serious matlers, lhe same may have
happened in lhis case.

On lhe olher hand, lhe facl thal the world was lold Ihal lhere were over 100 dealhs and lhat lhe
killing conlinued and lhal lhe bodies were being Idl lo birds of prey and wild animals and lhe
facllhat nol one wilness cited lhese figures or lhese delails in his or her charges, lead one lo
suspect thal an atlempl has been made here lo crea te a new speclac1e, one ultimalely inlended lo
waken the system and lhe íorces of order. The figure of lOO dealhs, alleast, turned oullo be a
fiction in comparison lo lhe number of people who were nollocaled and who were lownspeople
who died under lhe circumslances lhal each version describes.
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When a fact-finding commission of th is nature and for a spccific time períod must conclude ils
business, the result may be an inconclusive rcport, as in this case. In other words, it is
impossible lo say that these excesses did not occur, lhough il is a lso impossible lo say that the
effects and characteristics 01 the excesses are as d escríbed in the denunciat ions. Cayara d id not
appear 10 have been looted: onIy 7 01 ils 400 houses had been burned. When the committee
visited Cayara, it was somewha l abandoned .

1 understand what is happening; the people are afra id, many are suffering terr íbly , In the end ,
we can become con fu sed. l am thus unable lo co n tríbu te anyth íng new to the Senale and lo
those who, as rnernbers 01 thc jud icia l branch 01 govem ment, must find the truth that I wa s
unable to find . Having d ischarged my mission. my duties as a Congressman require nothing
further 01me.

IV. CONCEALMENT ANO OBSTRUCTION OF THE
AOMINIsTRATION OF IUSTICE

The authors 01such grave even ts as those thal began on May 14, 1988, in the Cavara d istrict , took
a number 01steps to erase the evidence 01 the ír g uil t and lo obstruct the investiga tions being cond ucted
by the Attomey General 's office, and provided a versi ón 01 the fa cts that blamed other persons or grou ps
for what happened.

1. Oestruclion of evidence

To make it impossibIe to de term ine wh at actualIy happened a nd the iden tity of the authors,
military personnel c1eaned a way the bloodstains in the Caya ra Church whcre they had killed the persons
mentioned under Point II.B.3.

The military personnel also removed the bodíes of the persons killed at the cntrance to Cayera, in
the church, in Ccechuaypampa and, later, those 01 the individuals arrested on May 18 and 19, who were
buried on Mount Pucutuccasa.

The elimination 01 evidence is an integral part in forced disappearance 01 persons, in this case
used against two persons in the vicini ty of Ccechuaypa mpa around May 16, 1988, and the five persons
a rrested on [une 29, 1988 (fact 11.8.7.).

Another means used to make it impossible to ascertain the íacts and idcntify their au thors was lo
physically elimina tc witncsses. a mcrhod used in the evcnts d escribed in this complain l under points
H.B.7, 8 and 9.

2. Obslruction o f [uslice

As the au thors 01 these evcnts were beginning to erase any evid ence of thcir actions, they were
also obstruc ting the in vestigations bei ng cond uc ted both by thc prcss and by the Attorney Genera I's
office and the Judiciary. Wha t follows is a list o f the most sig nifi ca nl rneasures dcsigned to obstruct these
• •mquires:
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a. . In the highly militarized zone under the control of the Army, shots were fired from a hill side
against the group accompanying the Provincial Iudge of Cangallo; the military personnel refused to
continue to accompany thcm, which prevented the group from cond ucting the proceedings on May 20,
1988, to identify the bodies at Ccechuaypampa (Poin t II.B.4 .).

b. On May 19, the Special Prosecutor requcsted that the Army provid e the transportation facilities
offered by the Executive Power but receivcd no cooperation. When the Special Prosecutor attempted lo
reach Cayara overland, he was delayed by the Army a t Cangallo on May 20. The next day, the Army
again delayed the Special Prosecutor, thi s time al Huancapi and d id not all ow the technical experts
accompanying the group to continuo on to Cayara, thereby making it impossible lo conducl the
exhurnation, identification and autopsy of the bodies.

c. The Special Prosecutor again rcqucsted that the Army su pply a hclicopter for his trip lo Cayara
on May 24; he was not supplied that helicopter until May 26, the day after, witnesscs sta tcd , Ihe sold iers
removed the bodics from Ccechuaypampa .

d. The difficulties encountcrcd in trying to get an identificat ion o f the hand skin Iound in one of the
graves al Ccechuaypampa, which the Special Prosccutor believcd was that of Eustaquio Oré Palomino, as
follows:

i) The report of the expcrts appoinled by the poli ce ind icated thal they were able to
fingerprint only the ring finger, bccause the rest of the skin had decomposed. Prosecutor
Escobar, who had seen for himself that the skin had not decomposcd , o rd crcd thc commandant
to cond uct another exarnination in his presence. In that cxarnina tion, thc prints of the five fingers
wcre taken.

ii) When sent to the Investigating Police, the lattcr reported that thc fingerprints were not
those of Eu staquio Oré Palomino. Delving further. it was es tablished that thi s persan was 18
years of age and as such had a police card that was rcgistercd when the individual turned 18. On
the other hand, the person whom witncsses said had dicd was 17 yea rs o f age and therefore
could not have had a card on file with the police,

iii) However, the Prosecutor was informed that the disappeared person had registered with
the rnilitary, and that thc mil itary should have his identification card and fingerprint on fil e.
When a search was ord ered, the card was found , but the fingerprint had too much ink to make
any comparison possible. Thercforc, Prosecutor Escobar asked the Allorney General lo compare
the prínt with another copy o f the card kept on file in Lima, on the assumption that if ene copy
had to much ink, the other one might be legible. There is no information as lo whether or not the
Attorney Ccncral took this mcasure.

e. The Special Prosecutor rcquestcd that thc Army provide him with a hcli coptcr to cond uc t the
exhurnation o f the bodics found on Mount Pucutuccasa. When the helicopter was not provided, Ihe
Special Prosecutor, lhe deputy in the O ffice of Ihe Special Prosecutor, the Provincial Judge of Cangallo
and the Court Secrelary traveled lo Ihe place in Iwa poliee vehicles . Since Ihey did nol have Ihe
helicopler requesled, Ihey were only ablc lo remo ve one body from lhe grave, lhal o f Jovila Carcía, which
laler disappcared from the Cangallo cemetery a fler having bccn identified by her family .

f. The Special Proseculor relurned to Huamanga, Ayacucho, on August 10, by lruek from Erusco,
following the exhumation. The next day, August 11, the Special Prosecutor telexed a reguest lo the
Attomey Ceneral thal he intercede wilh lhe ¡oinl command of Ihe Armed Forces to provide the Special



-47-

Prosecutor with helicopter transport; the telex was sent again the following day. Despite that request
and despite the order from the highcst levels of government and from the Attorncy Ceneral that the
Special Prosecutor be given every possible cooperation in his work, the Army did not provide him with
that helicopter. Because of that, the Special Prosecutor had to obtain overland transport and conducted
the proceeding by traveling overland and then on foot on August 18, as stated in the corresponding
record. As indicated in this complaint, under Point 11.8.6., by that time the other three bodies on Mount
Pucutuccasa has already disappeared.

g. On Septernbcr 21, 1988, in an official communication that the Special Prosccutor received on
October 3, while he was still conducling important inquires to clarify the facts, the Superior Criminal
Prosecutor, Dr. Pedro Méndez Jurado, ordered the Special Prosecutor to prepare the final report on his
investigation. As indicated earlier, the Special Prosecutor delivered his report on October 13, wherein he
concluded that criminal proceedings should be instituted against Ceneral José Valdivia Dueñas as the
principal responsible party in these events. On November 11, 1988, the Attorney General of the Nation
sent the files to the Provincial Prosecutor of Cangallo to expand the investigation. Twclvc days later. the
Cangallo Prosecutor decided not to file criminal charges and temporarily filed the case. Thc sequence of
events and their nature clearly point to the fact that their purpose was to prcvent any court actions in
these events, This impression is reinforced with one considers the measures exercised throughout the
investigations in connectíon with witncsscs,

h. During the course of the inquires conducted by the Special Prosecutor in Cayara on May 21,1988,
after being delayed by the Army in Huancapi, and on May 26, he was able to observe the pressure
brought to bear against witnesses by Army personncl, whose faces wcre covered with ski caps. He made
particular note of the conduct of the officer in command of the military troops, who was known as
"Captain Palomino"; he photographed him, as explained in Point II.B.6. This pressure must be consider
together with the fact that there was never any response to the Special Prosccutor's request that the
identify of "Captain Palomino" be revcalcd. oven though the corresponding photograph was provided to
the military authorities for that purpose.

i. The pressure on the witnesses is cspecially obvious during the coursc of the expanded inquiry
conducted by the Provincial Prosecutor of Cangallo, during which the testimony was taken inside the
Huancapi Military Carrison. When witness Delfina Pariona Palomino (wife of Alejandro Echeccaya,
whose body was identified -according to the record- at Pucutuccassa), expanded her testimony in the
presence of the Provincial Prosecutor of Cangallo, she stated that shc had not seen her husband since
May 15 when he had gone off with the subversive in the direction of Muyupampa. This statement
contradicts her original statement. which was corroborated by the statement made by the widow of
Sarnuel Carcía Palomino, who said that she and Delfina Pariona went to the grave and found the body of
Alejandro Echeccaya. It also should be noted that Delfina Pariona had lcft her fingerprint on the
complaint that 19 campesinos from Erusco filed with the: Office of the Special Prosecutor for
Disappcarances, wherein they sta te that the Army had pressured them to state that terrorists had taken
[ovita Carcía.

As for the witness Maximiliana Noa Ccayo, in her expanded testimony in the Huancapi military
garrison in the presence of the Provincial Prosecutor of Cangallo, she appears to be retracting the
statements she made in the presence of the Special Prosecutor (Section EICHT of the Report from
Prosecutor Cranda). Howcver. Maximiliana Noa Ccayo. who is illiterate, had testified before Prosecutor
Escobar on May 22 and had said that shc was in Cayara on May 14, with her daughter Delia Ipurre Noa,
and that they confirmed the death of Ignacio Ipurre Suárez, wife and father, respectively, of the two
women (see statement under Evidence No. 7, point II.B.4). In effect, Delia, a minor with an elementary
education, speaks Spanish and had testified separately in the presence of Prosecutor Escobar that she had
been with her mother that day, May 14, and had seen the soldiers kill her father. This corroborates the
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original statement made by witness Maximiliana Noa, and adds yet another elemcnt from which to infer
that the expanded testimony givcn in the presence of Prosecutor Granda, under the pressure of bcing
inside the military garrison and after a nurnbcr of witnesses had becn killed, was false.

The same can be said with rcgard to the witness Teodora Apari Marcaloma de Palomino, who, in
her expanded testimony before Prosecutor Grand a, appears to say that she wa s not in Cayara for that
entire period, but rather in lea until [une 15, and that shc had not seen what the mililary did; she denied
having made any sta terncnt to Prosccutor Escobar. The Ínter-American Commission has bcen informed
that: a) the testimony of Teodora Apari in the presence of Prosecutor Escobar on May 22, was tapcd by
the parliamentarians who wcre prescnt al the time; and b) she testified again in prcsencc of the Provincial
Iudge, on [une 11, indicating the place wherc soldiers had cut off her husband 's head, pointing ou t the
arca and gathering blood-stained soil from the site, evidence thal Prosecutor Escobar sent to the
laboratory where experts conc1uded that it was human bload (Sce Escobar Report whcre it mentions thc
existence of photographs of this witness at the time she was removing the blood-stained soil). This is
another case of testirnony rctracted undcr duress .

3. Elaboration o f sclf-serving versions

The measures taken to conceal the authorship of these events inc1ude the prcparation of accounts
designed to provide justifications for the action undertakcn, to blarne othcr agents and lo discredit the
work of those whose conclusions differ.

It is possible to dísccrn certain basic lines, both in the Army's versions and in the majority
opinion of the Senate Investigating Cornmittcc. While it is acknowledged that an undctermincd number
of deaths occurred , it is alleged that thcse deaths occurred during the cou rsc of armed confron ta tion,
both in Erusco and later in Ccechuaypampa. At a time when the Army had alread y establi shed complete
control over Cayara, Erusco and su rrou nd ing arcas, and had oven set up a mililary base in thc school,
these accounts c1aim that subversivo groups removed all of the bodies to preven: them from being
identified and that subversivos kidnapped [evita García. Alejandro Echeccaya and Samuel Garda
Palomino and caused them to disappear, again al a time when the military was in full conlrol of the area.
The military versions and thc majority repon of the Senate Cornmittce say that [o vita Ca rcía was the
Army informant who wrote the anonymous letter. Even though the lctter was writrcn by "u n patriota
legal " [a true patriot] who asked that "el nombre del portador" Ithe name of thc bcarer] (the rnasculine
gender is used in the Spanish) not be rcvealed .

The self-serving version also contend that any opinions contrary lo their own are calculated lo
discrcdit the arrncd forces and thwart thc anti-subversive cffort.' Thu s, fo r example, thc majority opinion
of the Sena te lnvestigating Co rnmittcc elabora tes upon de argumenl conta ined in thc report filed by
General Valdivia with the Pro vincial Prosecutor of Cangallo concerning lhe iIlegal and polilically
motivated conduct o f the Special Prosecutor, adding an allack against lhe p rofessional elhies o f lhe
in lerpreler.

Thi s argument and the politi eal maneuvering lhal il lriggered, led lo the replaeemenl of
Prosecutor Escobar by Prosecutor Granda, whose d ecision to lemporarily file lhe case was based on
teslimony whose credibility has already been broughl inlo question in lhi s complainl, because it devialed
from the original version, was given inside an Army garrison, after a number of witnesscs had already
been pressured to alter their testimony and others had bcen delained, killed or disappeared.



-49-

V. THE PROOF

1. Documentary evidencc

The lnter-American Comm ission on Human Righ ts bases the asscrtions co n tai ned in th is
complainl on the evidence contained in the eigh t Appendices that are a ttached hereto a nd o n the
docurnentary evídence that is offercd in connection with each specific faet (points II.B.1 , 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8,
and 9).

2. Testimonial evidenee

The ínter-American Commission on Human Rights belie ves tha t the lntcr-American Court of
Human Rights should take testimony frorn the following persons:

2.1. Dr. Carlos Enrique Escobar Pineda.
2.2. Dr. Raúl Ferrero.
2.3. Monsignor Augus to Beuzevillc.
2.4. Sena tor Javier Diez Canseco .
2.5. Sena tor Gustavo Mohme L1ona.
2.6. Dr. Augusto Z úñ íga,
2.7. Genera l Jaime Enrique Salinas Sedó.
2.8. Dr. Hugo Denigri Cornejo.

Taking into account thc fact that during the course of the investigations cond ucted in Peru into
th e faets thal a re the subject o f this complaint, certa in wi tnesses ha ve been physically elimina ted whil e
o thers have been subjected to pressure to force them to change thcir origi na l tcst irnony, the lnter­
American Commission on Human Rights bclieves that the lnter-American Court must establish a method
by which to take a body of testimony in such a way that the personal safety of the witnesses and the
integrity and accuracy of their testimony a re gua ran tee. Since the method lo be used must take into
accoun t the specifics of each individ ua l's unique situat ion, the Inter- American Cornmission offers its
services lo the Inter-American Court to provide it with the specifics required in cach case, which should
be taken into account when receiving each body of tcstirnony. The names o f the witnesses would be
reported to the Court once the method described herein has been established.

3. Request for documentation

The lnter-Arncrican Co mmissio n on Human Righ ts IS petit ioning the Cour t to reqUlre the
following documents of the Government of Peru :

3.1. The proceedings upon which the Report of the Scna te lnvestigat ing Commillee was based .
3.2. The files u pon which the Repon of the Offi ce of the Army Inspector Genera l on the facts that are
the subject of th is complaint was based.
3.3. The proceed ings cond uc ted in thc Military Courts thatled to the dismissal of the case involving
the events that are the subject o f this complaint.
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3.4. Investigations Nos. 476 and 477 of the Special Prosecutor, concerning complaints of the
disappearances of relativos of the victims on fact H.B.7.

VI. LEGAL GROUNDS

The lnter-Arnerican Commission on Human Rights has proccssed thc instant case in accordance
with its Regulations and the pertinent provisions of the American Convention on Human Rights, of
which the Republic of Pcru is a State Party and has recognized the comp ulsory jurisdiction of the Inter­
American Court of Human Rights on Janu ary 21 ,1981.

In submitting the present complaint, the Commission is acting under the provisions of Article 50
and 51 of the American Convention, after having analyzed the submission presented by the Covernrncnt
of Peru on May 27,1991, the led to Resolution 1/91 concerning Report 29/91 , which docurncnts are
attached to the prescnt complaint. It has also taken into account the fact that thc Covcrnmcnt of Peru
reiterated its positions o n [anuary 11 , 1992. The Inter-Arnerican Commission on Human Rights,
therefore, is proceeding pursuant to the provisions of Article 63.1 of the Conventio n and is requesting
that the Ín ter-American Cour t fix the amou nt appropriate for payment of a "fa ir compensation to the
injured party".

As for the cxhau stion of domcstic remedies, suffice it to say that the mattcr is thoroughly
examined in Report 29/91 and in Chaptcr 111.1 . of thi s complaint on the measurcs taken by the office o f
the Attorney General.

The specific facts set forth in thi s complain t in volve mulliple violations perpetrated by agents o f
the Peruvian State, violations of provisions of the American Convention on Human Rights as ind icatcd in
point I concerning the purpose of the complaint.

As for forced disappearance, it shou ld be noted that the Comrnissi on, the literature, the practice
of other international human rights organs, thc Genera l Assembly of the Organization of American States
and recently the jurisprudence o i the Intcr-Amcrican Cour t of Human Rights has qualifi ed it as a crime
against humanity (Velá sq uez, paragraphs 151 - 153; Cod ínez. paragraphs 159 . 161). As has been noted,
disappearance is a multiple and continua l violation of essentiallegal rights protected under the American
Convention on Human Rights that the sta les partics, voluntarily and in good faith, have pledged lo
respect and guaran lee (Vcl ásquez. para . 155; Godínez para. 163).

The Commission concurs with the Court where it stales that the forced disappearance of persons
is one of the most serious violat ions of human rights that a State Party lo the Convention can cornmit,
since it represent p •• • a radical departure from this treaty, ina smuch as it implies a crass abandonment of
the values that emanate from human dignity and of the principies that líe al the very fo unda tion of the
Inter-American system and this Convention" (Vcl ásquez, para . 158; Godínez para . 166)

Forced disappearance of persons begins with the victirn 's illegal d etention by agents of the State,
who normally operare in full daylight. The victim is takcn to sorne sccret place or irregular detention
centcr. To relativos and a u thoritics in charge of thc in vestigation . those agen ts systema tically deny the
vcry fact of thc d etcntion, the condition of the victim and his/her final whercabouts. Thc lack o f a formal
acknowledgment of the illegal d ctention allows the agents of thc Sta te to opera te with total irnpunity,
beyond the boundaries of any jurisdictional control. That situation obtains in the case under examination
by virtue of lhe regulations governing sta tes of emergency in Peru, which give the chl efs of the political­
military commands extraord inary powers. This unlawful d eprivation of freed om conslitutes a f1agrant
viola tion of Article 7 of the American Convention, which prOlect s the right lO personalliberty.
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In the instan t case, as estab lished in the description of the specific íacts (Section H.B. 3,4,5, 6 and
7), members of the Peruvian Army made a nurnber of unlawful a rrests in a succession of opera tions that
began on May 14,1988, and end ed on [une 29 of that year.

The Commission's experience and the characteri stics o f the instan t case confirm that o nce in
capt ívíty, the victim of an unlawful pri valion of freedom under the cond itions herein d escribed , is
tortured and sub jected lo cruel, inhuman and d egrading punishment by agents of the State . This
constitutes a viola tion of Article 5 of the American Convcntion, w hich recognizes every person's righllo
physically, psychological!y and ernotiona lly humane lrealment. In the case being subrni tted lo the Court,
the testírnony prescntcd in evidcnce in support of facts II.B.3, 4, and 5 recount the torture of the victims
in those incidents.

The legal remedies, especia lly habea s corpus, which wou ld ha vo bccn the proper rernedy lo
d etermine the whcrcabouts of the person and protect the rights on one detai ncd, a re íneffcctual, which in
ítself constitutes a violalion o f judicial guarantees (Article 8) and the righ t lo judicia l protection (Ar ticle
25) recognized in the American Convent ion,

In the case prescntcd in this complaint, the arbitrary arrosts and torture were fol!owed by thc
summary execution of the victims mcntioned in the specific facts [J .B. 1,3,4, 6,8, and 9, which constitu tes
a grave violalion of the r íght lo life recognized in Article 4 of th e Ameri can Conven tion on Human
Ríghts, Two victims of specific facl II .B.4 and the victims of fact ll .B, 7 likcly m et with the same fate. This
involves seven victims whose si tua tion, strictly speaking, is enforced disa ppearance, since unlike the
other cases, their death has not yel been established .

It should be pointed ou t that in the instan t case, presentcd lo the Inler-American Cou rt, the
Governmenl of Peru, lhrough the actions of its agenls, not only has fa iled lo respect a nd g lla ranlee the
excrcíse and the rights of the vict irns in accorda nce with Art icle 1.1. of the American Convention, bu t
rhose agents have execu ted a number of actions lO obstruc t the admini stra tion of just ice and make i t
irnpossible lo idenlify the au thors of thcse speci fic facts. Thus, wi tncsses and/or relativos of victims have
been elim ina ted and threatened , consciously and d eliberately: thc bodies of the persons cxecu ted have
been removed; evidence ha s becn d estroyed , cover-u p opcra tions ha ve becn cond u ctcd , ju d icia l
investigatí ons have becn obstru cted and the ind ividu al w ho at tem p ted lo co nd ucl an independen t
ínvestiga tion was threatcned and ultimately severed from servicc with the Sta te and forced lo seek refuge
abroad . The o ther objective of a ll this has bccn lo concea l the w hercabou ts of the vic tims and erase the
crime from the public's memory.

. Finally, lhe Com missio n musl poinl lo lhe viola lions com m illcd by members o f lhe Peruvian
Army agains l public and priva le properly belonging lo sorne of lhe vicl ims in lhi s case. As recounled
lInder facl 1I.B.2, agenls of lhe Peru vian Sla le deslroyed movable a nd im mo va ble p roperly belongi ng
bolh lo lhe Sla le and lo privale par ties. This conslilu les a violalion of Arlicle 21 of lhe Convenlion, which
makes il incumbenl upon lhe Peru vian Slate lo prolecl lhe righl to pri vale properly.

The facls in lhis case reveal lhal lhe Peruvian Stale has inlernalional responsibilities lhal follow
from lhe violalion of its obligalions Ilnder lhe provisions of lhe American Convention . In effecl, Arlicle
1.1 of lhe Convenlion provides lhal every Slale Parly underlakes lhe obligalion lo adopl whalever
measures are needed lo ensure jllridicalIy, lo al! persons within ils jurisdiclion, lhe effeclive enjoymenl of
lhe righls recognized in lhe Con ven lion . As a resuIt of lhi s obliga lion, lhe Sla le musl prevenl and
invesligale violalions o f the human righls recogni zed in lhe Conv enlion ; lry and puni sh lhose
responsible for lhose crimes; in form lhe fa mi ly of the whereabouts of persons w ho have d isappeared and
indem nify (when il is possible lo res lore lhe viclim in lhe exercise o f his of her righls) fo r any damages



-52-

caused by the human rights viola tions co m mi lled by agents of the Sta tc (Vcl ásqucz pa ragraph 166;
Codínez paragraph 175).

The background in formalion subrni tted by the Commission, the a ttached evidcnce and those that
it will submit to the Courl at the appropriate time, demonstrate that the case subm itted to the Court
caused a public commotion in Peru to the point that the Presidcnt of the Rcpublic at tha t time, Dr. Alan
C arda P érez, vis ited the scene oí the even ts a nd publicly pledged to ha ve them fully c1arified . The
Pcruvian press gave extensivo coverage to the work o f the Com mission of Notables and the Sena te
Investigating Cornmittee, and to the íru strated judicial investigation oí the Specia l Prosccu tor, Dr. Carlos
Escobar. However, almost four yea rs have passed since this massacre was cornmi ttcd a nd, despite efforts
made by sorne Peruvian authoriti es and thc Commi ssion, there are s til l no remains of the disappeared
victims nor oí the bod ies o í thosc cxccu tcd , nor ha s anyone bccn convicted or even indicted for the
crimes committed in co nnectio n with thesc evcnts.

The Commission w ill pro vc to the In ter-American Co urt oí Human Righ ts that the Peruvian
Sta te has not made any serious a ttcmpt to investiga te these facts, pu nish those rcsponsiblc, adop t the
measures necessary to preve n: crimes oí th is nature in th e futu ro and compen sa re th e victims and/or
their families for the damages su ffcrcd . Thc passive a ttitude d ernonstratcd by the Pcruvian State vis - a­
vi s a rnassacre oí such proportions. co rnbined with the co ncealmcn t, obstruction oí ju st ice and
elim ina tion oí evidence by its agcnts . proves that the Peru vian State has vio la tcd its obliga tions to
guara ntec the free exercise oí th e fu ndamen tal rights uphcld in the Convcn tion. in accorda nce with
Article 1.1 o í the American Conven tion, o í which Peru is a State Par ty.

VII. CONCLUSIONS

In submitting the instant case to the ínter-American Court o í Human Rights, the Intcr-Arnerican
Commission on Human Rights re iterares that it ís convinced that the Peruvian Sta te is ín terna tionally
accountable for the vio la tio ns oí thc rights rccognizcd in ar ticles 4, 5, 7, 8, and 25 oí th e American
Convention o n Human Rights, co rnrnittcd by m embers oí the Army against persons und er d e
jurisdiction oí the Peru vian State, d uring the course o í even ts that bcgan on May 14, 1988 , in the d is triet
oí Caya ra, Prov ince oí Vícto r Faja rdo, Departrnent o í Ayacucho and that cu lmi na ted on Sep tember 8,
1989.

The Inter-American Com mission on H uman Rights is equa lly convi nced that the Pe ruvian Sta te
has failed to honor its obliga tio ns und er thc provisions oí Articlc 1.1 of th c American Convention on
Human Rights, inasmuch as it has nor adopted m easures ro gu ara n tcc the cxcrcisc oí the right s
recognized in that intemational instrurncnt : instcad, its agents h'ave systcma tica lly a llempted to obstruct
a clarification o í lhe íacls a nd ident ification oí those responsible. As a result , the grave viola tions set
for th in thi s ac tion go unpu ni shed and th e very institlltions oí the Sta te charged , under the Na tiona l
Constitu tion, with saíeguarding the rights oí the inhabi tan ts o í Peru and investiga ting and punishing
those responsible íor violalions oí human rights have becn adverscly affccled. It has thus co mmi lted acts
classified as crim es under Pe ru' s domestie laws.



APPENDIX II

PUNTA DEL ESTE, Decernber 17, 1991

MR. PREsIDENT,

The Govemments of the Republic of Argentina and of the Oriental Republic of Uruguay, as Member
States of the Organization of America n Sta tes and parties to the American Convention on Human
Rights a nd pursuant to Ar tic le 64 paragraph 1 of the a foremen lioned Convention and to the
p ro visions of Articles 49 and 51 of the Rules of Procedu re of the Court, have the honor to ad d ress the
President of the Inter-Amerícan Court of Human Rights in order to request an advisory opinion.

The instant requesl for an advisory opinion seeks the inlerpretation o f Articlcs 41, 42, 44,46,47,50
and 51 of the Convention, as they relate lo the concrete situation and círcumstances described below:

1 ) As regards Articles 41 and 42, the Court is hereby requested to render an opinion as lo
whether, in order to justify its d caling with a case involving commu nica tions alleging the violation
of Ihe rights protected by Articles 23, 24 and 25 of the Con vcn tion, Ihe Commission is compelent lo
assess and offer an opinion on the legality of domestic legislalion adopted pursuant to the provisions
of the Constitution, insofar a s the "reasonableness." "ad visab ili ty," or "au the nticity" of such
legislation is concerned .

2) Wi th respect lo Articles 46 a nd 47 of the Conventio n, the Cou rt is asked to render an opinion
as to whcthcr, in the case of commu nica tio ns submitted pu rsua nt to Article 44 of the Conven tion,
which musl be processed wi thin the fra mework of the Pact of San [ose, it is proper, as a rnatter of
law, for the Commission, after ha ving decla red the app lica lion inadmissible, to address the merits
of Ihe case in the sarne report.

3) As for Articles 50 and 51 of the Conven tion, the Court is here being asked to render an opinion
as lo whether it is proper to com bine the two reports provided for under Articles 50 and 51 of the
Convention in a single report , and whether the Commission may a rder the publica tion of the report lo
which Article 50 refers before the period specified in Article 51 has expi red.

4 ) None of the s ta ndards of interp re ta tion which thc Cou rt is being asked to a p ply in th is
advisory opi nion rela tes lo abst raer issues or thcoretical hypo theses that might even tua lly arise in
the process of im plemen ti ng the Conven tion. They concern concrete cases that ha ve been dealt wilh
by the Commission (e.g., in cases 9768, 9780, 9828, 9850, 9893).

TO THE PREsIDENT OF THE
INTER-AMERICAN CO URT OF H UM AN RIGHTS
DOCTOR HECTOR FIX·ZAM UDIO
SAN lOSE
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5) The applicant Go vernmen ts consid er that the instant advisory opinion request presents an
issue of greal interest and imporlance lo the proper enfo rcemenl o f the American Conven tion on
Human Rights and to th e effective opera lion o f th e lnter-Arnerican Reg ional System for the
Prolection of Human Rights, bearing in mind the noble and exa lted ai ms and goa ls that should
always guide the defcnse of the human persono

6 ) The names and addresses of the agen ls for the applicants are:

Ambassador Alicia Marlínez-Ríos, Embassy of the Republic of
Argentina in San [ose, Costa Rica.

Ambassador Raquel Macedo de Shepard , Embassy of the Oriental
Republic of Uruguay in San [ose, Costa Rica.

The Covernrncnts of the Republ ic of Argentina and of the Oriental Republ íc of Uruguay reaffirm to
the President of the Inter-American Courl of Human Rights the assurances of th eir highest
consideration.

(s) Guido Di Tella
Minister of Foreign Affairs

of the Republic of Argentina

(s ) Héctor Cros -Espiell
Minister 01 Foreign Allairs

of the Oriental Republic
01 Uruguay



APPENDIX III

INTER-AMERICAN COURT or HUMAN RIGHTS

NEIRA ALEGRIA ET AL. CASE

O RD ER or JUNE 29, 1992
(ART.54.3

AMERICAN CONVENTION ON HUMAN RIGHTS)

In the Neira Alegría el al. Case,

The Ín ter-American Court of Human Rights (hereínafter "the Court" or "the Ínter-American Court'' ),
cornposed of the following judges:

Héclor Fix-Zamudio, President
Sonia Picado-Sotela, Vicc-Presídent
Rafael Nieto-Navia. judge
Alejandro Montiel-Argü cllo, judge
Hern án Salgado-Pesantes, Judge
Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren, Judge
Jorge E. Orihuela-Iberico, ad hoc judge

Also present:

Manuel E. Ventura-Robles, Secretary, and
Ana María Reina, Deputy Secretary

pursuant to Article 44 of the Rules of Procedure of the Ínter-American Courl (hereinafter "the Rules of
Procedure") in force for cases subm itted to it prior lo July 31 , 1991, íssues the following order in
connection with Article 54(3) of the American Convention on Human Rights (hereinafter "the
Convention" or "the American Convention"), regarding the memorandum filed with the Court on
April 16, 1992 by the ad hoc Judge appoínted by the Government of Peru (hereinafter "the
Covernment' or "Peru''), Jorge E. Orihucla-Iberico.

1

1. In a memorandum dated March 16, 1992, the ad hoc judge requests thc President of the Courl
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· .•10 convene Ihe Court which you presid es a nd which was instal led on January 13, 1992 pursuanl
lo Article 54(3) of the American Convent ion o n Human Righrs conformi ng lo Article 5(3) of the
Statute of Ihe Court . in order to hcar the case of "Neyra Alegría el al."

2. In his memorandum, he points out that

(ah the time the case was submi tted, the Court was composcd as follo ws:

(hereinafter "the old Court")

1)

2)
3)
4)
5)
6)
7)

8)

President: Héctor Fix-Zamud io
Vice-President : Orlando Tovar-Tamayo
Thomas Buergenthal
Rafael Niet o-N avia
Policarpo Callejas-Bonilla
Sonia Picado-Sote!a
Julio A. Barberis
Jorge E. Orihuela-Iberico (ad hoc [udge)

(Mexico)
(Venezuela)

(U. S. A.)
(Colombia)
(Hond ura s)
(Costa Rica)

(Argentina) and
(Peru)

In [anuary 1991 , after the ad d ition of the ad hoc Judge, thi s Court began to hear rhe case of
"Neyra Alegria et al."

• • •

3. In his memorandum, he asks that

· . . Ihe Court comply with Article 54(3) of the American Convention o n Human Rights which
conforms lO Art ícle 5(3) of the Statute of the Court (a p proved by the General Assembly of Ihe
OAS pursuant lO Article 60 of the Conventio n) and unequ ivocally sta tes that the new Court
shou ld be Ihe one to hear the case of "Neyra Alegria el al.", since the case has reached the
procedural stage of presen tation of evidence bul nol the judg rnent slage.

Judge Orihuela points out that it is irrclevant that thc fo u r versio ns of Article 54(3) in the various
OAS languages have different meanings . The Spanish and Portuguese versions provide that the
jud ges whose terms have cxpi red sha ll continue to hear the cases which have reached the
jud gment srage, whereas the Engli sh a nd French versions indica re th at the judges shall conlin ue
lo hear the cases that a re still pend ing .

• • •

4. In justifying his request, the ad hoc Judge submits lo the Court that

We are not working in a vaccu m or dealing with an obscure provi sion Ihal would imply or
necessitate an elaborare and complex interpretation, nor recourse lo the Vienna Convenlion on
Ihe Law of Treaties; for, as I have already stated, the lext of Arlicle 54(3) is of itself easy lo
understand, apply and observe. Th is is why 1 take the liberty of demanding fairhful compliance
therewith.

Furtherrnore, 1 musl point out that a Sta te Party is being judged u nder the provisions of the
Convention, Statu te a nd Rules of Proccd ure in the Spanish language, this bci ng the working
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language used in the case sub-litis (sic), as eontemplated in Article 19(2) of the Rules of
Proeedure of the Courl in force .

.. .

Moreover, Spanish is the language used for lhe dissemination and applieation of the Convenlion
and Statute, which conlain the rules of proeedure thal have been approved by the OAS
Assembly, and is the version of the Convention that Peru ralified and even ineorporaled into the
current Political Constilution of Peru. For this reason, it is improper to do whal is being
attempted, that is, to seek lo sustain a position by applying a text of the Convenlion in a language
other than that of the case sub-litis (sic), something 1 eategoricaUy reject.

Similarly, 1consider that the new Court should take into aeeount the original text of the sessions,
minutes and final text of the Convention at the time of its approval by the State Parties, bearing
in mind that the drafting and approval of the Convention were eondueted in the Spanish
language. This was precisely the language of the seat and the one that, in my opinion, should
serve as the basis for the abstract resolution of any matter arising from errors in subsequent
translations. This is a problem that is alien and irrelevant lo the Court insofar as rhe deeision
giving rise to this request is concerned and that eould only be useful in the event that the OAS
Assembly, with the votes of the States Parties, should decide to put an end lo the differenees in
the translated versions of Article 54(3) noted by Judge Orihuela.

5. Finally, the ad hoc Judge sta tes that

Pursuant to Article 54(3) of the Convention, l request the Court thar was installed in January 1992
to take over the case of "Neyra Alegria el al." as provided in the aforrnentioned Articlc, sinee the
case sub-litis (sic) has not reaehed the judgmenl slage, a proeedural slage that presupposes thar
no proeedural aets are pending other than deliberations, voting and signing of the judgmenl.
This is nol true of the instant case, which has reaehed the proeedural stage of presentation of
evidenee.

11

6. By note of April 6, 1992, the President of the Court acknowledged receipl of the
aforementioned memorandum and declared that it "will be subrnitted lo the Court as currently
cornposed, that is, including those judges who took office in [anuary this year", without transmittal
to or consultation wilh the Ínter-American Commission on Human Rights. Following the reasoning
reflected in this order, that Court determined that il would hear and decide the arguments presented
by the ad hoc Judge.

III

7. The Court is aware that in his memorandum dated March 16, 1992, the ad hoc [udge
challenges the jurisdiction of the Courl as composed until December 31, 1991 to continué hearing the
case here under consideration and that, in his opinión, the judges whose terms expired on that date
and who were not reelected are debarred from hearing the case after that dale. The ad hoc judge
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argues thatthe Court as eomposed on january 1992 is the sole body with eompetenee to adjudicate the
Neira Alegría el al. case on the merits. He reeognizes, however, that the "old" (sic) Court is
competent to deal with petitions filed by Peru that seek the revisi ón and intcrpretation of the
Court's judgment of Deccmber 11 , 1991 on the preliminary objections interposed by Peru in the Neira
Alegría el al. case.

8. The issue raised by the ad hoc judge is governed by the p ro visions o f Article 54(3) o f the
American Convention, which reads as follows in its four tcxts:

Artículo 54

3. Los jueces permanecerán en funciones hasta el término de su mandato. Sin embargo,
seguirán conociendo de los casos a <¡ue ya se hubieran abocado y <¡ue se encuentren en estado
de sentencia, a cuyos efectos no serán substitu id os por los nuevos jueces elegidos.

Artiele 54

3. The judges sha ll continue in office until t hc expiration of their termo Howevcr, they
shall continue to serve with regard to cases t hat they have begun to hear and that are still
pending, for which purposes they sha ll not be rcplaced by the ncwly eJected jud ges.

Artigo 54

3. Os juizes permanecer áo c m Fu nc óes até o término d os se us mandatos. Entreta nto,
cont inuaráo funcionando nos casos de <¡ue já houvcrern tomad o conhecime nto e <¡u e se
encontrem em fa se d e scntenca e, para tais efeitos, nao ser áo substitu idos pelos novos juízes
ele itos .

Artiele 54

3. Les juges restent en fonct ion jusquá la fin d e leur m and at. Cepend a n t, ils
continuero nt de connai tre des affa ires dont ils ont éré sa isis et qui se trouvent e n instance; pour
ces affaires, ils ne seront pas rem placés par les juges nouvellement élus.

9. An analysis of these fOUT texts of Article 54(3), which were duly certified as cqua lly
authentic on April 30, 1970 by the Deputy Secretary General of the Organization of American Stales
(Trea ty Series No. 36, OEA Documentos Oficiales, OEA/Ser. A/1 6 [SEPF]), ind ica tes sorne diffcrences
in wording bctwecn the Spanish and Portuguese texts, on thc one hand , and the English and French
text, on the other.

10. The Vienna Convention on the Law of Trcaties (hereinaftcr "the Vienna Convenrion"),
which, as this Court has recognized on innumerable occasions IOlher Treaties 5ubjecl lo the Advisory
[urisdiction o/ ihe Courl (Ar/. 64 American Convenlion on Human Righis), Advisory Opinion OC-1/82
of Scpternbcr 24, 1982. Series A No. 1, par¡¡. 45; The Effect of Reeeruations on the Enlry inlo Force of Ihe
American Convenlion on Human RighlS (Arls . 74 and 75), Advisory Opinion OC-2 /82 of Septcmbcr
24, 1982. Series A No. 2, paras. 19,20 and 26; Restrictions lo the Death Penalty (Arls. 4(2) and 4(4 )
American Convenlion on Human Rights), Advisory Opinion OC-3/83 of September 8, 1983. Series A
No. 3, para. 48; The Word "Latos" in Arlicle 30 of the American CO/lventio /l on Human Rights,
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Advisory Opinion OC-6/86 of May 9,1986. Series A No. 6, para. 13; Enforeeabili/y of thc Righ! lo Reply
or Corree/ion iArts. 14(1), 1(1) and 2 American Conven/ion on Human Righ/s), Advisory Opinion OC­
7/86 of August 29, 1986. Series A No. 7, para. 21; Habeas Corpus in Emergeney Situaiions (Arls. 27(2),
25(1) and 7(6) American Conven/ion on Human Righis), Advisory Opinion OC-8/87 of Ianuary 30,
1987. Series A No. 8, para. 141, is ful1y applicable. addresses this problem in its Articles 31, 32 and
33. They read as follows:

Article 31

Ccneral rule DE intcT-rTctation

1. A treaty shall be intcrprcrc.i in good faith in accordance with the ordinary meamng to
be given to thc tcrrns of the trcaty in their contcxt and in the light of its object and purpose.

2 The context for the purpose of thc intcrpretation of a treaty shall cornpr íse, in addition
to the text, includ ing its prcamblo and annexes:

a. any agrccmcnt rclatiug t o t hc treaty which was madc bct wecn all the parties in
conncxion with thc concJusíon of thc trcarv:

b. any instrumcnt which was madc by onc or more parties in conncxion with thc
conclusiun of the t rcaty and acccprcd by t hc other partíes as an instru mcnt
related to the treaty.

3. Thcre shall be taken into account, together with the contexto

a. any subsequcnt agrccmcnt bct wecn the parties regarding the interpretation of
the treaty or the application of its provisions;

b. any subsequcnt practice in the application of t hc trcatv which establishes the
agrccmcnt of the parties regarding its intcrpretat ion:

c. any relevant rules of intcrnational la w applicablc in the rclations borwccn thc
partíes.

4. A spccial meaning shall be glvcn to a tenn if it IS establishcd that the parties so
intendcd.

Artide 32

Sugplementary mean' uf interpretation

Rccoursc may be had to supplcmcntarv mca n s of interpretation, including the
preparatury work of thc t rcaty and rhc r.rcum stancus of its conclusion, in ordcr to confinn the
meaning resulting frorn t h e applicatíon of artícle 31, or to determine the meaning when the
interpretation according to article 31:

a. lcaves t he meaning ambiguous or obscuro: or

b. lcad s to a rcsult which is manifcstly absurd or unrcasonable.

Article 33

fnterpretation of trcatics authenticatcd in two or more languagcs



-60-

1. When a treaty has been authentieated in two or more languages, the text is
equally authoritative in each language, unless thc treaty previdos or the part ics agree that, in
case of divergenee, a particular text shall prcvail.

2 A version of the treaty in a language othcr than one of thosc in whieh the text
was authcnticated shall be considcred an authentie text onJy if the treaty so provides or the
parties so agree.

3. Thc terms of the treaty are prcsumcd tu have t he samc mcanlng in each
authentic texl.

4. Except wherc a particular text prcvails in accordancc with paragraph 1, when a
eomparison of the authentie texts d iscloscs a d iffcrcncc uf mcaning whieh the application of
articles 31 and 32 does not removc, the mcaning which bcst reeoneiles the tcxts, having regard to
the objeet and purpose of the trcaty, shall be adopted.

11. For purposes of the instant analysis, paragraphs 3 and 4 of Articlc 33 are particularly
re1evant. They indicate, first, that whcre thcre is more than one authentic text of a treaty "[tlhc
terms of the treaty are presurned to have the sarne meaning in each authcntic text." Second, whore
there appear to be differcnces in the meaning bctwcen thc authentic tcxts, "thc meaning which bcst
rcconciles the texts, having regard to the object and purpose of the trcaty, shall be adopted." Hcnce.
in interpreting the meaning of Article 54(3) of the Con vcntion, oru- may not assurnc that one authentic
text has precedence over another. Instcad, an attempt must be ruado to rcconcile that various
authentic texts by reference to the rules of interpretation spcllcd out in thc Vicnna Convention.

12. Bcfore undertaking this analysis, it must be noted that the working language choscn for a
case being litigated before the Court does not and cannot determine the meaning to be given to a
provision of the Convention whcn thc mcaníng appears to differ in the authcntic texts. Were it
otherwise, the Convention would have differcnt meanings for diffcrcnt litigants, depending on the
working languages they or the Court sclcct. It is obvious that this would "loald] to a result which is
manifestly absurd or unreasonable." lt is equally obvious, thcrcforc. why the Vienna Convention
adopts the rules that are sct out in Article 33 to dcal with this problem.

IV

13. The wording of the Spanish and English texts of Articlc 54(3) appear to diffcr in that the
Spanish text speaks of "casos... que se encuentren en estado de sentencia" C'sc cncontrern en fase de
aentenca" in Portuguese), whereas the English text refers to "cases ... that are stilI pending" ("qui se
trouvent en instance" in Frcnch).

14. Furthermore, the Spanish text could lcnd itself to one of two possiblc intcrpretations. The
phrase "...en estado de sentencia" rnight be rcad to mean that the case is at that stage of the
proceedings when aIl that remain is for the judgment to be agreed upon and to be pronounced. It could
be a case in which aIl the evidcncc has bccn gathered, thc written pleadings have been received and
the public hearing have been held, but where the judgment ··whether on the merits or of an
interlocutory character, such as that pertaining to preliminary objections -- has not as yet been voted
on and/or pronounced. The phrase could also be read to mean, however, that the proceedings in the
case are continuing or are ongoing in the sense that the case is in the process of moving towards the
judgment. This interpretation could be applied to a situation where the Court has begun to deal with
at least sorne of the issues, be they legal or factual, that must be resolved before judgment can be
rendered.
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15. The phrase em ployed in the English text (""still pending," which canno t be read as meaning
"pending judgmenl only" without overly forcing the interpretation ), sim ila r lo thc French ("en
instance," which the Dictionnaire de Droii, Ra ymond Barrainc, Pari s, 1967, p. 175, defines as "série
des acles d 'une proc édure ayant pour objct d e saisir une jurisdiction d'une con testa tion, d 'instruire la
cause et d'obtenir le jugcmcnt"), could also be interprctcd in two ways, for it ca n refer c ithe r lo the
mornent when the complaint is filed and notified, or to the stage of thc proceedings when the judges
have addressed thc merits of the ca se ci ther totally 0 1' partially .

16. It is necessary to ask, thercfore. whcther thc text s in Spanish and Portugucse and English and
French can be reconciled in thc manner required by the Vicnna Cnnven tion.

v

17. Two other poin ts bea r o n the issue hcre und er considc ra tion. Onc has lo do wi th the fact that
Article 19(3) o f the Rules of Procedure curren tly in force, which was included as a rcsu lt fo the Cou rt's
practice, provides the following :

When, for whatcvor rcason, a ¡Udgl' is not prcsent a l one of t hc hearings DI' al o thcr stages of the
proceedings, the Courl ma y d ecid e to exem pl him frorn conlin uing lo hoar rhe case, taking into
account a ll thc ci rcu rnsta nccs it d cems rel cvant.

The o ther point co nccrn s th e language uf Article 27(3) of the Rules of Procedure applicable to thi s
case, which sta tes that:

The rcccipt by the Secrela ry o f a prelimi na ry objection shall not ca u se the suspe nsi ón o f the
p rocccdings on the meri ts . . .

18. Article 19(3) o f the Rules of Proccdure , current ly in force, is rol evant to thc intcrpretation of
Article 54(3 ) of the Con ven tion in that it rcfl ccts thc principie thal fairnc ss lo thc litigants a nd
judicial cfficacy rcquire that, whcncvcr possible, o nly the judg es who havo eificacy require that,
whenevcr po ssible, o nly thc jud ges who ha vo participatcd in a ll slages o f thc proceedings shou ld
rcnder judgment in the case. This princíple would be in con fl ict wi th a n in terpretation of Article 54(3)
that asscrts that judges whose terrns have expired while thc case is pending ca n be remo ved al any
stage of the proccedings so long as the case is not as yc t rcad y (or jud g men t.

19. On the othcr hand , by providing that the filin g Df preliminary objec tio ns does no l su spend
Ihe proceed ing s on lhe m erilS, Article 27(3) o f lhe Rules o f Procedure applicable lo lhe insla n l case
clearly seeks to ensure that lhe proceed ings suffer no d elays, as wou ld be the case if new judges were
lo replace lhose already famil iar wilh lhe case but whose lerms have expi red .

VI

20. The Draft Inler-American Conven lio n on lhe Pro lec lion of Human RighlS, w hich served as
Ihe working d ocumenl a l lhe San Jose Confere nce, con la incd a n Articl e 45(3) which read as follows in
Spani sh:
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El juez permanecerá e n la fu nció n hasta el término de su ma ndato . Sin embargo, segu irá
conociend o de los caso s a qU l') ya se hubiere abocado, mie ntras se sustancia el respectivo
proceso.

The English tcxt read as follows:

A ju d ge sha ll conti nuo in his officc unti l thc cx pi ration oí hi s tcrrn, provid ed , ho wevcr, that he wil l
continue cxarni ning thc cases of which he has bcc ome seized, whilc such cases a re being heard .

21. The language oí this draft previsión can be traced to sorne earlicr drafts on the subject. The
earliest is the Draft Convention on Human Rights , which wa s prepared by the lntcr-Amerícan
Council of [urists in 1959 (sce Inter-Amclican Yearbook on Human Rights, 1968, p . 237).

The Spani sh lexl o f draft Articl e 42(1) provid ed as follows:

Con su jeció n a lo d isp uesto e n e l a rt ícu lo 40, tod o miem bro de la Co m isió n d esempeñará sus
funciones hasta que haya sido elegido u n sucesor; pero si con anterio rida d a la elección del
suceso r la Com is ión h ub ie re ini ciado e l exam e n d e u n asu nto d el [s ic ] miembro sa lie nte
continuará actuando en este asu nto en lugar d e su sucesor.

Thc English text read as follows:

Su bject l o rhc provi sions of Anid e 40, each mc rnbcr of thc Cornmission sha ll rema in in o ffice
until a succcsso r ha s bccn clcrt ed . Howovcr, if p r io r to th e e lect ion of such succcsso r, t he
Commi ssi on shoul d ha ve sra rtcd th o exarnination o f a case. the o u tgoi ng rnernbcr rat her than
hi s successor, shall co n rin uo to act in the maucr,

Article 67(3) of t he Cou nc il o f [ u rists ' draft madc thi s p ro vision appli cable lo the judges of the
proposed court.

22. Very similar language is found in thc Drafl Con vention on Human Ri ghts prcscnted by the
Covernment of Chile lo thc Second Speciall nter-Arncrican Confercnce, which rnet in Rio de janeiro in
1965 Obid., p . 275). lt provided in Articlc 42(3) that

Los miernbros d e la Comisión perm a necer án en fun ció n hasta el términ o de su mandato.
Excepcionalmente , mientras se sustancia el respectivo procc~o, seguirán co no cie nd o de los
asuntos a que ya se h ub ie ren abocado .

Articlc 48 oí the C hilea n dra ft made th is pro vi sio n appl icable lo the judges o f the Cou rt.

23. The Government o f Uru g uay in 1965 also prcscntcd a draft Con ve n lio n tlb id., p. 298 ). lis
provisions o n the issue here under considc ra rion (Ar ts. 47(]) and 72(4) corresponded verbatim lo
those found in the C h ilca n draft.

24. Thc oífici al d ocument s and procccding s o f rh e Sa n lo se Con fe re nce (Con fe re nc ia
Especializada lnteramerica na sob re Derechos Humanos (San lose, Costa Rica, 7-22 d e noviembre d e
1969), Actas y DoclImentos, OEA /Ser. K/XVI/1 .2, Washington, D.e. 1973) contain no refcrcnce lo any
discussion o f or any document explaining thc reasons for the change in wording forrn thc Spanish text
oí Article 45(3 ) o f the draft Con vcntion -- working d ocurne nt o f the San [o se Con fcrcncc -- to what
becarne thc final tcxt o f Article 54(3 ) of the Conven tion . The Spanish text o f Article 54(3 ) in its
current form appears for the firsl tirno in a text prcparcd by thc Sty le Com m ittcc . Since there was no
discussion o f this sub jcc t al thc Confcrcncc, it is rcasonable lo assurno that draft Article 45(3), which
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became Articlc 54(3) of the Convcntion, wa s re vised by thc Style Commillee for s tylistic reasons
only. That is, it can be assurned that th c phrasc "sin embargo, seguirá conociendo de los casos a que ya
se hubiere abocado, mientras se sus ta ncia el respectivo proceso" -- Articlc 45(3) of the Draft
Convention -- was dcerncd by the Style Cornm ittcc lo mean thc same thing as "sin embargo, seguirá n
conociendo de los casos a que ya se hubieran abocado y que se encuentren e n estado de sen tencia" -­
Article 54(3) of the Convcntion.

25. In analyzing the wording of th esc drafts in both the English and thc Spa n ish vcrsions, one
rnust Iherefore conclude as a matter of principie that the intcnt of this provision was lo ens u re Ihal
the judges or Commission mernbcrs who ha vo begun lo d eal with a case or issuc sha ll co n tinuo to hear
it even after thcír tcrrns ha ve officia Ji v c nd cd .,

VII

26. Having cornplcted the cxa m ina no n o f th c dra ftin g hi story a nd conte xt of the America n
Convention, we find that. a s regard s A rt icJe 54(3), the interpretation o f thc Spa n ish phrasc "en
estado de sentencia" as rcferring lo the morncnt whcn the Cou r t is about lo vo te o n a judgrncnt -- a very
extreme rendering -- is difficult to rcconcíl c with that o the r e xtre me intcrprctation of the English
text, according lo which "s till pending" m cans the m orncnt whcn thc case is fil ed and notified.
Neithcr extreme is in accord with thc solo cr iter io n Ihat mu st o f necess íty govern the "object and
purpose" o f the provision under exarninat ion, narncly, lo p rcvcn t a success ion o f judges from disrupling
the proceedings. which would be likely lo o ccur if judges a cti vely participaling in jud icia l
proceedings werc lo be rcplaced .

27. The Cou r t find s th at th c o n ly solu tio n that would sa tis fy both extremes a nd be co m pa tib le
with the s ta ted "ob ject a nd purpose" is lo re tor lo the morncnt a l which it takes IIp the mcrits o f thc
case. The phrase "take up the rncrits '' sha ll not, howc ver, be intcrpretcd in a restricti vo scnse, since
it is only very rarely that ,1 spccific momcnt ca n be s ing led o u t as the time whcn the Cou rt "decid es"
lo lake up the merits o f a case or, wha t is more likcly, the time whcn il d ecides not lo procccd or lo
suspend the proceedings,

28. In practice -- and by virtue o f th c fact that the Rul es of Proccdure make it possible to continue
with the m crits, e ven when preliminary o b jcc tions ha vc been intcrposed -- tho Cou r t u sually takes
both up sim u lta neo usly . O ra l procccdings on the merils wOll ld wilholl t doubt serve as an indication -­
Ihough nol Ihe only o ne -- lhat lhe case has been ad m il led . It can happcn, fo r exam ple , thal in
analyzing the preliminary objeclions Ihe COll rl m ighl have lo ad d ress lhe merils in w hole or in par!,
even when it d oes so in o rd er to d ecide. a s it has in the ra st, th~ll it w ill join one or more o f lhe former
lo lhe latter (Velásquez Rodriguez Case. l'relilll inary Obiections, ¡udgmel1t o f ¡u ne 26, 1987. Series C No.
1, Fairéll Carbi and Solis Corra les Case, I'rt'lillli llllry Objcctioll s,l lI dgme nt o f ¡ une 26, 19H7. Se ries C No.
2 and Codill t':: Cruz Case. I'rclilll inary O/'icetiol/" Judgmenl o f lune 2h, 19H7. Series C No. 3).

29. The Slalule oi the Internalional Co u rt o f Justice co n la ins a provi sion sim ila r \0 lhat found in
lhe English texl of the American Convention. lt reads as foll ows:

The Members Df th e Court shall ron tinue to discharge thei r duties unti l their places have been
filled . Thollgh fl'placed. they shall fi nish ,InYcases which they may haye begun (Articl" 13(3» .

The Inlernalional Co ur l of JU5lice has gi ven very broad applicalion to ilS s ta tu tory provi sions, insofar
as ils composilion has S{\ml'limes bee l1 mod ified a l one slage or anolher of a given case. In o lher
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words, the court d ealing with provisional rncasure s ha s not n ecessarily bcen the o ne to h ear
preliminary objections or the rnerits of the case (See, inter alia, Barce10na Traction , Light and Power
Company, Limited, Second Phase, )udgmenl, l.C}. Reports 1970, p . 3; Fisheries Ju risdiction (United
Kingdom v. lceland), [urisdiction of the Cou rt , judgmenl, l.C}. Reports 1973, p . 3; Fisheries [urísdiction
(United Kingdom v. lcela nd), Merits. judgmenl, l.C]. Reports 1974, p. 3; Fish eries [ur isdiction (Federa l
Repu blic of Germany v . iceland), [urisdiction of the Caurt, ju d grnen l, l.e). Reports 1973, p . 49; Fisheries
[u risdiction (Federal Republic of Germa ny v . lceiand), Merits, lud grncnt, I.C} . Reports 1974, p . 175;
Military and Paramiiitarv Activities in and against Nicaragua (Nicaragua v. Uni ted Sta tes af America ),
[urisdiction and Admissibility, judgmenl l.C i] . Reports 1984, p . 392; Mi/itary and Paramilitary Activities
in and against Nicaragua (Nicarag ua v. Lln iteá States of America ), Meri ts, judgment Le] . Reports
1986, p . 14).

30. The cases heard in that Cou rt, however, are different in s tructure from those handled by the
lnter-Arnerican Court. In the former, the SOUTces applied m ust take in to account the eq ui libri u m o f
relationships between s ta tes . As thi s Cou r l has s ta ted , the a rca of the protec tion of human rights is
very different, since

29. . . .modern human right s treaties in general, and th e Amer ican Convention in
particular, are not multilateral trea ties of the traditi onal type conc luded to accompli sh the
reciprocal exchange of rights fo r the mutual benefit of the contrac ti ng sta tes. Thcir object and
purpose is thc prolection of the basic rights of individ ual hu man beings irrespective of their
nationality, both aga ins t the Sta te of their nationality and all other conlracting Sta les. In
concluding these human rights treaties, the States can be deemed to submi t thernselves to a
legal order within which they, for the common good, assume various obligations, not in relation
to other States, but towards all ind ividuals wi thin their juri sdic tion . The d istinct character of
these treaties has been recogn izcd, ínter alia, by the European Comm ission un Human Rights,
when it declared

rhat the obliga tions undertaken by the High Contracting Pa rt ics in rhe Eu ro pea n
Convention are csscnria lly uf an objective character, bcing dcsign cd ra ther to protect the
fundamenta l rights of indi vid ual human beings frum infringements by any of the High
Contra cting Parr ics than to creare subjccrive and reciproca! rig hts for the High
Contracting Parrí es them selves. (Austria vs ltaly, Appli ca tion No . 788/60, 4 Euro p ean
Yearbook of Human Rights 116, at 140 (l961J.)

The European Commission, relying un rhe preamble lo the European Convcntion emphasized,
furthermore.

that the purpose of thc High Contracting Part ies in conclud ing the Convention was no t
to concede to cach other rociprocal right s and obligations in pursua nce of their
individual narional inte rest but to realizo the aims and idea ls of the Cou ncil uf Europc. . .
a nd to es tablish a co mmon public orde r of the free dcrnocracics of Europe with the
object of safeguarding thcir common hcritage of politica l trad it ion" idea ls, freedom and
the rule of law. ( Ibid . at 138.)

(The Effect af Reservations an the En try inla Force af Ih e American Co nvention on Human Rights (Arts.
74 and 75), Advisory Opinion OC-2 / 82 o f September 24,1 982. Series A N o . 2.)

31. The case Iaw of the InlernationaI COUTt of justice can no t be m ade applicab1e in bIanket
fashion to the Inter-American Court. Dividing the proceeding s into a series of "wa te r tigh t
compartments" would reconcile neither the practice of the Ialter nor the provi sions o f it s Rules o f
Procedure, which slipulale o thcr w ise. It wouId also not lake into account Ihe need lo g ua ra ntec lo
the victims the m osl e fficien t p roceedi ng possible.
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32 . For al1 of these reasons, there fore, the best judge is the Cou rt that began to hear the case.
These are the judges who know to wha t exten t they have begun lo add ress the rnerits. even whcn ora l
proceed íngs have not yet been ini tia ted.

33. In the instant case the Court had rcndcred judgmenl on preliminary objections bu t had not
begun to addrcss the merits of the case. Thc aboye intcrpreta tion o f Art icle 54(3) of the Convention
leads to the conclusion that the Cou rt as ncwl y composcd is the one that must con tinuo to hcar thi s
case.

VIII

34. THEREFüRE

In view of the facl that the jud gment rcndcred on Dccernbcr 11. 1991 in the case here und er
consideration rejected every onc of the objcctions intcrposcd by the Government. bu t the judges who
rendered the judgment d id not take IIp the merits of the case,

THECüURT,

composed as sta te above.

unanimously

DECIDES:

To continue to hear the case of Nei ra Al egría el al., except for rnattcrs related lo the motions filed by
the agent of the Govemment agai ns l the judgment of December 11 , 1991 , which shall be resolved by
the Court as it was composed when that judgment was rcnd ered .
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Done in Spanish and English, the Spanish text being authentic, at the seat of the Court in San lose,
Costa Rica, this twenty-ninth day of [une of 1992.

(s) Héctor Fix-Zamudio
President

(s) Sonia Picado-Sotela

(s) Alejandro Montiel-Argüello

(s) Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Secretary

(s) Rafael Nieto-Navia

(s) Hernán Salgado-Pesantcs

(s) Jorge E. Orihuela-Ibcrico



-67-

DlSSENTING OI'INION os JUDGE NIETO

J have voted in supporl o f the Cou rt's interpretation of Article 54(3) of the American Convention on
Human Rights bccause it is a valid as a ny othcr that falls wi thin thc pa ra rnctcrs of Articles 31 lo 33
of the Vienna Convention on the La w of Trca ties, Conscqucntly, 1concurred wi th the operalive part
lo the extent that it consti tu tes the ap plica tion of lhat interp rcta tio n.

In my opini ón, the Co u rl should ha ve includcd , but did not, an opera tive poin l affi rming its
jurisd iclion lo respond lo the pcti tion prescnted by thc ad hoc Judge. Had it done so, thc undersigned
Judge would ha ve voted against it. Ncvcrthelcss, exp ress reíercnce was rnade lo that point in the
sta ternen t of reasons molivaling the order, which is why I allach rhis dissen ling opinion .

I shall nol dwell on the fact that the rcquest was submitted for a na lysis by the Cou rt as cu rrcntly
composed, that is, after the changes brougth abo u t by the clcctions o f judges al the OAS Assernblies in
Santiago, in [une 1991, and in Nassau, in May 1992, although i t mu st be noted that the la ttcr election
was held in ord cr lo replacc a deceased judgc and that the judge thus clccted would thcrefore farm
part of either Court. JI was brought lo this Cour t because that is wha t thc ad hoc Judge dcsi red and
what the President of the Cou rt d ecided , withou t any rcason being given in ci ther case; howevcr, one
can assume that the President's decision was prornp ted by a dest re lo cnsu rc the "transparency" of the
p roceedings. Nevcrthcless, this reasoning is vitia ted by the fallacy of petitio principii , Wha t is being
requested is that the Cou r t, as currently composed, take up thc case of Neira Alegría et al. by virtue or
a n interpretation of the Convcntion, whi le the concl usions of tha t vcry intcrpreta tio n a re used lo
[ustifv the position that it is that cornposition of the Cou rt that sho uld be the one lo hear the request .

There is, of course, no exp ress rule that would solve thi s p roblem. JI is necessary, then, lo lurn lo
general principIes of law in order to arrive a l a conclusi ón. But th is bri ngs us a ne w complica tion.
Confl icts of [urisdiction in do mestic cour ts are generally raised. al the request of a legi ti ma le party,
in order lo force one lo d ecline one's jurisd iction in fa vor of anothcr. Here, howcver, we are d ealing
with the sarne Courl; only its cornposition is dl ífcrcn t. Nobod y would cast doubt on the ju risdic tion of
the Court, as such, lo he,¡r lhe inslan t case . Moreo ve r. the ad flOc Judge did not challenge the
previous judges. Consequen lly, though usefuI. the domcsl ic Iaw precedcn ls are nol fully applicable lo
lhe situalion befare uso

The general, bul of coursc by no means absolu te, rule in d omestic law is lhal every jud ge has lhe power
lo d ecide his o r her o wn jurisd iclion. 11 may happen lha l a judge who believes Ihal he has
jurisdiclion will ask anolher, who is dea ling wilh a case, to recuse himself and send lhe fi le lo him.
The person who is dealing wi th lhe case wi1l . of course, be lhe one lo decide whether or nol lo acl
upon su ch a reguest. If he refu ses lo do 50, a confli c t a rises that musl be resol ved by a higher
aulhority . I-/owever, if it is a matter of a jud ge exa mi ning his own jurisdiction a t the request of a
legitimale parly, again it wi1l be he who wi ll d ecide . In this la tler hypolhesis il is un li kely that a
conflicl will a rise, unless another jlld gc should rcfllsc to take over the case.

We are here not dealing wilh lwo judges who bolh belicve thal lhey have jurisd iction, nar wilh a
higher inslance <which, in a ny even l, d oes no t exisl in inlerna lional la w) where lhe conflic t mighl be
resolved. Jt is a petilion presenled lo a group of judges belonging lo the same Courl, asking lhem lo
lake over a case lhal was being heard by anolher grou p of judges.
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Since the matter involves a single Court and proceeding initiated by one of its mernbers, it would seem
logical that the body in process of hearing the case should be the one to be asked lo waive its
jurisdiction in favor of the new composition of the Court. Bul whal is happening, rather, is that the
newly composed Court is being asked to lake over the case from those who had been hearing it,
something that cannot be done arbilrarily when there has been no recusation.

In this connection, in the interests of preserving the institutionality of the organs of the ínter­
American system and in the absence of a specific provision, the problem musl be analyzed and
decíded by those who are seized of the case and not by a group of judges who have not yet been
entrusted with it.

This is, moreover, what can be deduced from the Court's decision in interpreting the Convcntion. For
if it is stated that the judges shalI continu é lo hear cases in which they have already begun lo
address the merits, only they, of course, will know whether or not they have done so.

I believe that the problem concerning jurisdiclion should have been raised with the cou rt as
previously composed . That is the only logical solution to this dilemma, considering that there is no
higher body able to deal with it, If the Court as previously composed had decided that it should
continué to hear the case, the new composition of the Court would not even have had acccss lo the
files and, consequently, would have no reason whatsoever lo ask that they be dclivercd lo it because
one Court is as legitima le as the othcr. However, the Court as previously composed could also have
decided that al the slage reached in the proceedings no disruplions would occur and no damage would
be caused lo the victirns, and that the files should be transrnitted lo the newly composed Cou r t,
which would receive them and hear the case thenceforward. Both hypothcses avoid a conflicl that
cannot be resolved by a higher authority, defend the interests al stake. which are human rights, and
preserve the system for their protection .

l arn, therefore, of lhe opinion that the decision of the Court should havo been that. a s cu rrcntly
composed, it has no jurisdiction to take up the petition of the ad hoc Judge. That pelition should have
been responded to by the Court with the cornposition that had been hearing the case of Neira Alegría
et al.

(s) Rafael Nieto-Navia

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Secrelary
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INDIVIDUAL OPINION OF JUDGE MONTIEL-ARGÜELLO

1. I have signed the Order issued by the Court regarding its composition, in full agreement with
its operative paragraph and with its rcasoning, which is an accurate interpretation of the American
Convention on Human Rights.

2. I have no doubts whatsocver as to the Court's jurisdiction to issue the arder in question
without the need for an express statcment in that regard. The very acl of issuing an arder suggesls
the conviction that jurisdiction lo d o so exists.

3. I consider it advisable for the cxp ression "old Court" lo be inserted betwecn quotation rnarks
in the Order, so as lo indicate that thc phrase is being u scd cxclusively lo identify the Cou rl as it was
composcd before January 1 this year.

4. The expression musl on no accounl be takcn lo rcfer lo a Cou rl tha t is in any way di ffcrent from
the Courl in its current composition . This is nol simply a qucstion of se rna ntics, but one that ha s a
bearing on the detcrmination of the juri sdicti on of thc Court.

5. If there actually cxisted an old Co urt and a new Cour t and thc forrner werc alreadv sei zed of
a case, it would not be possible for th c Iattcr to issuc any orders with rcgard lo that case. ti would be
a case of two Courts of the sa me ran k, wherc onc cou ld nol preva il over th e o ther and whcre no
common higher authority exist s.

6. Howevcr, this is not the case, in my opinion. The Court is always the sarne. rcgardlcss of its
composition . Consequently, the Court as cornposed al the prcscnt time has full [ur ísdiction lo regulare
its composition in any of the cases brought befo re it, including th ose cases that have already begun lo
be considcred by Judges who no longer sit on it. Thi s d ecisi ón can be takcn by the Cour t, cither a t the
request of one of the parti es o r of one o f ils membcrs, as in th e instanl case, o r on its ow n init iative.
Furthermore, although in th ís case it was d ccmed ncccssary to issuc thc instant arder -- both as a
reply lo the memorandum of the ad hoc Judge of Peru and because of the novclty of the situ a tion -- in
future cases it should no longer be nccessary lo issuc a formal ord cr. but simply to follow an already
established precedent.

7 . The Court that is hearing a case, rcgardlcss o f its com position at thc time of making its
decisi ón, is the one ablc to determine whcther or not it has takcn up the rnerits o f the case, not as a
subjective opinion but bascd on the proceedings on record .

8 . In the case here under consid cration . the Court lo whi ch the ca se of Neira Alegría el al. case
has bcen brought decided that lhe judges who rendered lhe judgment of December 11 . 1991 had nol
laken up lhe merils of lhe case but had only d eall with lhe di smissal of the preliminary objections.

9. [n my opinion, that d ecision is perfectly justificd .

(s) Alejandro Monliel-Argüello

(s) Manuel E. Venlura-Robles
Secrelary
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INDIVIDUAL OPINION or AD HOC ]UDGE ORIHUELA-IBERICO

WHEREAS:

1. In its Order oí Decernber 11, 1991, the lnter-Arnerican Court oí Human Rights (hcrcinafter
"the Court") established a Special Commission to regulate the proeeedings in the case oí Neira
Alegría el al.;

2. The Special Commission met al the seat of the Court on January 17 and 18, 1992;

3 . Al that meeting, the ad hoc Judge verbally raised the question of the Court's cornpliancc wilh
Article 54(3) of the American Convention on Human Rights (hereinaftcr "the Convention"):

4. At the request of the Special Commission, the ad hoc Judge presented the matter in writing
and submitted it to the full Court on March 16,1992;

5. Beeause of its clarity, the malter of the Courts eomplianee with Article 54(3) of the
Convention does not require the elabora te interpretation eontained in the foregoing Order:

6. In aeeordanee with the statement contained in paragraph 34 of that Order regarding the faet
that the Court's judgment oí Deccmber 11 , 1991 was eireumseribed lo a deeision on the preliminary
objeetions interposed by the Government oí Peru, my individual op inion is that the Court issue the
íollowing order:

ORDER:

Pursuant to Article 54(3) of the Convention, thc Court in stall ed in [anuary 1992 does on this dale take
up the case of "Neira Alegría el al." Thc pctitions for revisi ón and interpretation submilted by the
Governmenl of Pero shall be d eeided by the Court as it was composed al the time that it issued the
majority vote judgment to rcjcct the preliminary objeetions, that becn the judgmenl on whieh the
aforementioned petitions have been fil ed.

(s) Jorge Eduardo Orihucla-Ibcrico

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Seerelary
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ORDEROFTHE
INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

JUNE 30, 1992

NEIRA ALEGRIA ET AL. CASE

HAVING SEEN:

1. The motion presented by thc Covernmenl of Peru in its Counter-Memorial of [une 27, 1991, in
its submission of October 15, 1991 and al the public hearing hcld al thc scat of the Courl on [une 30,
1992, lo disqualify the following witncsscs:

Auguslo Yamada, Juan Hever Kruger, José Raez Conzálcz, Agustín Mantilla Campos, Juan de Dios
[iménez Morán, Ricardo Chumbos Paz, César San Martín Castro. César Elejalde Estenssoro, Rolando
Ames, César Delgado, Pilar Coll, and José Rojas Mar, "who in cxercise of thcir profession as medical
doctors, governmental authorities and judges, have given their functional and jurisdictional opinion
in the autopsy rcports, their testimony before the judges and the lnvestigative Cornmission. in their
judgments and jurisdictional resolutions. Thercfore, their functional participation in the facls should
be judged on the merit of the documenls they officially issued, wilhout the necd for these persons
being summoned as witnesses."

Aquilina M. Tapia de Ncira, Sonia Coldenberg, José Burneo and Enrique Zilcri, because they cannol
"testify when thcy were not present at thc sitc of the events thc subjcct of this case."

Sonia Goldenberg "because she has admittcd her opposition lo the Covcrnmcnt of Poru in thc reports
published on the matters denounced" and bccause she has been rcrutcd by Juan Francisco Tulich
Morales, one of thc surviving prisoners.

José Burneo "because he was the very lawyer of the petitioners."
•

Enrique Zileri, "the magazine Caretas under his dircction. has declared its opposition lo the
Government of Peru on the matter denounced" and bccause he has been rcfuted by Revcrcnd Father
Hubcrt Lansiers.

2. The motion presented by the Covernment of Pcru to d isqualiry thc following cxpcrt witnesses
offered by the Commission:

Ing. Enrique Bernardo, lng. Cuillcrmo Tamayo, Or. Roberl H. Kirschner and Or. Clyde C. Snow,
"because the offer of expert evidence, which is of an instrumental nature, is verified by the
presentation of opinions in which the experts presenl their conclusions, based upon thcir competence
and qualifications. Consequently, those experts need nol appear in person before the lnter-American
Court, but rather should present their cxpert tcstimony by means of wrillen opinions.'
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3. The Commission 's withdrawal of the testimony of Hubert Lansiers, Julio Césa r Duni árn,
Alberto Torres and N icolás Lucar, at the meeting of the Specia l Commission of the Cour t a nd the
Agent o f the Govemment on [anuary 17, 1992.

4 . The Government's objection to receiving testimony when, in its opinion, other documents
substantiate the same fa cts, the testimony would add nolhing and would nol serve judicial economy.

5. The Commission's submissions at the public hearing of [une 3D, 1992.

WHEREAS:

1. The Government has objected to all the testimony offered by the Commission and, regarding
the testimony of Aquilina M. de Tapia, Sonia Goldenberg and Enrique Zilcri, the Government also
urged specific grounds for d isqualificati on.

2. Neithcr the Conven tion, the Sta tu te, nor thc Rules of the Court specify the grounds for the
challenge or disqualification of witnesses and . accord ing to article 34.1 of the Rules applicable lo the
case, the Court may decide whether hearing a witness "seemís) likely to assist it in the carrying out
of its functions''. (Cfr . Velásquez Rodríguez Case, [udgment 01 July 29, 1988. Series C. No. 4, para . 143;
Godínez Cruz Case, [udgment 01 [anuarv 20, 1989. Series C. No. 5, para . 143.)

3. The facts before the Court, rather than the means used lo es tab lish thern, assist it in
determining if there has been a viola tion of the human rights established in the Conven tion.

4 . The specific g rounds for d isqual ificalion presented by the Government of Peru refer lo
situa tions that must be eva lua ted in thc cou rse o f the tria l, a nd the part ies must show that a witness'
testimony is not true.

5. "The Court' s p rocedure has its o wn peculiariti es which are d uc to its na tu re as an
international tribunal. Therefore all the cle rnen ts o f dornestic proced u res are not au to ma tically
applicable. Ccnerally val id in international proceedings, this principIe is even more coge nt in those
concerning the protection o f human rights. The internat ional protection of human rights should not be
confused with criminal justice ."(Velásquez Rodríguez Case, supra, paras. 132 to 134; Codinez Cruz
Case, supra, paras. 138 to 140.)

6. The practico of the Cour t in receiving evidence has becn very liberal (Velásquez Rodríguez
Case, supra, para . 138; Godínez Cru z Case, supra, para . 144) because its ju risdiction refers to the
fu ndamen ta l rights o f human beings and the finding of sta te responsibility fo r those violations would
be especially serious. (Velásquez Rodrigue: Case, supra, pa ra. 129; Godínez Cruz Case. supra. para.
135)

THEREFORE,

THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS
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Decides

unanimously

1. Wilhin the terms of Art ícl e 37 of the Rules, overru les the moti on to cha llengc or disqualify
the witnesses mentioned abo ye and reserves the right to evaluate the ir d eclarations.

2. Authorizes the Presidcnt. in consu!ta tion wilh the Permanent Comrmssion . to d ecide the
dates of the public hearings and thc namcs of the Cornrnission 's witnesscs who shall be su mmoned to
testify before the Court.

Done in Spanish and English, the Spanish text being nu thentic, a t the seat of the Cou r t in San jasé,
Costa Rica, this thirtieth day of [u ne, 1992.

(s) Héctor Fix-Zamudio
Presidenl

(s) Sonia Picado-Sotela

(s) Alejandro Montiel-Argüello

(s) Asdrúbal Aguiar-Arangurcn

(s) Man uel E. Ventu ra-Rob les
Secre ta ry

(s) Ra fael Nieto-Navia

(s) Hernán Salgado-Pesantes

(s) Jorge E. Orihuela-Ibcrico



APPENDIXV

INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

NEIRA ALEGRIA ET AL. CASE

REQUESTS FOR REVISION AND INTERPRETATION
OF THE ]UDGMENT OF DECEMBER 11,1991

ON THE PRELIMINARY OB]ECTfONS

ORDER OF ]ULY 3, 1992

In lhe case of Neira Alegría el al.,

the Inter-Arnerican Courl of Human Rights, composed of thc following judges:

H éctor Fix-Zamudio, Presidenl
Thomas Buergcnthal, Judge
Rafael Nieto-Na v ía, Judge
Julio A. Barberis, [udge
Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren, Judge
Jorge E. Orihuela-lbcrico, ad hoc Judge

Also present,

Manuel E. Ventura-Robles, Secretary, and
Ana María Reina , Deputy Secretary

pursuant lo Article 44 of the Rules of Procedure of the lnter-Arnerican Courl of Human Rights
(hereinafter "the Court") in force for cases submitted to it prior to [uly 31 ,1991 (hereinafter "the Rules of
Procedurc"), issues the following Order regarding the requests filed by the Government of Peru
(hereinafter "the Government" or "Peru") for the revision and interpretation of the judgmenl on
preliminary objcctions of Decernbcr 11, 1991.

1

1. Bya communication dated Decembcr 13, 1991, Peru filed a "Spccia l Motion for Revision" of the
judgmenl on preliminary objections delivered by the Court on Decernbcr 11, 1991, which dismissed the
preliminary objections interposcd by the Covcrnment.
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2. In justifying its request, the applicant Government relied on the opinion of a legal schoIar who
identifies the motion for revision as a possible option in very special circumstances.

3. According to the Government, the judgment rejecting the preliminary objection of "Lack of
[urisdiction of the Commission" attached excessive importance to its note of September 29, 1989 to the
Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (hereinafter "thc Commission" or "the lnter-American
Cornmission") and did not take into account other facts that were very closcly related to the
Commission's aetions. For that reason, "... we enumerate these in our motion for revisión of the
judgment, so that the Honorable Judges of the Inter-American Court may verify, evaluare and judge
them under the law and with conviction of the truth that flows frorn the record, taken as a whole."

4. The Government speeificaIly points out what it describes as "new facts that the majority
judgment should take up in undertaking the revisión." They are as follows:

(a) With regard to the note of [une 26, 1989 from the Government of Peru, to which the
majority judgment refers in its paragraph No. 16 (in fine). The petitioner exercised his right to
address it, through his communication of September 13, 1989, and the Cornrnissíon's Report No.
43/90 refers extensively to it in its "Background No. 13" (pagos 8 to 10 of the Report in question),
from whieh we highlight the following statement by the petitioner: "...that it has becn
authoritatively demonstrated that all dorncstic remedies relating to t hc writ of habeas corpus,
which is the basis for t his procedure, nave becn exhausted."

(b) With regard to the disputed note dated September 29, 1989 from the Government of Peru
to the Commission. The majority judgment does not mcntion --and eonsequently fails to address
the significanee of -- the following:

that the petitioner requested an extension in ordcr to submit his observations, a faet
reeorded in Report No. 43/90 under "Background No. 15" (page 10 of the Report in question);

that in submitting his rcply, dated February 15, 1990 (Sce Report 43/90 "Background No.
18: pages 11 to 13), the petitioner repeatedly refers to the appropriatemess of the writ of habeas
corpus which he initiated and exhausted on the domestie plano.

(e) In addition to the petitioners observations, the Commission itself requested of the
Government of Peru information regarding the exhaustion of domestic remedies in a note dated
February 8,1990 (See Report 43/90: Background No. 16, paragraph 1, page 10).

Likewise, it is on record that the Government did not heed the petitioners replies, nor did it
respond to the Cornrnission's request for information (See Report 43/90 Background No. 17: page
11).

(d) Lastly, the majority judgment has also not taken into aecount the preambular section of
Report 43/90, which is similar in substanee and closely reJated to the subject dealt with in that
judgment, particularly the statcrncnts eontained in paragraph No. 19.

The whereas clauses of Report 43/90 which are relevant but wcrc not takeri into account are the
following:

-Whereas No. 2: which declares the proceedings bcfore the Commission to have been exhausted;

-Whereas No. 4: whereby the Commission expresscs its certainty about the exhaustion of domestic
remedies by the petitioner through the writ of habeas corpus he submitted in order to eertify
complianee with that requirement;
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-Whereas No. 5: regarding the cerra in ty exp ressed in "Whereas Clause No. 4", based on the case
lawand Advisory O pinions o f the lnter-American Courl;

-Whereas No. 7: w hich ana lyzes the note of the Governmenl da ted Scptcmber 29,1989 and its
procedural ineffectivencss:

-Whereas No. 8: w hich appra ises the pctitioncr's comment regarding his repeated assu ra nces that
he has exhausted d omesti c remedies by means o f the writ o f habeas co !J21Di a nd the Cornrn ission 's
convictio n that the Government ha s produccd no proof as to whieh rum od ies have yet to be
exha usted .

5. The applicant adds that "[ olur pcti tion, con tained in a specia l motion for revision, is based on
the following":

4.1 .- That in consideri ng the objection of Lack of j uri sd ict ion of th e Com m issio n, the majori ty
jud gm ent dismissed it on the grou nds that rhe Government of Peru had incurred in "cstoppelT sicl
by virtue of the manifest eon tradiction between ils Note of September 29, 1989 to the Cornmission
and the arguments used in setli ng iorth rhe Preliminary Objection of "Lack of [urisdiction of the
Commission. "

4.2.- Neverthele ss, in rea ching that conclu sion th e majori ty judgmen t fa iled to consider the
following:

(a) The petitioner's act s (h is obscrvations):

(b) The Cornmission's aets (its r"<Juests for info rmation);

(e) Omissions by the Govern m cnt of Peru (procedu ral silenee in face o f th e pctitioner's
o bserva tio ns, from w hieh it ca n be eonclud ed that the Governmenl d id not follow o r allempt lo
defend the thesis contai ned in its note of September 29, 1989 as wcll as its iailure to presen l the
evidence it should have produced to resolve the rn auor of non-cxha u sríon o f domestic remedies :
a ll o i which confirms that no suit was filed in th is roga rd ), and

(d ) The m ajori ty judgment ha s a 1so not ta ken into aceo unt the d cte rrn ination which the
Comrnission made in reaching the dccisio n tha t the Govern ment o i Peru had not substantia ted the
objection it inte rposed regard ing the non-exhaustion of domest ic remed ies and in eoncludi ng as a
result that the requiremen t had bcen met by means of the wri t oi habeas co rp..m.

4.3.- Conseque ntly, the majo rity judgment does not take in to accou n t a nd thcreforc fails lo
e va luale the Iacts mentioncd in paragraph 3 o f this motion. Insl ed , il merely allache s undue
ím porta nce lo the note of Scptember 29, 1989 a nd ma kes no rn cntion of the procedure w hic h
governs the substa nr ia t ion of non-exha ust ion of d omest ic remedies, so often repeated in its case
law and advisory o pinions. In o rd cr to verify and evaluate th ose fa cts, therc is no quest ion that the
lntcr-Arnerican Court mu st pronounee itsel f by mean , of thc revisi ón of its judgment, as requested
herein.

6. The agent asserts: "since we are d ealing here with new faets that have not been considered or
evaluatcd in the majority judgment, J hereby rcquest that the doeuments evid eneing sueh fa cts,
mentioned in paragraph 3 of the instant motion, be dccmed to forrn part of the record ."
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11

7. Exercising the powers conferred on him under Articles 25(2) of the Statute and 44(2) of the
Rules of Procedure and after consultation with the Permanent Commission of the Court, the Presidcnt
of the Court, by order of [anuary 18, 1992, decided to transmit the motion to the Inter-American
Commission and gave the latter until March 18, 1992 to present its observations.

8. The Commission presented its observations on the motion for rcvision interposed by Peru on
March 17, 1992. In thcrn, the Commission rcqucsted that the Court dismiss the motion for the
following reasons:

a. The legal scholar mentioned by the Government in its motion is referring to final
judgments and not to interlocutory decisions such as those relating to preliminary objections.

b. That same legal scholar limits the admissibility of these rnotions to "particularly
unusual cases and assurnptions," something that has by no means been shown to be true of the instant
case.

c. There are no national or international precedents that would authorize the filing of
special motions for revision brought with regard to intcrlocutory decisions or prcliminary objcctions,

d. The fact that a provision for such a motion is nowhere to be íound in the Convention,
the Statute or the Rules oí Procedure of the Court is sufficicnt rcason for the dismissal by the Court oí
the challenge to its judgment on the preliminary objections.

e. The general principIes governing this type oí motion also do not favor its admissibility.
The motion for revision, by its very special nature, is eminently restrictive and always gocs "against the
stability of the proceedings" and the authority of a former adjudication. "For this reason, it can only be
admitted when a change has ocurred in the status of the facts (evidence) or whcn the judgment has
been obtained by fraudulent means."

f. The Government did not cite any of thc grounds that usually give rise to this motion
and the facts that it aífirms to be new are not, for they already appeared in the record.

g. It cannot be ignored that the Covernment, after filing the motion for revisron,
proceeded to file another motion for thc interpretation of that same judgment and that both motions are
in conflict with each other. sínce they are reciprocally exclusive and, consequently procedural
inadmissible. The first motion seeks to annul the judgrnent, while thc second seeks the interprctation
of that very judgment that is deemed to be invalido lt is the opinion of the Commission that only a
pronouncement capablo of interpretation is valid. "consequently, in keeping with clear procedural
principles, the presentation of the second motion implies the dismissal of the first. This is so in
particular becausc no rcscrvation was made of the right to intcrvene in thc event that the revisión
should be dismissed (principie of proccdural eventuality)."

9. On March 6, 1992, before the dead line granted by thc Prcsident to the Commission for
presentation of its observations on the motion for revisión, Peru submitted a reguest for interpretation
of that same judgment of Decernber 11, 1991 on the preliminary objcctions. This rcquest was based on
the provisions of Articles 67 of the American Convention on Human Rights (hereinafter "the
Convention" or "the American Convention") and 48 of the Rules of Proccdure.



-79-

10. In its memorandum, the Covernment requests thc following o f the Court:

2.1.- Paragraph 11 of the judg me nl whose interpretalion is hereby requested sta tus the
following: that lhe Presiden! of the lntcr-Arnerican Court se ru a note dated Dccembcr 3, 1991,
explaining lo the Commi ssion tha t its minutes could not be d eemed to be confidential; he added
that the failure to transmit the documents requested "could have procedural consequences."

The Honorable lntcr-American Court is hereby requested to ind ica te what procedural
consequences have arisen in the inst.mt case and with regard 10 the judgment whose in terprcta tion
is being sought, laking into account that :

la) It is a íact t ha t the judgme nt on preliminary ob jectio ns was rendcrcd on
Deccmber 11, 1991 , a nd

lb) the Commission, on thc othor hand, did not d eliver lo the Court the
documenls (Minutes) cited as evidence by the Governmenl of Peru unlil December 18,
1991.

2.2.- Paragraph 15 of the judgment whose interpretation is hercby requcstcd sta tes the
following:

The report on the [une 18,1 986 events drawn up by the au thorities of the National
Penitentiary Institutc, whosc powers ovcr that prison were suspe nded pursuant to the
aforernentioncd Supremo Dccrec, ccrt ifies t hat on that dale iho ro were 152 detainees in
the San Juan Baut ista pr iso n, a l! of thern alivc, The rhrce dcrai nccs id entiíied in the
pctition were a rno ng this number (all in capital lc ttcrs in rhe o rigina l) .

For this rea son a clarification is requcsted as to w hcrher that s ta tcrn c nt --thcrc is nothíng
lo indica le that il originated w ith an y o í t he parr ies -- should be undcrstood lo reflect thc
conviction oí the Honorable Judges w ho signed thal rnajority judgrnent. lí suc h wcre thc case, they
would alread y havo cxp rcssed a n opinion on thc merits of the case, wh ich is not the subject matter
of a preliminary objecuon: co nscqucnt ly, they would have advanced an opinio n that prejudges an
issue that has not yet been subjccted lOcvidcntia ry verification in thc proceedi ngs .

2.3.- The second clause o f paragraph 29 of thc rna jo rity jud gml'nt ro be interprct cd statcs that:

It could be argucd in th is case that the proceed ings bcfore the Special Mil itary
Tribuna l do nor amount to a rea l rcmedy or that rhat tribunal ca nnot be decm ed ro be
a court o f la", (all in cap ila l Ictt crs in the original ).

Bearing in mind that one o f the proofs alrcad y presented by the Govern ment of Pero at
the Cornmission's reguesl is preci sel y an action tried bcfore the Const itu tiona l Tribunal of Military
Justice of t hc Rcpublic o f Peru and that it is intirnatcly rclarcd to lhe merilS of the case under
lilígalion. A clarífical ion is sough t as lo whether thal sla temenl rellecls a n alread y formed opinion
by lhe Honorable Judges who signcd the majority judgmenl as regard s th e merits of lhe case. That
is not an issue lhat ca n be properl y taken up in a judgm ent co ncer ning matters presented as
preliminary objection, and which were resolved taking inlDcnnsidera lion lhe preliminary nature
of this issue which bears on lhe mcrils of thc case.

2.4.- Paragraphs 31 lo 35 of lhe judgment to be interprelcd conta in a syllog ism lhal enables the
Court lo dismiss the Preliminary Objeclion ¡abdled "expirati on of the li me-limit for filing of the
application."

The Honorable Court is being asked to interpr"t:
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(a) Whether the Inter-American Commission on Human Right s has thc power or
authority to amend the time-limits that thc States Parties agreed to fix on the cxcrcise
of its jurisdiction, specifically the period sct forth in Artiele 51(1 ) of the American
Convention on Human Rights.

(b) Whether the lntcr-American Court of Human Right s ha s the power to extend
th e period s set by the Sta tes Parties in Arti ele 51(1) of the American Convention on
Human Rights.

2.5.- The majority judgment whoso interp reta tion is hero being requested sa w fit to inelude a
state rnent with regard lo the absence o f the signature of the Honorable Jud ge Dr. Sonia Picado­
Sotela.

The Honorable Court is rcqucsted to interpret whether the presence o f a Judge al a public
hearing complies with the quorum requirements established for the Inter-American Cou rt in
rendering its decisions, taking into account the fact that the SUbjL'Cl rnatter of the public hearing in
question did not dea l with th e issue that formed the basis of the delibcrations by the judges al that
stage of the procecdings. This request for interpretation arises after consid era tion of the provisions
co nta ined in: Article 56 of the America n Convent ion; Artieles 16 and 23(1) of thc Statu te o f the
Inter-American Court; Articlcs 45(1 )(m) and 46(4) of the Rules of Procedure of the Court of 1980.

11. On March 9, 1992, the rcquest for interpretati on wa s transrnitted to the Commission and a
period of 30 days granted for the prescntation o f written comments as se th fo r th in Art icle 48(2 ) of the
Rules of Procedure.

12. On April 3, 1992, the Commission submitted its observa tions on the request for interp reta tion
presented by the Covernment, characterizing it as unfounded for the following reasons:

a. According to Article 67 of the Convention, the requcst for interpretation rcfers
specifically to final judgments and not to decision that do not address the merits of the case.

b. That only "the points in the o pera tivo provision of the judgmcn t (Ch. IV Art. 48 of the
Rules of Procedure of the Court)" a re subject to interpretation. This has bccn the cus torna ry practico in
this regard.

c. The Commission repeats the argllment that a rnotion for revisi ón o f that sa me judgment
on the prcliminary objections had previously been filed by the Government and, in the Cornrnission's
opini ón, these procedural remedies contradict each other.

III

13. A public hearing on the requests for revi si ón and interpreta tion was hcld a l the sca t of thc cou rt
on July 1, 1992. Shortly before the hearing began, the Agent o f thc Government submitted a written
communication expressly withdrawing thc request for revisi ón that he had filed and that was to be
taken up at that hearing. As a result, and after consultation with the Cornrnission. thc hearing only
addrcssed the rcquest for interpretation. When the hearing oponed. the President d eclared that,
notwithstanding the Cove rn rncn t's com munica tion, the judges reserved the right to refer to that
document and to its effec ts in its order.
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The following persons appeared befare the Court:

a) For the Govemment of Peru:

Sergio Tapia-Tapia, Agent
Julio Vega, Arnbassador to Costa Rica
Eduardo Barandiarán, Minister Counsclor
Alfredo Avalos,

b) For the lntcr-American Commission on Human Rights:

Osear Luján-Fappiano, Delegare
Jorge Seall-Sasiain, Delegare
José Miguel Vivanco, Advisor.

IV

14. On this occasion. judge Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren sat on thc Court in substitution of judge
Orlando Tovar, who had participated in the proceedings up to the date of his dcath, November 21,
1991. Pursuant to Article 54(2) of the Convention, [udge Aguiar-Aranguren was elccted to rcplace
Judge Orlando Tovar by the States Parties to the Convention on May 22, 1992, during the General
Assembly of the OAS hcld in Nassau, Baharnas. Since his clcction, he has takcn part in all matters
relating to this case.

V

15. After consulting with thc Commission, the Court granted the Government's motion to
withdraw its request for rcvision of the judgment with the express understanding that thc Court may
nevertheless address sorne issues related to that motion. The Court rcscrved that right in consideration
of the fact that the presentation of a requcst for revision and its withdrawal a fcw minutes before the
public hearing -- after a considerable amount of time and valuable resourccs had bcen devotcd to this
proceeding by both the Commission and the Court -- should be takcn into account in determining the
Court costs to be borne by the parties to this case.

VI

16. In his request for interpretation, and again during the hearing, the Agent pointed to five aspects
01 the judgment which needed to be clarificd.

17. The Agent asked for the interpretation "of the procedural consequences that have resulted in
the instant case" in conncction with sorne docurnents that the Court demanded of the Commission
during the proceedings. The paragraph whose interpretation is rcquested quotes a letter from the
President, dated Dcccmber 3, 1991, asking the Commission for sorne documcnts and adding that
"failure to transmit the documents requcstcd 'could have procedural conscquenccs." On this issue, the
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Cou rt notes that, in íact , the docurnents in question were received al thc Secre taria t on December 18,
1991 , thus averting the situa tion the Agen l presumes oecu rred. Morcover. the represe ntativo of the
Cornrnission read the pertinent scctions of the d ocurncnts in qucstion a t the public hearing, whieh fael
is reeorded in paragraph 13 of the con tested judgmenl.

18. The Agenl mentioned the rc íercnce made in paragraph 15 lo a report drawn up on [une 18,
1986 by the authorities of the National Penitentiary Institute of Peru which, he assertcd, d oes not
appear in the file nor "is therc any reference indicating that il originaled with any of thc parties ." On
this issue, the Court notes that the refercncc lo the report in question (which the agent q uo tcd o ut of
contex t, since it is parl of the descript lon of the facts presen ted by the petitioncr) appears on pages 249
and 272 of the file and that, fo r the purposes of the judgmenl whose intcrpreta tion has becn requested,
it is of no conseq uence whether or not the report itsclf appears therein. In any event, the Cour t did not
ad d ress that issue in the judgmenl w hose in terpretation has been requestcd.

19. The Agenl requcstcd an intcrp rcta tion of a phrase in paragra ph 29 of the [udgmcnt w hich, in
hi s opini ón, conta ins an assertion regard ing an issue that goes lo the merits of the case. On thi s issue,
the Cou rl finds that the phrase in quest ion uses the cx pression "lilt could be argued .. . that .. .," which
in Spanish does nol consti tu te an asscrtion . The Courl ad ds that, di rectly after tha l ph rase, thc
judgmenl goes on to sta te that "Ihlere nei ther of thcsc asse rtions would be relevant."

20. The Agenl also requestcd thc Courl lo interprct Article 51 (1 ) of thc Conven tion. The righl lo
requcst advisory opi n ions o f the Cou r t is rescrved lo the Sta tes and to thc orga ns o f the sys tcrn, as
provided in Article 64 of the Convcntion and a lter compliance with Articlos 51 lo 54 of the Ru les of
Procedure of the Cour t currently in force.

21. In hi s final plea, the Agenl requested yet another inte rpre tation of the Convcnt ion, narnely, the
provision goveming quorum requirerncnts. Hcre the Court notes in passi ng that quorum requ ircmcnts
were met both at thc hearing a nd al the lime whcn thc judgmenl was rendcred .

VII

22. Having clarified the foregoing, the Cour t now refcrs lo Articlc 67 of the Con vcnt ion, which
provídes the following :

The judgmenl of the Cour t shall be fina l a nd not subject to appeal . In case o f disagrL'Cment as to
the mea ning or scope of lhe judgml)nt, the Court shall interpret it a t the request nf an y (Jf the
part ies, p rovided the request is made wi thi n ninety days ft;om the date of notific<ltio n of th e
judgmenl.

The relevanl part of Article 48(1 ) of lhe Rules of Procedurcs ap plicable to lhe case s tales, in turn

[rlequests for an interpretation . .. shall ind ica te precisely the po in ts in the operati ve p rovisio n of
lhe judgmenl on w hich inlerprclation is requested.

23. Thc purpose o f interpreling a judgmenl is lO make more specific or cl ari fy a judicial d ecision. lt
is nol a remedy againsl whal has been d ecided in lhe judgmenl, bul a means o f ex p lain ing issu es
alrcady resol ved .
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24. At the hearing the Agent of the Covernment quoted what the Court has stated on two previous
occasions, as folJows:

The interpretation of a judgment involves not only precisely defining the text of the opera tivo parls
of the judgmenl, but also specifying its scope, meaning and purpose, bascd on the co nsidcra tio ns
of the judgmenls. This has becn the rule enuncia ted in the case law of inlcrnational courts.

(Velásquez Rodríguez Case, lnterpreiation 01 thc Compensatory Damages [udgment , [udgment 01 August 17,
1990 (Art. 67 American Convention on Human Rights ). Series C No. 9, para. 26; Godincz Cruz Case,
lnterpretation 01 the Compensatory Damages [udgmeni , [udgm eni 01 August 17, 1990 (Art. 67 American
Convention on Human Righ ts) . Series C No. 10, para. 26).

25. In the opinion of the Court and of other international tribunals, the opera t íve parts of a
judgment cannot be interpretcd in isolation from the considerations on which the judgment is bascd.
This does not mean, however, that isolated facts or dcscr ípti vc passages or the reasoning behing a
decision should be interpreted or clarified without relating it to the opera tivo part of the judgment,
which is the part ultimately of intercst to thc part íes. That would contrad ict the very essencc of the
interpretation mechanism.

26. In its cornrnunication, the applicant does not seek clarification of the operative parts of the
judgment of December 11, 1991, nor o f any of the prearnbular paragraphs directly related to thern.
Conscquently, the instant requcst must be deemed to be mani festly inadrnissible and must be rejcctcd.

THEREFORE

THECOURT

By five votes to one,

1. Takes note of the Covcrnrncn ts withdrawl of its rcqu cst for revi si ón of the judg men t a nd
reserves untillater its decision as to court costs. if any.

Judge Jorge E. Orihuela-lberico casts the disscnting vote.

By five votes to one,

2. Rejects as inadmissible the request for interpretation of its judgment o f Dccernber 11 , 1991 , on
the preliminary objections.

Judge Jorge E. Orihucla-Ibcrico casts the dissenting vote.

Judge Thornas Buergenthal issucd the Dcclara tion that is aprended lo the instant order.
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Done in Spanish and English, the Spanish text being authentic, al the sea t of the Court in San José,
Costa Rica, this third day of Iuly, 1992.

(5) Héctor Fix-Zamudio
Presidenl

(s) Thomas Buergenthal

(s) Julio A. Barberis

(5 ) Jorge E. Orihucla-lberico

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Secretary

(s) Rafael Nicto-Navia

( s ) Asd r úbal Agu ia r-Aranguren
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DECLARATION BY JUDGE THQMAS BUERGENTHAL

Although 1agree fully with the decision of thc Court, I feel corn pclled to rnake thi s dcclaration
because 1consider the requcsts by Peru for revisi ón and interprctation of the judgment o f Dcccmber 11 ,
1991 an abuse of the judicial process.

A governmcnt that adheres lo a human rights lrealy and acccpts thc [urisd iction of a court
establíshed lo ensure i1s intcrpretation and application, as Peru did in ratifying Ihe Convention and
accepting the jurisdiction of this Court, has thc right to resort to every lcgitimate judicial rcmedy and
procedure to defend itself agaínst charges that it has vio la tcd the trcaty. What it may not d o is
interpose manifestly ill-foundcd a nd tri vial motions whose so lc purposc ca n onl y be to d isrupt and
delay the orderly and timely cornplction o f the proccedings. Such tactics violare the object a nd purpose
of the human rights machinery cstablished by the Convention. They can also not be reconcilcd wilh thc
intention of the States Parties to the Convcntion. reaffirmed in paragraph onc o f its Prearnbl c, "to
consolidale in this hemisphcre. wilhin the framework of d emocral ic ins titu tions, a systcrn of personal
liberty and social justice based on respcct fo r the esscntia l rights of man ."

(s) Thornas Buergcnthal

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Secretary
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OP(NION AND VOTE of ad hoc Judge Jorge E. Oríhuela-Iberico

on the Motion for Revision and Request for interpretation filed by
the IIlustrious Government of Peru with regard to the Judgment of

December 11, 1991, which dism issed the Preliminary Objection by majority vote

Both thc motion for revi si ón and the request for interpretation fi led by the Governmen t
(hereina fter "the Govcrnmen t") against the Judgment of Decernber 11 , 1991 on the Prelim inary
Objections are directly and exc1usively ad d ressed to the ma jority opinion of the mernbers of that Court
and not to my dissenting vote, which a lso formcd part of that judgment.

Despite the fo regoí ng and in con nec tion with the rcqucst for intcrpre ta tion, two issucs deserve
my express opinion, s ince they are rclatcd to thc abovcrncn tíoncd di ssen t.

Consequently:

1. With regard to the motion for revisión, which the Government wi thd re w before the sta rt of the
public hearing con vened lo hear the arguments of the Govern ment and the observa tio ns of the Inter­
American Commission on Human Ríghts (hcrcinafter "the Cornm issio n"). 1 beli eve I respect the right
of the partics to formulate questions bcfore the com peten t organ, as well as to refra in from so doing.

Howcvcr, l a lso wi sh to cxprcss my conviction with regard to the majority opinion in the
aforementioned decisi ón. insofa r as it advances an opinion that is dangerous to the bala nce of justice
that the Cour t should irnpa rt when i t indica tes that the Court reserves the right to d ecide on the costs
d erived frorn thcse acts of prcscntation and withdra wal. something that can only be properly done a
posteriori and then only in the event that the Government shou ld be found responsiblc for the viola tions
of the American Conven tion on Human Rights (hereina fter "thc Con ven tion") that thc Comm ission
charges it w ith in its com p lain t. Any a n ticipa tion of cou rt costs in a ju dicial deci si ón . cvcn if only
exp ressed as a possibi lity, carries with it the inten tion to restrain or curtail the legit imate, free exercise
of the r íght of d efense by the part ies and, in this case, by the Government. Such a ríght must be
guaranteed at both the substa ntive and proccd ural levcls, sincc the whole purpose of these procecdings
is to veri fy whether or not the Sta te Pa rty complied with the con tractual obliga tions it entered into as a
m ember of the Ínter-Ameri can System of Human Righ ts a nd not to app roach the case with a
preconceived notion, which is already appa rcnt, that suggesl an íntention by the majority lo transfo rm
this case into a n international crimi na l case.

2. As for the request for interpretation . I am convi nced that it p rovid es an opportu nity for those
judges who signed the Judgmen t in question with the majority to throw light on certain aspects of that
d ecision that are not directly linked lo the dismissal of the Preliminary Objec tí ons interposed by the
Government. 1 regret, thercfore, that the only persons ablc to interpret it s meaning and effec ts should
have preferred to rcjec t that oportu nity.

Nevertheless, I feel 1 must com men t on two aspecls of the Interpretation requesled by the
Government.
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2.1 The Covernmcnt has requcsted tho Courl lo interpret whethcr the In ter-American Commission
on Human Rights and the Intcr-American Court of Human Rights have the authority to a rnend and
extend the time-limits se t by the Sta tes Parties in Article 51 (1) of the American Convention on Human
Rights.

Thi s rnatter was add ressed in my vo te with regard to the Ju dgment whosc in terpreta tion ha s
becn requested . 1 take thi s o p portu nity to ratify it in its cn tirc ty, bccausc 1 bclicve thas the Sta tes
Parties agreed to fi x limits o n the juri sdicl ion of th e o rgans crea tcd by that very inlernat ional
instrument. Consequentl y, 1 reaffirm my voto to the cffoc t that neilher the Comm ission nor the Co urt
can confer upon thomselvcs authority beyond the tcrrns fixed in the Treaty. They would di stort their
object and purpose if they wcrc to a ttem p t to breach the terrns of the Co nven tion in order to pursue an
action lacking any legal basis.

2.2 As regards thc presencc o f judges in public hearing follo wcd by th e ir absence from the
d elibcration and rendering of decision s.

It is my o pinion that any judge who is abscn t at thc lime o i rcndering a judgment does not havo
the power to interpret that jud gmen t.

The requcst of the Governmcnt rel ates to thc situati on of Jud ge Sonia Picad o-So tela . But she
d oes not take part in these procccd ings. since she is abscn t trorn thc sca t o f the Cour t; th cre would be
no poínt in making a s ta te rncn t in thal regard sincc the occu rrcncc wa s ncver vcrificd .

Ncvertheless, 1 d o wish lo exprcss my opinion in connect io n with the pa rticipa tio n of Jud ge
Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren, which givcs rise lo a pralice that contradicls thc prcccdent established by
the Court itsclf, as reflected in its case law Oudgmenl of Au gusl 17, 1990 o n th c Interprelation of the
Cornpensatory Damages Judgment, "Velásq uez Rodríguez" Case).

NOW, THEREFORE, 1 AM OF THE OPINIO N

1. That the Cour t must decide thc Motion for Revisten a nd Requcst for Interpretati on as ind ica ted
in the abo ve preambular paragraphs a nd , ad ditionally . in various Ord crs. in view of th e fact that
ncíther the Government nor the Cornmission rcqucstcd the accumulati on thereof, nor did thc Court on
its ow n initiative so ru le .

11. That thc Cour t has incurred in un nccessary pronouncc mcnts as regard s cos ts for the reasons
shown aboye with regard to thc Mo tion fo r Revisi ón. whi ch should simply ha ve been d isrn isscd or its
w ithd rawal acccp ted.

I11. That the Court sho uld have exercíscd its interpretati vo autho rity in respon se to the legitimate
questions posod by the I1ustriou s Governmen t of Poru, in o rder to thus resol ve any doubts as to the
scope of the Judgment of th e Court which d ismissed the Pre lim inary Objections on issues related lo the
merits of the case.

IV. The DecIaration by Judge Buergen thaI deserves a separa te commenta ry. It has no legal bearing
whatsoever o n the motions add ressed in the preced ings Judgment ad opted by ma jori ty vo te, since il
refers to a highly personal app recia tio n of lhe proced ura l ac tions o f one of the part ies to the process, in
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this case the l1luslrious Governmenl of Peru, in connection wilh the presenlalion of its molions for
revision and interpretation. Judge Buergenthal, before removing himself from this case, offers
subjective judgments that constitu te an assessmenl which ha s no place in a serious, technical legal
p ronouncemcnt and g ive the impression, rather, of bei ng the pleadings of one of the parties to a case.

1d o not quote them in detail because a simple reading of them convinces me that they sho uld
be rejected ou trigh t as unacceplable and an altack againsl the absolu to freedom of the partics lo present
all manner of pleas and motions in support of thcir posi tions.

That righl has nol bcen dcnied lo the Int er-Arnerican Commission on Human Rights,
something that would nol be acccptable lo the und ersigned .

San José, July third, nineteen hundred ninery-two.

(s) Jorge Eduardo Orihuela-lbcrico

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Secrelary
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GANGARAM PANDAY CASE

INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

ORDER OF JULy 7, 1992

HAVING SEEN:

1. At the General Assembly of the OAS held in Santiago de Chile in [une, 1991, the Sta tes
Parties elected Alejandro Montiel-Argüello, Máximo Pacheco-Córncz and Hernán Salgado-Pesantes
as judges to replace judges Thomas Buergenthal, PoJicarpo Callejas and julio A. Barberis, whose
terms were due to expire on December 31, 1991.

2. At the General Asembly of the OAS hcld in Nassau, Bahamas, in May, 1992, the States
Parties elected judge Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren to replace judge Orlando Tovar-Tamayo. who had
died on November 21,1991.

WHEREAS:

The Inter-American Court of Human Rights, as cornposcd at the time when it was first seized of the
case of Gangaram Panday, has jurisdiction to decide on thc application of Article 54(3) of the
Convention.

THEREFORE:

THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS
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DECIDES:

Unanimously

That this case con tinue to be heard by the Cou rt as co rnposed after [anuary 1, 1992.

(s) H éc tor Fix-Za mudio
Presidcnt

(s) Sonia Picado-Sotcla

(s) Rafael Nieto-Navia

(s) Asdrúbal Aguiar-Aranguren

(s) Manuel E. Ventu ra-Rob les
Secreta ry

(s) Thomas Buergenthal

(5) Ju lio A. Barberis

(s) Antonio A. Caneado Trindade
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ORDEROFTHE
INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

JULY7,1992

ALOEBOETOE ET A L. CASE

HAVING SEEN:

1. The motion p rescnted by the Governmenl of Surina me in its submissions of May 25, 1992, and
al the publ íc hearing a l the scat of the Court on ju ly 7, 1992, to disqua lify tho w ítnesscs and expcrl
witnesses Richard Price, Federico Allodi, Stanley Rensch and Sall y Price, based upon thc argumenls
that "the Com mission is precluded by procedural norms fro m present ing testimonial cvid ence
regarding the claim fo r compensa tion becausc it did not p rcscnt in its ñ rs t MEMORIAL a ny
TESTIMONIAL EVIDENCE wha tsoevcr in support of its claim fo r corn pcnsation, as it is obliga ted to
d o accord ing to the practico of interna tional tr ibunals." and tha t Richard Pricc and Stanley Rensch
are nol qualified to evalua le the a moun t of the moral darnages.

2. The subm issions of the Commission at the public hearing hcld on the sarne date in that
Messieurs Price a nd Rensch a re quali fied to en lig h ten the Cour t regarding the compensation that
should be paid in this case.

WHEREAS:

1. Neither the Conven tio n, thc Sta tute, nor the Ru les of the Court specify thc g rou nd s for the
challenge o r d isqualification of wi tnesses and, accordi ng lo art icle 34.1 o f the Rules applicable lo the
case, the Co urt may d ecide whethcr hearing a witncss "secm ls] Iikely to assist it in the carrying ou t
of its functi ons" [Cfr. Velásquez Rodríguez Case, [udgment of lflty 29, 1988. Series C. No. 4, para . 143;
Godínez Cru z Case, ludgment of [anuaru 20, 1989. Series C. No. 5, para. 149 J.

2. The fac ls beforc the Court, rath cr than the rnean s used to establish thern, assi s t it in
d etermining the damages in this case.

3. "The Cou r t's procedurc has its o wn peculi arities which are due to its nature as an
international tribunal. Thcrefore, aJl the elernen ts o f d omestic procedurcs are not au to rna tically
ap plicable. Gene raJIy va lid in intcrnational p rocccdings, thi s p rincipie is evcn more cogenl in thosc
concem ing the protection of human rights, The in terna tiona l protection of human rights should not be
confused with crimi nal [us ti ce." (Velásquez Rodríguez Case, supra, paras . 132 to 134; Godínez Cruz
Case, supra, paras. 138 to 140.)
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4 . The practico of the Cou r t in hearing cvidcncc has bccn very liberal (Vclásquez Rodríg uez
Case, s u p ra , para . 138; Codín ez Cruz Case, supra, pa ra . 144 ) bcca use i ts jurisdic tion rcfers lo the
fundamental rights of h uman boíng s and the finding of s ta te responsibility for those viola tions wou ld
be cspccially serious. (Vclásqllez Rodrigue: Case. supra, para . 129; Codinc: Cruz Casco s ll pra, pa ra.
135)

THEREFORE,

THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

DECIDES:

unanimously

1. Wilhin thc terrns o f a r tic le 37 o f thc Rules. ovcrru los thc m o tion to cha llenge o r disqualify
the aboye witnesses and reser ves the right lo evaluare thcir le stimony.

2. Within the terrns o f a r ticle 35 o f the Rules of the Cou r t, according to which wi tnessos sho uld
be prescntcd by the party who o ffe rs their testirnony, summons the following witncsscs a nd exper ts
propo sed by the Intcr-Amcrican Cornmíssion of Human RighlS and the Governm en l of Suriname:

Richard Pri ce
Stanlev Rcnsch-Ramón de Frci tas

(5) Héc tor Fix-Zamud io
Presidcn t

(s) Son ia Picado-Sote la

(s) Rafael N ic to-Navia

(s ) Asdr úbal Aguiar-Aranguren

( 5) Ma nuel E. Ventura-Rob les
Sccrc ta rv-

(s) Thomas Buergcn thal

(5) Ju lio A. Barberis

(5) Ant ónio A. Caneado Trindade
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Novcmber 16, 1992

Mr. President:

As Presidents of the lntcr-Arnerican Cou rt and Co rnrnissiou on Human Rights, we have thc
honor of addressing Your Excellency in response to your cornmunica tions of Sep tcmbcr, 1992, by which
you inforrn us that the Perrnancnt Council of the Organi zation of American States (O AS), at its
Meeting of March 4, 1992, dccided to cxtcnd until Novcrnbcr 15 the time lirn it originally fixed for the
Cornrnission and the Court to su bmit their obscrva tions concern ing the practica] difficu!ties they may
havc encountercd under thcir sta tu tes and regulations in a pp lying thc provisions of thc American
Convention on Human Rights.

In response to the rcquest of thc Pcrmancnt Council and thc requcst made previou sly by the
Cornmittee on Political and Legal Affairs of the Organization of American Sta tes, both orgilns subrnit
the following observations:

First, it should be noted that on [anuary 29, 1992, the Comm ittcc un Political and Legal
Affairs asked both organ s íor the aboye information . The Cour l responded lo tha t rcquest by
communication of [une 22 which contained thc opinions of the Court and the Comrnission, which had
rnet on May 22, 1992, in Nassau , Bahamas, lo consider lhat rnatter.

The Com m ission and the Cou r t havo ca refully stud icd that requcst and , bccause o f the short
time period granled thcrn for a rcply, havo rcached the following prclirn ina ry co nclusions:

I

Although rnost modern consti tu tions and ín te rna tiona l instrumcnts have establishcd specific
procedures for thcir formal arnendrnent, practico shows that tho se proccdurcs are utilized only in
exceptional circumstances, and thc adaptation and updating of those instruments has becn achieved
primarily by rneans o f intcrpretation by' thc organs charged with thcir application.

His Excellency
Luis Guardia Mora
Presidcnt of the Permanent Council
Organization of American Sta tes
Washington, O.e.
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In fact, the international politi cal o rg ans who apply the instrurncnts that govern thern,
introduce a d ju stm cn ts and modifications by interpreting their provisions. A quick examination of the
practice o f the princi pal org an s o f thc Un ited Nati on s, inc1uding the General A sscrnbly a nd thc
Security Co u nci l, lead s to the conc1 usion that they have madc imporlanl a rnpl ifica t io ns,
ad ap ta tions and modifications of the C h ár te r of 111l' Un itcd Na tíons w hich they a re o bliga ted lo
carry out. and thcrcfore . lo in tcrprct .

Thal intcrprctation has bccn ca r ried o u t, in gene ra l, in accorda nce w ith the s p ir it o f thc
respective tcxts and wi thout con travcni ng thcm. An exa m plc is the important work o f the Intor­
American Courl of Human Rights, based upon Article 64 of the Con vcn tion. which granls it a broad
and flexibl e advisory funclion tha t has facililated the applicatiori and the interprctation of thc
provisions of the Conven lion.

In exe rcising its jurisd ictional a t tr ibu tcs, the Intcr-Ameri can Cou rt ha s a lso cstab lished
principles which allow it lo cla ri fy ambiguous p rovisions or to ha nd le cases whi ch the Conven tion
has nol con tem pla ted . In that scnse. one ca n menlion its d eci sions reg arding the guideli nes on thc
weighing o f c vidcnce in the con tcntio us cases i t has dccidcd and for which ncither the Co nve n tio n nor
its Rul es ha ve m adc a ny pro vis ion .

Th e Sta te s Part ics to thc Am eri can Co nven ti o n ha ve a lso pa rt ic ipa ted in thcsc
interpretati vo acti vitie s inso far as they havo cxprcsscd their po in ts of v icw o n the applica tio n o f
the Conven lion in regard to the rc po rt s prcparcd by thc In ter-American Com m ission and th c
handling of adviso ry opinions requcstcd o f th c lntcr-Amcrican Cou rl.

Ir

Pursuant to Article 76 o f the Ameri can Convention on Human Rights, the Sta tcs Parties as
well a s the Co m m ission and thc lntor-Ameri can Cou r t, are au thorized lo s ubm it their proposals for
the arncndrncnt o f thc Co nven tio n to thc Gene ra l Asscmbly of thc OAS, through thc Secre la ry
Genera l. Thís proccd ure has no t bccn used in p ractico. howe ver. and i t rnu st be co nsid cred an
exlraord ina ry proccdurc bcca u sc. a s s ta tcd . the appro p ria tc, perrnancn t m eans of u pd ating a nd
developing the Con vention a re not formal urncnd rnen ts, but ra thcr the applica tion a nd iruerprctation
of the norms o f lhe Con vcn tio n by thc organs o f thc OA S.

In that rcgard, one might invoke thc view of the International Court of [ustice in its Advi sory
O p in ion o n the Legal Conseq uences for Sta tes of the Con tin u ed P rescnce o f So u th Africa in Narnibia ,
paragragh 53 (1 971), in the scnse tha t- the pro visi ons of humiln righls lrea ti e s and , specifica lly,
Arlicle 22 o f lhe Un iled Na lions Co vena n t o n C ivi l and Po lilical Righls a re nol sta lic, bul rather by
dcfiniti on shou ld by conside red evolutio na ry il nd d yn amic, and the Sta tcs Parl ies ha ve accepted
lhem as such. In that sa m e pa rag raph. lhe Int ernali ona l Co u r t a d d cd that : "An in te rna tiona!
instrument has to be in terp retl'd and applied wi thi n the frallle\\'o rk of the en tire lega l s ys lem
pre vailing a l lhe lime o f lhe int erpret¡lti(, n ."

These consid erations a re fuJly aplicable to the provl sl ons of the American C on ven tio n,
b ecause lhe Inler-An1l'rican Co u rt o f Human Right s ha s the fun cti on o f estabJi shing in ils
jurisprudence lhe evolv ing con te n l o f the norms o f lhe internalional human rights treal ies applicable
o n the American Con tinen l.

T herefore, in the opin ion of the ln ler-America n Com m issi on a nd Court, any propasal for th e
formal a mend men t of the Convenlion must be ca re fu lly considered .
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III

On the other hand, both organs believe a more flexible procedure than tha t establishcd in
Article 76 is that provided in Article 77 for thc proposal of additional protocols for the purpose of
progressively including other rights and freedoms not provided for in the American Convention on
Human Rights, as in the "Protocol of San Salvador" in the arca of econornic, social and cultural rights
and in the Protocol to thc American Convention on Human Rights concerning thc Abohtion of the
Death Penalty.

This is the method that has bccn followed insofar as thc Additional Protocol to the United
Nations Covenant on Civil and Political Rights, as well as in the case of various additional protocols
to the European Convention for thc Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Frecdorns and the
protocols of amendment to thc Charter of the Organization of American Sta tes, that is, the Protocol
of Buenos Aires of 1967 and that of Cartagena in 1985.

IV

In the case of the articles of the American Convention, 76 (formal arncndmcnts) and 77
(additional protocols, the Inter-American Commission and Court of Human Rights believe the
respective proposals cannot be prcscntcd within such a strict time limit as that fixcd by the
Perrnanent Council of the OAS. Thus, in response to its roquest. the time limit of which clapscs on
November 15, they report that the Commission has alrcady discussed the matter at its most rcccnt
period of scssions, and the Court will include the matter on the agenda of its XXVII Regular Period of
Sessions which will begin on [anuary 25, 1993.

Therefore, the Court and thc Cornrnission propose thc creation of a working group cornposcd of
membcrs of both institutions who, with the assistance of other experts, will analyze the concrete
proposals of Mcrnbcr States for thc amendment of the Convention, continue to consider the possibility
and convcnicncc of amending that instrument, and study how to perfect the application of the
Convention within its framework. For that purpose, cach of the institutions shall name its
respective mornbers of the working group and will, togethcr, determine the appropriate dates for
meeting, taking into account budgetary considerations and the dates of their normal pcriods of
scssions.

We take advantage of this opportunity to reitcratc lo Your Exccllency thc assurances of our
highest and most distinguished consideration.

(s) Héctor Fix-Zamudio
Prcsident

lntcr-American Court
of Human Rights

(5) Marco Tulio Bruni-Celli
Prosidcnt

In ter-American Commission
of Human Rights
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RESOLUTION OF THE PRESIDENT OF THE
INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF HUMAN RIGHTS

DECEMBER 14, 1992

PROVISIONAL MEASURES REQUESTED BY TH E
INTER-AMERICAN COMMISSION O N H UMAN RIGHTS

REGARDIN G PERU

CHIPOCO CASE

HAVING SEEN

1. The commu nicalio n of Novcmbcr 23, 1992, rcccived in its en tirc ty in the Sccrctaria t o f the Court
on the fo llow ing d ay, by w hich the ln tcr-Am crican Co m m issio n on H uman Rig h ls (hercínafter "the
Corn m ission" or "the lntcr- Arncrican Corn m ission") su brni ts to thc lntcr-Arncrican Cou r t o f H uman
Rights (he rcina ftc r "the Cou r t"), pursua n t lo A rticlcs 63.2 of the America n Con vc n tio n o n H uman
Righls (hercinaftcr "the Convcntion" or thc "America n Convention") and 24 o f thc Rules of Proced u re of
the Cou r t (hc re ina fte r "the Ru les"), a requcst for p rovisio na l measures in Case 11.083 w hich is before
the Com mission and in rcgard lo Mr. Carlos C hipo co.

2. The Co rnrnission's com m u n ica tion which asks the Co ur t lo require the Covernmcnt of Peru
(hereinafter "the Covcrnrncnt") lo take the io llo wing p rovisional mea sures:

1. That it esrablish as soon as possiblc the veracity Di thc allegations contained in Part I of this
requcst.

2. If those allegations are fo und to bc.truc, that it carry out an exhaustivo invesnganon. specify the
acts on w hich thc cha rgo o f justificat ion o f tcrroris m is bascd , and d isclo sc the cvidc ncc aga inst Mr .
Chipoco, prior to takíng any penal actions agai nst him.

3. That, at all stages of the jud icial procccd ings, it guarantee rvl r. Carlos Chipoco thc full cxercise of
his human rights and, in pa rticu la r, the right to d ue process a nd personal secu riry, shou ld he be
deprived of his personal libcrty. and taking in lo accou nt rhc danger to which he would be cxposed
wherever he migh t be hcld

4, That it guarantee the right to rccur to the American systern [or rhc protect ion of human rights.

3. The Cornrn ission's peti tion is bascd UpOIl the follo wing a llcga nons:

a . The Inter- America n Co m m iss ion rccc ivcd in iorma tion acco rding lo w hich the
C o vernrnent has filed crim ina l charges ag,l ins l Mr. Ca rlos Chipoco bc forc thc 43rd Specia l Prosecu tor
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of Lima for having ca rr ied ou t a lleged "ac tivities in supporl of subvcrsion in thc Uni ted Sta tes." Cause
N o. 136-92 of the 43rd Cri mina l Cour t o f Lima was o poned as a "crim inal proceeding agains l a group of
Peru vians who reside abroad o r who ha ve lra veled abroad, for allcgedl y com mi lli ng th e crime of
justification o f terrorism aga ins t the sta te ."

b, This cause w as fil cd on th e basis of a report o f the NationaJ Intc1ligence Scrv ice (Servicio
Nacional de Inteligen cia ) which m entions the narncs o f scvera l persons and institutions a lIeged ly
involved in "activiti es in su pport of subversion in thc United Sta tes." among thern Mr. Carlos Chipoco.
They are charged with "ma in la in ing con tacts w ith hu man rights o rga niza tions, with false info rma tion,
in which th ey d enigra te thc Armed Forccs and the Police and o the r Sta te institutions rc lated lo the
s truggle aga inst subversi ón..." This repon was adopted by thc Cenera ! Secrcta ria t, thc O ffice of Legal
Affairs of the Minis try of Foreign Rclations and by the Spccia l Prov incia l Prosccu to r of thc 43rd Special
Prosccutor's O ffice. The Cou rt ordcrcd the indi vidual iden tifica tio n of those accused. among thern Mr.
Chipoco, for the purpose o f a mendi ng the "i nd ic trncn t" in the crim ina l proceed ing a nd, upon
com pleting thc idcnt ification . to be able to o rd cr thci r a rrcst.

4. According to thc rcquest . Mr. Chipoeo is a hu man rights ac tiv is t. In the course of h is work, he
has coopera ted with thc lntcr-Arncrican Cornm issio n and has taken part in thc Neiru Alegria el al. and in
the Cayara case, which is currentl y bcfo rc the Court. Thc requ est adds thal Mr . C hip oco has
condemncd thc tcrror íst ac ts carried o u t by thc Shining Path and \1 RTA in Pcru and "has becn critical
of the ac ts of rebcls as wcl l as those 01' the Pcruvian Covernrncnt".

5. Accord ing to the Co rn m issio n, thc a llega lions a re scrio us in that once Mr. Ch ipoco is fully
identified hi s a rres t could be ordcred , and under the ne w anti- te rroris t legishHion, bei ng fo u nd g ui Ity
of the crirnc of w hic h he is accuscd cou ld lcad to his loss 01' Peruvian nal ionality and a prison scn tencc
of more than twenty yea rs. This is made more scrious by thc faet that thc trial is sccret and surnmary,
cond uctcd wi thin st ric t lime lim its by lhe soca llcd "íacclcss judges." and mal' be hcld in thc abscncc of
thc accused .

6. Mr. Chi poco is in thc United SI<1 1es of America w herc he is an intcrnat ional consu ltan t in human
rights and, should he rl'turn lo reru, would run the ri sk 0 1' bei ng held in the sa me p lace as the lcad ers
and aClivists of lhe terrori st groups whose ae ls he ha s publicly condemned, which would constilu te a
grave lhreal lo his right to life and inlegrity of lhe person whieh are recognized by the Con ven tion .
According to lhe Com mission, lhe Covernmen l wanls In puni sh, penali ze ami inlimidale lhose who
utili ze inlernalionill procedurcs a nd COllT ts fo r the proteclion of human rights.

7. In the o pinion of lhe Com mission, the urgent need of lhe measures is lo avoid th e ind ictmen t
being "re lumed wilhou! an exhauslive iflves liga tion and withou t having affo rded the accused and ils
represcnlatives an oppor luni ly lo p repare his dcfense. which ",ou ld vioJale Art icle 8 (Righl lo a Fair
Tria)) of lhe America n Con ve nlio n. In lhc o p in ion of the Co m mission, lhi s si tua tion would a lso
cons li lu ll' a vio lalio n o i Arlicles 5 (Rlgh t lo Huma ne Trea lmen l), 13 (Frecd o m nf Though l a nd
Expression), 1.1 (Obligal ion lo Rcspec l Rig h lS) of lhe Cnnvenlio n and Artides 44 ami lhe following
(Co m pelence) lhat a llow rccou rse lo lhe Com mi ssion and the Cou rt by vir lue nf lhe proced ure
eSlabli shed lhercin.

8. The Commision's com m u nica tion of November 30. 1992, which asks the Court lo eonvoke a
public hearing on the requesl fm p rovisi ona l measures and names the fo llowi ng persons to advisc lhe
d e)egales lhe Com m ission w il l d esigna te acco rd ing lo An icle 22 of the Ruil's: !'ro fessors Thomas
Buergenlhal a nd HlIrsl Hannum, Doctors Juan Méndez, José Miguel Vivaneo and José Ugaz and Mr.
Felipe Michel ini.
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9. By communicalion of Dcccmbcr 2,1 992, recei vcd by the Sccrcta r ía t o f the Cou rt on Decernbcr 9,
thc Perrnanent Missíon of the Pcru lo thc Organízalion of American Sta tcs informs the Commission
that "the Prosecutor has nol brou ght a penal action agai nsl Mr. Chipoco. but mcrcly has rcquested the
identifi cation o í a person known as Ca rlos Chípoco on th c Vo ting Rolls" and tha t thc Mini stry of
Foreígn Relations will scnd "a co py of the charge prepared by the Prosccu tor and of thc Order opcning
thc investigation, w hich do no t ment ion Mr. Carlos Chi poco cxccp t for thc p urpose of identificat ion."

WHEREAS

1. Peru has been a State Party lo thc American Con vention sincc [ul y 28, 1978, and accepted the
obligalory jurisdictíon o f thc Court. pursuant to Article 62 of the Convcntion on lanuary 1, 1981.

2. Article 63.2 of the Convention provides that in cases of ex treme grav ity and urgency, and when
necessary lo avoid irreparable d arnage lo persons. the Cour t m ay, at the rcquest of the Comrn íssion.
adopt such provisional mea sures as it d ccms pcrtincnt with rcspcct to a case not yet submittcd lo it.

3. Article 24.4 of the Rules prov íd es that

[f the Court is not sitti ng, th e Prcxid c nt shall convoke it immedia tuly . Pending t he meeting of the
Court, the Preside nt, in eons ul ta tio n wi th the Pcrrnancnt Com rnissio n and, if possib lc, wirh thc o ther
judges, shall ea ll upo n th c gove rn ment concomed to adopt the ncccssa ry u rge nt measurcs a nd to act
so as to perm it a ny p rovi sional mea su rcs su bseq uent ly o rdercd by th e Co urt to ha vo rhc requisito
e ffeel.

4. In mauers before the Cornmission which, thcrcforo. have not vct bccn su b rn ittcd lo the Cou rt, the-provisional mensures the Court md Yorder a t thc rcqucs t of thc Com m ission, pursuan t to Articles 63.2
o f the Con ven tio n and 24.4 o f its Ru les. as wcll as thc u rgen t mcasu res thc President may take in
consu lta tion with tho judgcs. shoul d be considcred cxccp tiona l in n.itu rc and not a normal cxerc isc of
the com petcncy oí the Court and its Prcsid cnt .

5. Thercforc . aftcr o pe ning a case and ascer tai ni ng the truth o f th c a llcga tio ns . though in
preliminary fashion, and ad di tiona lly. a ítcr adop ting the mcasurcs cstablishcd in Articlc 29 of its
Regulations. the Commiss ion must present lo the Court. and when it is not in scssion, lo ils Presidcnt.
clear evidence of lhe exislcnCl' o f a malter nf exlreme urgency as reguired by those d ocumenls, and 01
lhe need lo adopl lhe necessary measures lo avoíd grave o r irreparable harm to lhe persons lo be
prolecled .

6. Having careíully s tnd ied lhe Cornmiss ion's reguest and tl1l' aCCl)mpanying d ocuments, and not
the Government's report to th e Com mission tha l charges have not ye t been fi led against Mr. Carlos
Chipoco, Ihe President find s in Ihe inslanl ca se that the cond itions d o not now exisl whi eh wOllld
reguire lhe Government to adop t urgent m('asures of a p ro vi sion al nature, and that, in any case,
whelher lhe provisional mcasures reguest by the Commission are jll sti fi ed should be determined by the
Courl in plenary, after stlldying the sitllil tion .

7. Thereíore, the President sha ll sll bm it the Commission 's request to the Cour t at its next regular
period of scssions beginn ing on lanuary 25, 1993, so the Court may ad opt the pcrtinent deeision.
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THEREFORE

THE PRESIDENT OF THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT or HUMAN RIGHTS,

having conside red Article 63.2 of the American Convcnrion on Human Rights, in consultation with the
judges of the Court, and in cxercisc of the a u thority co nfcrred upon hím by Article 24.4 o f thc Rules,

DECIDES

1. Based upon the foregoing cousidcrations. it is not a pp ru p ria te al thi s time lo ask thc
C overnment of Peru to takc urgent provisional men sures.

2. To submit lo thc Court a t its ncxt regular period of sessions thc rcquest prescntcd by thc
Ínter-American Com m issio n 50 it may ad opt the appropriatc mensures pursuant to Art icle 63 .2 of the
Convenlion.

(5) Hóctor Fi x-Zarnudio
Presiden!

(s) Manuel E. Ventura-Robles
Sccre ta ry
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RESOLUTION OF THE PRESIDENT or THE
INTER-AMERICAN COURT or HUMAN RIGHTS

OF DECEMBER 14, 1992

PROVISIONAL MEASURES REQUESTED
BY THE INTER-AMERICAN COMMISSION ON HUMAN RIGHTS

REGARDING PERU

PERUVIAN PRISON CASE

HAVINGSEEN

1. The communication o f Novcm ber 25, 1992 and its ann c xcs. b v which the lnter-American
~

Commission on Human Rights (hereina fte r "the Co m mission" o r "the lntcr-Amcrican C om m issio n")
su b m its to the ínter-American Co ur t o f Human Rights (hcrcina fter "thc Cou r t"), pursuant lo Articles
63.2 of the American Convcntion o n Human Rights (hc rcina ftc r "the Con ven tio n" or "thc American
Convention") and 24 of the Rules u f Procedure of the Cou r t (hc reinaftcr "the Rules"), a rcqucst for
provisional rneasurcs in Cases 11 .01 5 ami 11 .048 which a re before thc Co m m issio n regarding the grave
situa tion of the Peruvian prisons u f Migllel Castro Cas tro a nd Santa Meín ica in Lima , Cristo Rey in lea and
Yanamayo in Puno.

2. The Cornmission 's com m u nica tio n which asks thc Cou r t lo require thc Covcrnment o f Peru
(here ina fter "the Covcrnmont") lo takc the fol1owing p rovisional mcasures :

l . That the Govemmenl of Pcru authorize the Inter-Arncrican Commission on Human Rights lo
carry out an inspection of thc prisons ment ioned aboye.

2. That the Covcrnment of Pcru authorizc the lnter-Arncrican Co rnm ission o n Human Righ ts to
conduet priva te intorvicws with the persons d cp rivod of their libcrty in rhosc prisons.

3. That the C ovcrnrncnt uf Pcru authorivc rcla tivcs to provide elothing, food , t he rneans of
hygiene and mcd icine lo thc persons dc p rivcd of thcir liberty in those prisans.

4. That the Covcrnrncnt of Pcru authoriz« thc provislon of adcquatc mcdical attontion by
indepcndcnt institutions wh o can Teport on the sanítary condit ions o f thc pri soncrs.

3. The request of thc Inter-Arncrican Co m m ission on Human Rights is ba scd upon Articles 5.2 and
48 .1.d. of the American Convention which provide:
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Article 5. Ri ght to H u m a ne TreatmL'nl

• • •

2 . No o ne shalJ be su b jected to torture or lo cru el. inhum an , or degrading pu n ishmen t or
treatrnent . All person s dcp rivcd of thoir libcrty sh all be trcatcd w it h rc spect fo r thc inhcrcn t d ignity
of the h uma n person o

Article 4H_ 4 _

• • •

] .d. If tho rec ord has not becn c1osed , t hc Commission s ha ll, wi th t hc knowlcdge o f thc pa rr íes,
examine t he rnaue r set ío rth in the pet itio n o r co m m u nieati o n in o rdcr lo ve rifv t he fa cts . If
nece ssary a nd advisablc, t hc Co rn missio n shall carry out a n in vest igdt io n, íor th e c f fecti vc conduct uf
w hich it shall rcq ucst, and th e states conccrncd s ha ll fu rnis h to it, a ll nl'cL'~sary ta cilitics .

4, Thc Com rnission 's rcqucst is a lso fou nded upon thc requcst mad e by its Prcsident on August 18,
1992, for precautionary measures pursuant to Art íclc 29 of the Com mission's Regulations, "in relation to
those persons deprived of their liberty for allegcdly com m itlíng tcrrorist acts." Morcover, the Prcsidcnt
of the Commission s tated th at if the necessary mensures werc not ad op ted wit hin 10 days, "thc rcquest
for provisional measures might be presen tcd to the lnter-Amcri can Court o f Human Rights." The
precautionary mensures rcqu estcd by the Cornmission werc thc following:

1. T hat t hc Covcrnrncnt of Pcru a u tho rize thc l ntc r-A mc rica n Co m m ission 0 0 H uman Rights to
carry out an inspection of thc Yana mayo [a il in thc Dopa rtment o t Pu no .

2. That the Covorn rncnt o f Peru au tho rize th e ln ter-Amcrica n Co m m issio n u n Huma n Rig hts to
irue rvicw t he persons who a re d cprivcd o f thcir libcrt y in t hat priso n .

3. That tho Covern ment o f Pe ru authorize the visi ts of fam ilv mcmbcrs and la w vers to that a nd- -ot he r d etcnt io n cen lers and that i t pc rmir t he p ro vision of c1othing , m edici ne, sheltcr and th c
inst rurn c nts of hygie ne that wou ld al low thc priso ners to care for thcir vi tal nceds .

4. T hat thc G ove rn mcnt o f Pcru providc the ncccssa ry rncdical aucnr ion lO thosc who Me sick
and that they be transferred to place ... w herc thcy can n..-cc ivc t he n('cl'~sa ry mcd ica l c.i rc.

5. That th c Covc rn m cnt o f [Jt'f U ad opt mcasurcs to separar e p risoricrs who are membc rs uf
opposing arrn cd groups in ord cr to .l\'o id violencc that may pl '-I c(' their lifl' or intL'gri ty of their
pcrsons in da ngcr.

6. Th a t the Governrncn l o f Peru send the Inter-A m eriean 'Colllmission o n Hu man Rig h ts th e
official IiSl o f perso ns w ho died o r d isa pp ea red sinee the events o f the prison "Miguel Cas lro Ca stro,"
oE thtlse who wcre wou ndcd, and of the whcrcabouts of those transfcrrcd.

5. The facts the Co mm ission co nsi dercd in rcqu iring the Covern m cn t to adop t precaulíonary
measures, and subsequcntly in asking the Court fOf provi sional meaSllreS, are th e following:

a. The exislence oí "crcd ible evidence o f a grave si tuilt ion in the Pe ruv ia n pri sons" Mig uel
Cas tro Cas tro, Sali ta MÓllica, Cris to Rey and Y¡l/u/lI1ayo, which pllseS "an immedi ate da nger lo lhe right lo
inlegrity of the person uf those accused and sen tenced for terrurism because of the pum co nd itions in
which they are impriso ned. " The Commission has received informal ion tha t in those prison therc is "a
high incidencc oí diseases," loss of weight, overcrowding, isolation , and psychologica l a nd emo tiona l
problems among maJe and fema le prisons . When the prisoners ¡¡re transferred lo those prisons, some
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of whieh are in very eold zones, they are "mistrcatcd, insulted. humiliated." a1though sorne of thcrn are
wounded and only have their "worn" summer clothing. Neither ean thc prisoners rcccive the visits of
their relativos with the implications that conveys.

b, There is no independcnt institulion which is cmpowercd or is able lo observe thc
eonditions descríbed. makc rccomrnendations lo thc Covernrncnt, and make a public rcport on
whether they are observed. The Inlernational Comrníttee of the Red Cross is not eurrenlly authorized
lo inspect those prisons, All the aboye lcnds a grave and urgenl nature lo thc sítuation described.

c. The Covcrnment's dclay in granling the authorization rcqucsted by the Commission.
Aceording lo the Commission, that may be bccause the Commission "is pcrccivcd as an institution that
supports the Shining Path." as may be galhered from Document No. 3135-92-MP-FN, datcd Scptcmber
16,1992, addressed from the Public Prosecutor to Dr. Osear de la Puente Raygada, Prcsident of the
Council of Ministors and Minister of Forcign Relatíons.

d. On Oclober 20,1992, in the Cristo Rey Prison in lea, thcrc werc sorious incidcnts whieh "lcft
two prisoners dead and three woundcd, and two policcmen injured." This is ono of the prisons the
Cornmission had asked to visi t.

e. The provisional mea sures requcstcd by the Presiden! of the Commission wcre based on
the measures he had rcquestcd of the Covernment on May 13, 1992, and which had not been adoptcd.
To this dale, the Governmenl has nol authorizcd the visit rcqucstcd by the Commission nor has the
pertinenl informalion bccn rcccived.

6. The communicalion of Dccernber 4, 1992, scnt by the Socrctariat of thc Cornrnission on that same
date, contained a complainl which caused thc Commission to express thc following opinion: "As one
may gather from reading the communication, a situation may be dcvcloping which could rcsult in the
violation of the righls of thc women prisoners in the 'Santa Mónica' Prison of Chorrillos. If the new
allegalions are truc, this would increase the scriousness ami urgency of the situation being considercd
by the Members of the Cou rt."

WHEREAS

1. Peru has becn a Sta te Party to the American Conventíon sincc ]uly 28, 1978, and acccptcd the
obligatory jurisdiction of the Court, pursuant to Article 62 of thc Convention on [anuary 1, 1981.

2. Article 63.2 of the Convention providcs that in cases of extreme gravily and urgency, and when
neeessary to avoid irreparable damagc to persons, the Court may, at the rcquest of thc Comrnission,
adopt such provisional mensures as it dccms pertinent with respcct to a case not yet submitted lo it.

3. Article 24.4 of the Rules providcs that

If the Court is not sittmg, the Presidcnt shall convoke it immediately. Pcnding the meeting of the
Courr, the President, in consultaban with thc Permancnt Commission and, if possiblo, with the othcr
judges, shall call upon rhc government concerned to adopt the necessary urgent mea sures and to aet
so as to pcrmit any provisional mca~url'S subsequcntly ordcrcd by thc Court to havc thc requisite
effect.

4. It should be considered lhat, in malters before the Commission, and which, therdore, have nol
yet been submilled to lhe Courl, the provisional mea su res the Court may order at lhe requesl of lhe
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Com m ission, pursuanl lo Articles 63.2 of the Convcntion and 24.4 of the Rules, as wcll as the urgenl
measures the Prcsident may take in consu lta tion with the judges, shou!d be considercd cxccp tional in
nature and not a normal exc rc isc of the competency of the Court and its President.

5. In the instanl ca se, the rcquest presented by thc Commission a nd the accompanying
d ocumentation, and although the Cornrnission asked the C ovornment, pursuant to Article 29 of its
Regulations, lo take mcasurcs to a vo id harm to the pcrsons to be protocted . sorne o f those measures
can no t properly be consid crcd precautionary a nd p rovisiona l m easures within the meaning of
paragraph 2, Article 63 of thc Convcntion, g ivcn that thcy retor to the Covernmcn t' s au thoriza tion for
the Commission lo ca rry o u t on-sitc vis its lo scvera l Peru vian prisons, sa id situa tion being rcgulated by
Articles 48.2 of thc Con vcnt ion and 44 .2 o f th e Co m mission 's Rcgulations, which rcquirc thc prior
consent of the Covern mcn t, which has not yet becn granlcd, and which can no t be rcrnedicd by
measures ord ered by thc Prcsident.

6. Insofar as the Commi ssion's rcq ucs t that thc Covcrnrnon t be a sked to take th e ncccssary
provisional mea sures lo s top the m istrcatmcnt and lo provide mcd ical assistancc ro th e inmutes of
those prisons, th c Cornrniss io n d oes not pro vide any cvidcncc regarding the truth of thc allegations,
which would probably depcnd on thc obsorvations thc Commission might rnako in thc visits it wants
to ca rry out in thoso pri son s, o r other mcans o f proof, which havo not yet been su bmi tted . Und cr those
circumsta nces, thc Prcsident consid crs that it is not ap prop ria tc lo rcquire the C overnmcnt lo takc
urgent provi sional measurcs, but rathcr th at the Court should determine in plenary, after studying the
situa tio n, whcther the provisional mcasurcs rcquestcd by the Com mission are justifir-d.

7. Thcreforc, the Presiden¡ sha!l submi t the Cornmission 's rcquest lo the Co urt a t its ncxt regular
period of sessions beginning on january 25, 1993, so thc Court may ad opt the pcrtinent decisi ón.

THEREFORE

THE PRESIDENT OF THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT OF H UMAN RIGHTS,

having considercd Articlc 63.2 of the American Convention on Human Rights, in consultation with thc
judgcs of the Court , and in excrc isc of the authority con fcrrcd upon him by Article 24.4 of the Rules,

DECIDES:

1. Bascd upon th e foregoing co nsidcra tio ns . it is not a ppropriate a l thi s time to ask th e
Government of Peru lo take urgenl provisi onal mea sures.

2. To subrnit lo thc Cou rt a l its nexl regular period of sessions lhe requesl presenled by lhe
¡nler-American Com m ission so il may adop t lhe appropriate meaSllrl'S pursuan t lo Arlicle 63.2 of lhe
Convenlion.

(s ) Héclor Fix-Zamudio
President

(s ) Manuel E. Venlura-Robles
Secretary



APPENDIXXI

Decembcr 27 , 1992

Mr. Secretary:

By request of the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights 1am sending you 10 copies of the peiition that
this Commission presents to the Inter-American Court o[ Human Rights against thc G(lvernment oj the Republic
of Colombia jor the acts that occurred on February 7, 1989 ill the town of Guad uas, ill ihe Municipality oj Sall
Alberto, Depanment of Cesar. Rcpublic oj Colombia. Isidro Caballero and María del Carmen Sa ntana were
illegally, arbitrarily and fo rcibly detained and subscquentlu disappeared, which led lo thc denOlUlcemenl presented
and carried out by this Commissicn, case number 10310.

I haoe enelosed, in conformity with that es tablished by Artiele 26 of the Rules of Procedures of ihe Court, Report
No. 31/92 o[ the Commission, September 25, 1992, which refers to Artiele 50 of the Convention. In addition to
the annexes of the complaint is encloscd a capy of all the actions thut took place before the Commission that led to
reporI31 /92 .

The Commission has decided to áesignate as its delega te in order to act in its represen tation Dr. Leo Valladares­
Lanza, member of ihc Commission , who will be assisted by lhe undersigned Executiue Secretaru, and Dr. Manuel
VeJasco-C1ark, counseJ for the Sccrctariat .

The Commission has designated as its advisors, as stated in the text of the cnclosed requcsi, Drs. Gustavo Gallón­
Giraldo, María Consuelo del Río, lorge Gómez-Lizarazo, luan E. Méndez and losé Migue! Vivanco. who are also
co-defendants in ihe present case and representatitc s of the vict ims.

1 requesi that the present petition be conducted ill accordance with that es tabhshed ill the Co nventioll . The
Commission shoul ábe notified of the [udgment« all d decisions that will be adopted at its legal address: 1889 F.
Street, Suite 820-1, N . VV., Washington, O.e. )0006, United States of Amcrica.

(s) Edith Márqucz-Rodrígucz
Exccutioe Secrcturv

Lic. Manuel E. Ventura-Robles, Secretary
lnier-American COllrt oj Human Rights
San losé, Costa Rica
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SUBMISSION TO THE INTER-AMERICAN COURT or HUMAN RIGHTS
AGAINST THE REPUBLIC OF COLOMBIA

CASE OF ISIDRO CABALLERO DELGADO ANO MARIA DEL CARMEN SANTANA

To thc Honorable Presidcnt of the Intcr-American Court of Human Rights:

Convened for its eighty-second scssio ri, the Inter-American Com mission o n Human Rights
(hcrcinafter the Commission) is hercby subm itt ing lo YO ll and, through YO llr good offices, to the lnter­
American Court of Human Rights (hercinaftcr the Cou rt). en banc, the case that thc Comrniss ion ís
transmitting under Article 51 of the American Convention on Human Rights (herci nafter the
Convention) againstthe Stale of Colombia, fo r evcnts that havo occu rrcd since Fcbruary 7, 1989, when
ISIDRO CABALLERO and MARIA DEL CARME N SANTANA wcrc arbit rar ily and forcibly dctained
and disappeared in the vilia ge of C uad uas, in the [nrisdiction of San Alberto in the Dcpartmen t of
Cesar, Republic of Colom bia . This case is subm itted in acco rda ncc wi th the provisions of a r ticles 50
and 51 of the Convention and is being processcd in accordancc with the guidelines s tipula tcd in Tille 11,
Chapter ll , Article 26 e t seq of thc Rules o f Proccd urc of the Court; its language and dcfinitions confo rm
to the legal terminology conta ined in Articlc 2 of those Rules o f Proced ure. Under Article 26.3 and
Article 26.4.b of the Rules of Procedure of the Court, attached hcrcto as part of thi s subm ission is a copy
of report31 / 92, dated Sep tember 25, 1992, requ ircd under Articlc 50 of thc Convcntion.

I. PURPOSE OF THE CASE

The Comrnissíon is petitioning the Cou rt :

1. To find that by the actions of its agents in th e unlawful a rrcst a nd cn fo rccd disappcarance of
Isidro Caballero Delgado a nd María del Ca rmen Santana and for its ía ilu rc lo invcstigatc, bring lo trial,
punish those responsible and pay cornpcnsa tion for d amages cau scd , the Government of Colombia has
violated the following provisi ons of thc Convention: Art iclc 4 on thc right to life; Article 5 on the right
to humane treatrnent: Artid e 7 on the right to personal liberty: Article 8 on the right to a fair trial , and
Art íclc 25 on thc right to judicia l protcction, a l! rcquircd under Article 1.1 of the Convcn tion. which
stipulates thc obligation lo rcspcct and glla ran tee those rights. To find that thc Covernment of
Colombia has violated Article 2 of the Conventi on by not adopting the domestie legal measuros to give
cffect to those rights and to avoid the commission of new ac ts of grave im p unity.

2. Based on the maxim of the law paela sunl servanda, to find that the Co vernrnent of Colombia
has violated Articlc 51.2 o f th e Conven ti on in rclation lo Arti c!e'29(b ) th crcof, by not earrying out the
rccommendations mad e by th e Com mission.

3. To require of the Colom bia n Covern ment that it institute lhe investigation neeessary lo idenlify
the responsible parties and impose punishment, thereby a voiding lhe co nsu mrna tion o f acts of serious
impunity that strik L' at th e very foundation (l f lhe legal system.

4. To require the Colombia n C overnment, in keeping with the Cou rt's jlldgment in the Velásquez
Rodríguez case, to inform lhe relativ!'s o f the vic tims of Ihe latters' whereabollts.

5. To find that the Colombian Covernment mu st remedy the acts committed by government agents,
as d escribc'(j in thi s case, and pay f.l ir com pensa tion to the vic ti ms' next-of-kin in aecord ance with the
provisions of Article 63.1 of the Corw ention.
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6. To rcquire thc Co!ombian Covcrn men t to pay thc costs oí these proceedings.

I1. AN ACCOUNT üF THE FACT5

1. Isidro Caballero Delgado was born in Piedccu csta . Departrnent of Santander, on April 4, 1957,
the so n of Manuel Caballero (dcceascd) and Na tiv id ad Delgad o . He li ved with María Nodelia Parra
Rodríguez, by whorn he had one son, Iván Andrés, two months old at the time of lsidro's dctention­
disappcarancc.

2. Isidro had s tud ied ed uca tion at thc Piodccues ta Normal Schoo l a nd had bcon a teacher since
April 29, 1975, th e date on which he roccivcd his a p poin tmen t to a teaching position in the com m u nity
o í Vclcz (Santander), by virrue oí Sa n tander Dc pa r trn cn ta l Covern mcn t Dccrce No . 1426. In 1978 he
wa s c lccted to a lcadership position in Ihe Sa n ta nder Tcachers' Unio n, a posit ion he held unt il 1984 .
Tha t yea r he wa s a ppoin ted a tea chcr a l thc Merced es Abrogo Acadcmy. a nd thc reaftcr engaged in
union activities.

3. Isidro Cabal lero was a rncmbcr o f th e Santand er Tcachers' Un ion (SES), an affiliale of the
Colombian Tcach ers' Federation (FECODE). He was a lso in thc Santand er Labor Unio n (USITRAS) and
an acti vist in the Mo vim ien to 19 d e Abril (M-19), a gu errilIa grou p that was o n the verge o f a peace
agreement with the governmenl and that several months latcr would be reassimilated inlo civilia n life
a nd evcntually become thc 1'.1 -1 9 Democra nc Alliance.

4. In February 1985, Isid ro Caball ero Delgado was a rrested a nd cha rgcd with thc crirne o f unlawful
posscssion o f arms. In a ruling hand cd d own by í hc Corn mandcr o f the Fifth Ar my I3rigade o n
February 25, 1985, lsidro Caballero Delgado was scntcnccd to 36 m onths in prison . O n No vcm ber 26 of
that yea r he was paroled . Unde r rcsolution No. 19 o f March 6, 1487, thc Ministry o i [ ustice g ra n led him
a pard on.

5. From the time he wa s rclcascd, Isidro Caba llero resurned union activiti cs and in that capacity
o rga n ized thc work s top page that wa s sched u led for northeastcrn Colombia in [ une 1987. The purpose
o f the work stop page was to pu t a n cnd lo thc milita r ization of thc a rca , to ha vo civi l righ ts observcd
and property c1aims acknowledged. The lcaders o f this work s top page wcre latcr ci the r murdered o r
disappcarcd .

6. 'Fro rn thc time ho o rg<lllized the work s toppage in qu estion ,1I1d bcca usc o f h is ac tiv itics in thc
tcachers' union, Isid ro Caba llero Delgado beca me lh e targe l (l f thrcats, pcrsccu rion a nd harassmen t.
The trade-union orga n iza tio ns filcd va rious cornp la ints to that eifect.

7. O n Sep le m ber 2h, 1LJH8, Bucaramanga was tlll' si ll' o i Ihe Regi ona l DIal ogue and r eace Foru m,
o rga n ized by lhe Regi onal Dialogue Cormnittee o i which Isidro Caba llero \Vas a lead eT. The tex l o i the
nolice of co nvoca tio ll wa s as iollows:

. . . 11 is here anct ior Ihal purpose lhat we are raHyin¡; toget her all rncn, women. YOlllh. child ren,
soldiers, the govc rnmen t, po li tical fo rn~s , thosc in arms , reprc~cntatives of rc li gio us movements
-wilhollt d iSlinetion as lOereed -, aHoi LI S ",hu bcl ie"e in life, \\'ho ab hor contrael ki lling, murder for
hin:-. WC ,H0 call ing upon eVl' ryon c to spea k u p a nd !'- ug gcs t i3ltcrnnt ives in a fo ru rn for reg ional
dialogue and peaeL'. . .
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8. O n Octobe r 27,1988, va r ious trade-union a ud politica l o rga nizo tions had sc hed u led a nat ionwide
work stoppagc that Isidro Ca ba llero Delgado was promoling. Sorne d ays before the work stoppagc
was sla ted lo occur, Isidro bogan lo reccivc tclcphone threats and 10 noticc s tra ngcrs following him.
For his own safcty, he w a s forced lo take some time off from his job a l thc Mercedes Abrogo Acadcmy.

9. In the tace o f thcsc circu rns tanccs, thc San tander Teachcrs' Union ga ve Isidro Ca ba llero sorne
cx trascholastic assignmcnts, onc o f which w as lo part icipatc in thc Regional D ialogue Com m ittce.
organizing m ectings, fora and deba tes in va rious region s in an e ffort to find a pol ítica! solution lo thc
armed con fl ict.

10. A "Meeting for Cooxis tcn ce a nd Norrna liza tion" had bccn sc hed ulcd for Fe brua ry 16.1 989, in the
municipality o f San A lberto (Dcpa r trnc n t o f Cesa r, Colo m bia ). Isidro Caba lle ro Delgado a nd scvera l
o thcr lcadcrs of trade uni ons and poli tica l orga niza tions wcnt th crc lo organize thc e vcn t. Though thc
Co m m ission h a s very lillle inforrnation abou t hcr, Ma ría d el Ca rmen San la na W,lS a mcmber o f the
Movimiento 19 d e Ab ri l (M -19), o ne of the o rga niza lio ns in vo lved in the e vcn t a s part o f it s
rcincorpora tion in to ci vilia n Ii fe. Sho. loo . h.id gone lo Sa n Alberto to work w ith the organ izers who
wcre enlisting corn rnu n ity pa rt icipa tion in the cvcnt.

11. To rnako ccrtain t hat thc peasant farm secto r would be rcprcscn tcd , o n February 7 Isidro
Caballero Delgado went lo the villagc of C u ad uas, accompanicd by Ma r ía d el Ca rm en Sa n lana. Javier
P áez, a local who kncw the a rca wcll , a cled a s th cir g uid('; a rtc r agr('e ing to pick thcm up in C uad uas,
he took his lea ve.

12. Isidro Ca ballero Delg ado a nd María d el Ca rmen Sa n ta na c ntcred tho farm horno o f Rosa Delia
Va lder ram a an d hcr family lo ask whcthcr "g od fa lher And rés had left a m u le for thern": w hen they
wcre told no, they went on thcir way a nd a fc w mctcrs frorn thc h ou sc w cre sc izcd by a rni litary pa tro l
that was in the vicini ty .

13. That sa mc d ay , El ida C o nzá lez . a fa rm wornan who was lravelling th at sa rnc routc lo visit her
rnother who livcd in C uad uas, was ta kc n by thc sarnc Army Pa trol a nd therea ftcr rc lea sed. She saw
Isidro Caba llero drcssed in a m il ita ry ca mo u flage sui t: there w as also a woman wi th thcm.

14. On February 7 as agreed, the guide Ja vier I'.1ez came lo lhe village o f C uaduas lo p ick u p Isidro
Caba llero a nd María d el Ca rmen Sa n ta na . [ll stead , ho wever, he wa s d e tailled by Ihe army, lorlured
and then released . From the quest ions he was asked a nd lhe rad io cu m m u n ica tion s of the m ilitary
patrollhal had delained him, he learned lhal Isidro Cab,l l1 ero Delgado and Mar ín d el Carm en San ta na
h ad been sei zed . When he w as rek'a sed, he no li fied 111(' unions a nd poli lical o rga n iza lions lO which
lhey belonged . w hirh in lum no tifi ed the re J.lt ives .

15. The farnily of Isidro Caba llero a lld seve ra l unions a nd hum an righ ts o rga n iza tio n s began their
sea rch for the d elainees a l lhe mililary fa cilil ies, lhough lhe b¡lSe co m mand a n ls denied ¡he ar resl 01
Isidro and María d el Ca rmen .

16. Wilh lhe d isappea nm ce o f Isid ro a nd Ma ría del Carmen, legal ac tio ns we re altempled bu l failed
lo eSlabli sh the w hereabou ls o f the disappeared; no punishment was impo sed aga insl lhose directly
responsible for lhe d isa ppearance. lhe accessmies ¡¡fter lhe fae[ o r lhose w ho acq uiesced o r lolerated lhe
crime. N or was any reparalion (>b la ined for the injury callsed .

17. Overlllre s were a lso mad e wilh nllme rous ad m inis lra tive u ffi cial s su ch as lhe Office 01 lhe
Mayor of Sa n Alberlo, lhe Office o f lhe Covernor o f Sa n la nder, lhe Allo rney Genera l o f lhe N a ti on , and
lhe chief 01 the O AS' d iploma tic mi ssion . T hese effm ls ne \'l'rt heless fa iled to !oca te lhe di sa p peared.
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18. The Com mission rece ived a nd processed thc case o f the disa p pcarancc of Isid ro Caba llero and
María del Ca r men Santana and in i ts report 31/91 made severa ! recommend ati ons which the
Government o f Colombia did not aet upon.

19. Sinee 1981, there has bcen a pa ttcrn of cnforccd d isappcarancc in Colombia; in Iact bct ween 1981
a nd late 1991 , sorne 1,588 disa ppcarances werc re poned; of these, 1370ecurred in 1989. A rc port
prepared by the O ffice o f the Attorney Gene ra l of thc N at íon sta tcs that betwccn [a nuary 1990 and
Apri11991 , it receí ved reports o f 616 cases of d isappcarance,

20. Thc patlem of unrestra ined violcnce and dctention-enforced d isappearance a re parts of a larger
pattern. Taken by themsel vcs, they are not p roof of the com mission of any crime; still, they should be
regarded as inc rimina ting evídcncc. The pattern is described in publishcd papers prepared by various
nongovernmental human rights organizations su ch as Amnesty International and Americas Watch,
a mong othcrs, and thosc preparcd by specia lizcd in ternationa l bodies such as the Un ited Nat ions
Working Group o n Enfo rced and Involuntary Disa ppcaranccs a nd thc Com mission itsel f. Thcse, loo ,
are being subm itted as additio nal evidcnce of "p receden ts ."

The international case with the Comm issi on

Acting o n a requcst for u rgenl action from a rcli able so urcc, on April 4, 1989, bcfore receiving a
formal eommunication frorn thc p etitioncrs, the Co m m ission, motu l2Jopio, fo rwa rded lo the
C overnment o f Colom bia , p ursu an t to Article 48 of thc Convcn tio n and for the p urposes o f Article 26,
paragraph 2 of its Reg ul at ions, the cornpla in t concern ing the d etcnt io n-d isappcarance o f Isidro and
María d el Carmen. Jt rcqucsrcd that cx trao rd inary mea sures be takcn to protcct the l i íc and persona l
safety of those two Colo mbia n citizcns. Wha l fo llows is the cable scn t by the thcn Execu tivc Secrc ta ry
of the Commission:

OAS WASHIN DC APRIL4, 1989 NEA
HIS EXCELLENCY DR. JULlO LO N DOÑO PA REDES
MINISTER 01' FO REIG N AFFA IRS
BOGOTA, COLOMB IA

SG/ IACH R/045. IN TER-AM ERlC AN CO M MISSION O N H UMAN RIG HTS HAS
RECEI VED FO LLO WI N G CO MPL A INT: "ISIDRO C ABALLERO DELGA DO, 33,
TE ACH ER, WAS DETAI N ED IN G UADUAS IN T HE MU N ICIPA LlTY 0 1' SA N
A LBERTO, DEPA RTMENT OF C ESAR; HE WAS TAKEN BY ARMY UN ITS TO THE EL
LlBANO MILlTA RY GARRlSO N ON FE BRUA RY 7, 1989: THERE ARE FEARS FOR H IS
L1 FE." W E WO UL D ASK T H AT YOUR EXC EL LEN CY KINDLY SUPI'LY ANY
IN FORM ATIO N T HAT YOU DHM PERTI N ENT AS SOON AS POSSIBLE. WE
SHOU LD ADD T HAT UN DER ARTlCLE 3401' THE COMM ISSION'S REG ULATIO NS,
TI-lIS REQU EST FOR IN FORM ATIO N DO ES NOT CONSTITUTE A PREJ UDGMEN T
WITH REGARD TO THE DECISION THE COM MISSIO N MAl' FINALLY ADOPT O N
THE ADMlSSlBlLlTY OF TH E r ETITIO N . ACCEPT, EXCELLENCY, TH E RENEWED
ASSURANC ES OF MI' HIGH EST CONSIDERATION.

EDMUN DO VARGAS C ARREÑO
EXEC UTIVE SECRETARY
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frlKessi.ng Qf Case 10319 wilh the CQmmissiQn

The nexl day, April 5, 1989, the Corn rn ission reccivcd lhe formal pet itio n (ro m thc pctitioncrs, which it
forwarded that very day, in accordance w it h the Cornmission's Rcgu lations. Thc processing o f thc case
concluded o n Scplember 25,1 992, with lhe d e finiti ve reporl 31 / 92 a nd the Com m ission's d ecision lo
refer the inslanl case lo the Cou r l. A copy of the case processcd with the Com mission is bcing m ade
available lo the Court, so that it ca n scc every d ela il o f how the ca se was p rocessed wi th the IACHR,
thcreby obvia ling the need for a ny further elabora tion o f this particul a r rnattcr in this su b m ission .

11 sh o u ld be pointed o u t that a l no lime' did the Colom b ia n G o ve rn m e n t d eny e ither the facts
reported in the p elition o r i ts rcsponsi bili tv as a rcsult o f thc conduct of its agcn ts, w ho wcre thc
perpetrators o f the d ccd s denounccd . The agcn ts in qucstion, howcvcr. ha vc ne ver been idcn tificd o r
named because o f the Covcrn rncn t's fa i lu rc lo cooperare in the invest igation .

Challenges raised by lhe Colombian Governmenl in lhis instance

In its submissions. the Colornbian Co vernment's challcnges wcrc as ío llow s:

As lhe case was being processed : thc Co vernm en l ch a llcnged th e Co m m issio n' s cornpctcncc lo
lake cognizance of and p roCL'SS th e instant ca se, arguing that bcca use the d omestic remedies had
not been exha us tcd . the Com m ission shou ld ha ve rcfraincd fro m co n ti n u ing to take cogn izance
thcrcof a nd lo d eclare it "inad rn issib h-" und cr Art iclc 46 of tho Con ve n tio n; during thc hearing
held al its cighty -sccond ses-ion. rhc Govern men t cha lle nged thc Co m m iss io n 's a u tho r itv to
recommend lo a Sta tc Party lo thc Co n vc n tio n that it pay compensa lo ry darnagcs lo the vic ti ms'
ncxt-o f-kin, s la ling that Co lom bia could not com ply with thi s rccommcnda tio n beca use it did not
regard the Co rn m ission's dccisions a s binding upon it .

As lo the firsl cha llenge, thc Com m ission re jcctcd thc Colo rn bia n C o vern m en t's assertions abou t
"doubts co ncern ing the ad m issib il i ty o f thc case" a nd thc Cornm iss io ri's unquc stionable
compelcnce lo take cogniza nce o i it and p rocess it, based o n thc io llo w ing considcra tio ns:

a ) the corn p la in ts a llego vio latio n s lO thc human righ ts s upula ted in the Co nvcn tio n -to
which thc Re publ ic of Co lo m bia is a party- in Article 4 on thc rig hl lo life ; Ar ticle 70n thc
righl lo p ersonal liber ty. a nd Ar tici e 25 the righ t to c ffcc tive judici al prorcction. as
pro vided und cr A rtic lo 44 o f lha l Conven lion;

b) the pelition me ets lhe fo rma l requiremenls (or ad m issi b ili ly s tip u la ted in lhe Conven lion
and in lhe Com m issio n's Regul ations.

c)

•

in lhe inslanl case il is ob v ious lhal lhe petitioners have been unable lo obtain effec live
protection (rom interna! jurisdictional bodies, which despite lhe irrefutable evidence m ade
available to them, ci eared the responsible offi cers o ( a H charges, handed down a verdicl o f
not guiJty and o rd e red that thL' jud icia l proceeding s be fil ed o n O ctober 3, 1990; lhus,
regardless o f w hct her the domes tic remedi es h ave been ex haus ted, lhey may nol be
in voked by the CoJombia n C overn m en t as grounds fo r lhe Co m m issio n to suspen d its
processing o f lhi s case, beca use the interna l prosecu tio n o( th is ca se was d eJayed a nd the
trial conducled in lhe c rim ina l cn ur ts is no w over.
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el ) the pctition involvcd is not pendi ng scttlcmc n t in any o thc r in tcrna tio na l o rga ni za lion and
is not a dupl icalion of a ny previous pctit ion a lready cxa m incd by the Com m iss ion .

Additional observations on lhe Governrnent's allegalions:

The C over nrncn t o f Colo m bia ', a rg umen t is a s ío llows: oven though a trial acquittcd ccr ta in
mernbcrs of the armed fo rces charged in the ca se o f thc d isappcarance o f Isidro Ca ba llero and María
d el C a r m e n Sa n tana o n Fcbruary 7, 19119 a nd is no w o ve r, the d omcsri r rcmcd u-s ha ve no t y t-t lx-en
exhaustcd : that the in lerna l mcchani sms a re fu lly u nd er IVay ; that thc in vcstiga tion s ha ve p roceeded
sa tis factorily . and that while the author itics a re clca r ly d ctcrrni ned lo cl.rrify a l1 the iacls, .H p rcscn t thc
ca se is s till in progress, and 11 is ob vious th.it the interna! mcch.in isrn s to prosccu te and pun ish those
responsiblc ha ve nor yct bccn ex ha us tcd .

The argumenl tha t the d omcstir remed ies ha vo not becn oxhaustcd is ir rclc vant . inasmuch as the
Colo rnbia n C o ve rn m cn t d oes not d c ny but indcc-d a d m its to thc u nwa r ran ted d c la y in thc
adrninistration of jus tice in thc internal prosccu tion of thi s ca se; it would oven sccm lo justify the d clay,
asserting in its submissron that thoro a re "lega l forma litics that rnu st be obscr vcd in co nd uc tin g the
investigations and tri al s . H encc. it is normal ior a legal procceding of any kind to takc severa] months
to scttle: it o ften hap pcn s that one or scvera l yea rs m dY pass bd ore it is concluded ." Thc Colorn bian
Covcrnmcnt then m akos thc sarnc po inl aga in w horo it sta tes that: ' In conclusion, beca use thc o ifice r o f
the co u r t IS o b liged lo o bse r ve thc forrnal ittcs and rul es 0 1 prorcdu re whc n insliluting cach s lage in a
proccc ding . it is normal íor a crimina l case lo ta ke scvcra l m onths or vcars".

lIJ. JUDICIAL, ADMI:'-iISTRATIVE A NO EXTRAJ UDI CIAL MEAS URES

1. Judicial m eas u res

1.1. Habeas corpus

As soon as the family lcamcd that Isid ro Cabal lero had been d ctained by thc Colornbian urrny on
Fcbruary 7, it (ilcd , in kec pnu; w i th th o la w in cífl'c t a l th a t lime, .m a pp lic.u ion ro r , 1 wri t 0 1 habeas
m rpus wií h thr- Firs t Super io r Co u r t 0 1 Buca ra rna ng» . d a te d Februa ry 10, 1989 . 1I did so u nd cr the
pro v is i ón 0 1 the Consti tu tion that s ta les that no o ne m ol )' be d enicd one 's Ireedom "exce p l by a w rillen
o rder fro m a com pe le n t .1lI tho rity, d one in accorda nce wi th lhe k ga l lorma li lics a nd o n Ihe g rou nd s
pre viousl y csta b lished by J<l W" (181l6 Co ns titu tio n, A rt ide 23) a nd und cr the <lrt icles o f the Co lom b ia n
Code o f C . im in al Proced ure (lhen Art icl <'s 454 a nd 46(1 ) w h ich in law go verned pro tectio n o f persona l
freedum aga iost arbitra ry a od a b us ive ac ts by agen ts o f the Slate. Acco rd in¡', lo lhose a rt icl es, w hen an
individua l was tak en inlo eU510dy wi tho ll l being adviscd o f hi s /her co ns ti lu tio oa l o r legal g ua ra n lees,
his /her im media te relea se co u ld be d e rna nded ; lhal right cou ld be a sse rled by anyo ne io lhe prcseoce
o i any c r im ina l judge 0 1 t h l~ place in whieh the a r res tcd person wa s loca led or, where no suc h crim ina l
judge w as present, before lhe cr im ina l judge o f the nearest municipality .

O n Febr u a ry 10,1 989, at 10:30 a .m " María Nod e lia Pa rra Rodríguez fil ed a n application for a writ
01 habeas corpus o n b eh.llf o f Isidro Caba liL' ro w ith th (, First Su p e rio r Co u r t o i Bucara m <l ng <l , Judge
My ria m Pi nz0n C ueva ra p res idi ng.

T he judge u f the Firsl Su p e r io r C:ourt had the a p p lica tion a ssi g ned to a no the r Cll url d ockN ,
thereby vio la ting the p ro visio ns o f A rtic le 460 o i the Code' o f C ri m ina l P rocedure, p aragra ph 2 Di w hich
s ta les lhat "in no case sh all a n app lica tion b,' rem o ved to ano tilL' r cou rt' ·, add ing tha! "o n ly the o ffice r o f
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the courl with whom the application was filed sha ll be privy lo it. " Thc judge o f thc Third Superior
Court, on whose d ocket the application was en tered, rcturned it to thc judge o f the First Superior
Co u r t, ciling the a bove-no ted provisions o f the Code o f Criminal Procedurc .

Al 3:20 p.m.. thc judge o f the First Superior C ou r t o rd cred that a sworn s ta te rncn t be taken írom
the petitioncr lo the effec t that the rcquest had not bccn mad e o f a ny o thor judge; the sta te m c n t,
howcvcr, co u ld not be takcn because María Nod elia Parra Rodríguez had already left that day for the
municipalily of San Alberto. Thc judge also ordercd that a com m u n ica tion be sent to thc crim inal
pollee, lo thc Model Prison, to thc Administrati vo Sccu ri ty Dcpartm cnt (DAS) a nd to thc Fifth Brig adc
to inquirc whethcr Isidro Caba lle ro Delgado w a s bcing hcld in any oi thosc íacilitics.

Al 3:30 p.m., thc judge and her c1erk wcnt to tho Fifth Brigad e in thc city of Bucaramanga, where
thcy were met by Col. Carlos Arturo Pardo San ta ma r ía. He irnmcdiatcly told thern that Isidro was not
being held there but that he w ould contact o thcr Fifth Brigade faciliti es in o thcr rnunicipalities. After
severa! hours of waiting, thc judge rcccivcd Co rnm u n ica tion N o. 000886, whcrcin it wa s rcported that
Isidro Caballero Delgado wa s not bcing held in facilities o f the Fiith Brigadc, but that thc Com m ander
o i Ballalion Sa n ta nder wa s making thc ucccssary inquirics to d etermine w hcthcr troops from those
units had arrcstcd the ind ividual in qu cst ion an d that thc Cou r t w ould b e iniormed o nce thc rcsults
w erc known.

On February 13, the judge o f the Firs l Su perior Court of Bucaramanga informed the
Bucaramanga regional pro secutor (Com m u nica tion No. OSo) that thc a p p lica tion for the writ of habeas
corpus had produced n o result , since the replics lo thc com m u n ica tion scn t to thc cr im in al police, to thc
Model Prison, lo the DAS a nd lo thc Fifth Brigade had all bccn th e sa m e, namely that Isid ro Caba lle ro
w as not bcing held in a ny of those fac ili ties. The judge did this without waiting for th e inforrnation
offcred by lhe Cornmandcr of Santander Batralion . Thc judge, tncrcrorc, d cclared that "thcre was no
ca use for the wr it o i habeas «(lYJi llS ".

1.2 Invesligation in the ord inary criminal courts

On February 23, 1989, proceedings ",ere instiluted in the o rd ina ry crim ina l cou rts through
Resolution No. 105 of Ihe C rim ina l Investigation Bureau, wherein th e Second Criminal Exa m in ing
Magislrale wa s designaled lo co nd uc t and prosecu le lhe in vcs liga tion inlo the d isappeélrance o f Isidro
Caballero Delgado.

On February 27, lhat judge ordered tha t lhe preliminary in ve stigati ons begin and requested lhe
fil es from lhe inquiries cnnd ucted by the Officc of the Sa n Albertn Personera rmuni cipal o fficerl .

On March 2,1989, lhe Exa m in ing Magistratc ",cnt to Sa n Alberlo, requesled the colla bora tion o f
María Nod el ia Parra a nd her a!torney. a nd took va r ious sla te me n ts. O ne was irom Carmen Be lé n
Aparicio d e Rivera , who said Ihat o n Feb rua ry 7 an army patrol ca mc lo her home in lhe village of
Cuaduas and quest ioned her a s to whelher or not she knew Isidro C aballero, s ta ling that he had spen t
lhe night in her hame lhe nigh l befo re , tha t lhey h ad faund hi m d ead along \Vilh a you ng woman and
lhal he was ca rrying wilh him a grocery lisl ", ilh her name o n it. The patrol sea rc hed her home. The
d eponenl testified that th e soldiers were from Santander Batlalion , which she d isco vered becau se ane
\Va s wearing a ca p lhal read "San ta nd er Ba tlalion".

On March 17, 1989, lhe jud ge queslioned Ja vier Páez, the g u ide for Isidro Caballe ro Delgado and
María del Car me n Sa nla na to the vi llagc o f C ua d uas and who had agreed lo relurn to the village for
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On April 3, 1990, Javier Pacz was callcd upon to cxpand upon his testimony: he again identificd
Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fontecha in a line-up.

On April 4, 1990, in a procedure ordercd by the Second Public Order Judge, Javier Páez
identified Gonzalo Arias Alturo -at the time in custody in the Santa Marta court gaol- as one of those in
the military patrol who had participated in his arrcst.

On April 5, 1990, 8 months after the proceedings began and more than 13 months after the
pctition to becomc a civilian partv to the criminal pmceedings was filcd, María Nodelia Parra
Rodríguez was named a partv to ti", pwCt'c·,jings.

On April 8 of that vcar. the judge was authorizod to go lo Bogota to conduct a numbcr of
proccdurcs, among them the idc nttfrcatio n of Captain Héctor Alirio Forero Quintero by the
eycwitncsscs to the arrest and disappcarancc of Isidro Caballero and María del Carmen Santana. That
legal proccdurc nevcr rnatc-rializcd. howcvcr. bccause the jlldge did not make an appearance.

Early in June of 1990, the Second I'ublic Order Judge of Vallcdupar was thrcatcncd by the
individual charged with thesc acts. Héctor Ali rio Forero Quintero. Also thrca tcncd wcre wimess Javier
Pácz. deponent María Nodelia Parra Rodriguez and hcr attor nov Jorge Cómez Lizarazo. Via
communication 846 of [une P, 1990, the judge rcpor tcd lhese thre<lts to ti", Cesar section of the
Administrative Security Department (DAS). The threats .lgainst M.lría '\odelia Parra and hcr attorney
curbcd their activitv in the II1vestig,.ltion.

-' <..

Thc Public Order Judge ordercd notification of thr dcfense atlorneys for the parties on [une 10,
1990, and notification of the roprcscntativc of thc Ministerio Público on June 27. On September 11, 1990,
the judge handed down a ruling acquilting Luis Conz.110 Pinzón Fontocha , Conzalo Arias Alturo,
Héctor Alirio Forero Quintero and Norbcr t« B,íez Bácz, 01 lhe rrirncs of abduction. The courts decisión
was not appealcd becausc of the threats L1l'ing made i1gainst María Nc>delia Parra and her attorney.

On October 3,1990, lhe G1Se was closed.

A note that the government scut lo lhis Commission, d atcd April 30, 1992, rcportcd that
Prcliminary Inquiry No. 2416 was in progress in the Barr.mquilla scction of the Burcau of Public Order
- now thc regional prosecutors' offices - agc-'¡nst Carlos Julio Pinzón Fonlecha. Thc virtirn is Caballero
Delgado and the plaintiff Carlos Mcjía Fscobar, National Dircctllr of Criminal Investigations. The case
brought by the National Director of Criminal Investigations i5 based on the expanded testimony that
Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fontecha gave undcr questioning Ihree years earlier, wherein he stated that his
brother, Carlos Julio, had confes5ed to hi·fr¡ his participation in the detention of Isidro Caballero and
María del Carmen Santana

1.3. Military Criminal Invest.igation

A t the req Llest of tlw Com ma nder of th", Fi ft h Brigade, \1 ilitary Cri mina l Examini ng Magistra te
26, attached to Santander Battalion bascd in Oca11a, instituled preliminary inquiries into the
disappearance of Isidro Caballero Delg,ldo dnd María del Carmen Santa na on February 27,1989.
During these inquiries, tcstimony waS tah'", from tlw officc'rs posted at Morrinson Base, which is
Santander Battalion' garrison in the arca where these events occurred. Slatements were also taken from
Sergeant Second Class Oro Alfonso Círdenas Moreno dnd from all of the soldiers and
noncommissioned officers in tI", squad who, at the time these l'venls occurred, were posted at the El
Líbano Camp in thl' municipality of San Alberto. Testimony was .1!sO taken from [he teachers at the
Combined 1,ural School in El Lfbano and lrum lhe San Alberto MuniCIpal Mayor.
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O ne notes that in thc conduct of thcse procecding s, instoad of tak íng the s ta tcmen ts made by the
cycwitncsses in to consid c ra tion a nd building his in vesligal ion upon thcrn, Mili la ry Crim ina l
Examining Magistratc 26 vi r tually di scarded thern, acling inslead on the prernise that the victim s had
incriminated themsel vos.

O n /une 6,1 989, the Military Cour t o rdcred tha t thc p rcliminary inqui ry be suspended, under
Ar ticle 347 o f the Codc of C rim ina l Proced u rc, and tha t the case be filed bascd on thc faet that in the
s ta tcm en ts s upplicd in the procecd ings, no o ne cla irncd lo know a nyth ing of the a rrcst o f Isidro
Ca ba llero and María d el Ca rme n $;1I\1.1I1a .

2. ADMINISTRATT VE MEAS URES

2.1 , Inlervenlion of lh e Ojfice of lhe Presidential Advisor

As a result of the stcps that shc took. on February 13, 1989, the Sa n Alberto Personera scn t copies
o f her inquirics to thc Offi ee of thc Presiden tia! Advisor for thc Dcfcnsc, Protcction and Promotion of
H uma n Rights. an o ffrce c rea tcd undcr Dccrce 2111 of Novembcr 8, 1987. Articlc 2 o f that Dccrce
d escribes thc functi ons o f thc "ad visor" as follows: "lo coordinate a Jl rneasures aimed at guaranteeing
proper proteclion and d efen se of th e fundamenlal human rights uph eld in Tille lB of the PoJitical
Constilution ítoday Till e IJ) and in th e Un ivers al Declaration of Human Rights", and that a ll p ubli c
agencies sha ll give the Office o f the Prcs id cn tia l Advisor p romp l collabora tion a nd a ny rc ports that it
may rcquest" (Article ). For "p ropc r cxecu tio n of its fu nc tions, it sha ll havc a l its d isposal a l! ncccssa ry
technical resources" (Ar t. 3). The O ffice o f the Prcsid cnrial Advisor rc fcrrcd a ll thc nal ional and
in lerna lio na l petitions, m essa ges a nd protcsts sen l in co n neclion with th is case lo the Office o f the
Atto rney-Dclcga tc fo r the Mil ilary Forccs.

2.2, The Role of lhe Bucaraman~a Regional Proseeutor's Q ff ice

O n Februa ry 16, 1989, the Bucara rnanga Regional Prosccu to r. Dr. Anton io Cha pa rro Vega , a lso
rece ived a copy of the inqu iri es co nd uctcd by thc Sa n Alberto Mu nicipal Personera in thc village of
G uad uas. The regiona l prosecu to r acknowlcdged rcce ipt o f the documcn ta tion and rcfcrred it to the
Office of the Auorncy -Delega tc fo r the Mili la ry Forccs a nd thc Seco nd Atto rncy-De lcga tc for thc
Crim ina l Pol lee-Human RighlS. with the Iollo wing message:

1 shou ld advi se you that in the pcrt inen t ve rba l inq ui rics mad e, thi s office was
informed by the Fift h Brigad e, in the person of Col. Cu los Pardo. that the citizcn in
question had not bcc n d cta incd by that Military Base .

2.3. Measures taken by the Second Attorney-Delegate for th e Cr im in al Investigations Departmenl­
Human Rights

Dr. Bernardo Echeverry Ossa, Second Alto rney-Delegale for lhe Crim ina l lnvestigali ons Department,
also d ecided lo lea ve every th ing in the hands of the Attorney-Dclega te for lhe Mili la ry Fo rces and
ordered tha l a ny lhing reccived in co nneclion wilh thi s case be rdL'rred there .
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commissioned attorncy Fabio Vicente C arera Ca lind o lo visit the crim ina l procccdings und cr way in
the Second Criminal Exa mining Courl o f Vallcdu par (Cesar).

Dr. C arcía Calindo made his vi sit on March 6, where he inspcctcd lhe "prclim inary inquiries
filed under No. 082, p .1 63, Volu rne 1-A. Su spects: undcr invest ígation . Crimes: under invcs tiga tion .
Victim: Isidro Caballero Delgad o. Sla r ling date: Fcbruary 27/89 .. ." Thcre he found the s ta temcn ts
that the San Alberlo Personera had laken from the eyewi tnesses on Fcbruary 13.

Thc visiting a tlo rney a lso re ported (De pu ty Attorney Cenera! Co m rnu nica tio n 869 / 89) tha t he
suggesled to the judge tha t o thcr inq u ir ies be co nd uc ted ; that ad d itio na l s ta tcmcn ts be takcn from
Caballero's w ife (she had al ready made nurnero us sta rcmcnts). from the wi tnesses in thc village (w ho
had already testificd), from María d e l Ca rmen Sa n ta na (sic) (w ho di sap pcared a t the sa rnc lime as
Isid ro Caba llero Delgad o d isappca red l. from the IN DUPALM A trade u ni onists, from sold icrs al
Morrinson Base a nd w ith Sa n ta nd er Battal ion (which had alrcady dcnied a ny responsibility in thc
crim e), and finally that the police and courts in neighbori ng munici pal it ics be askcd whc thcr any
corpses had becn disco vcrcd that m ig hl be 1hose o f thc victirns .

2.7. Other overtures wilh lhe Offiee of the Atlorney Delegare for the Mililary Forees

Two months aftcr thesc cvcn ts transpircd and whon all c ffo rts by thc hu man rights com m ittccs
had fa iled, they d ecidcd lo ste p up the ir overtu rcs to the Office o f thc Atto rney C cnera l o f the Na tion.
As a result, on April 6, 1989, the Office o f the Attorncy-Dclcgatc for thc Military Forres institutcd sorne
pre lim ina ry invesli gations. Fo r hi s pa r t, on Ma rch 30, Jorge C ómcz l.iza razo, a ttorney fo r María
N odelia Parra, requcstcd a pholog ra phic idcntifica tio n of tho military personnel posted a l Morrinson
Base, so that the cyewitncsscs to thc cvcn ts migh l have an op portun ity lo identify the g ui lly par tios,
For thc sa fe ty o f thc witnesscs . thc a llorney suggested that thc id cntifica tio n be d o ne using thc
photographs attached lo the servicc rccord s o f thc oificers a nd noncornmissioned office rs ser ving in
Sa n ta nde r Batta lion a l the lime rho evcn ts occu rrcd. This requost was forward ed to tho O ff ice o f the
Atto rncy-Dclcgatc for the Milita ry Forces .

To that c nd , o n April 6, 1989, the Atto rney-Dclcga tc for thc Mili lary Forccs co rnrnissioned
a tto rney Jaime Enriq ue Fa ja rdo Fa ja rdo lo visi l Army Co m ma nd Depart menl E- l , O ffice rs a nd
Noncommissioned Officers SeClio ns, a nd requesl lhe names a mi pho logra p hs (I ( lhe o fficers a nd
noncommissioned o ffice rs who were a llached to Sa n ta nde r Battalion in June 1988 or any tim e lhereafter.

Thal visil was mad e o n Ap ril 10. Col. Ed gar C lI tiérrez Cor tés o rde red lhe Oificers Seclio n Chief
(Co l. Tilo Alejo Del Río Rojas ) a nd lhe Nonco mmissioned O ffiters Seclio n Chief (Major José Vicente
Urb ina Sá nchez) lo com ply w ilh lhe req ues!. They d elive red lhe names o i lhe o ffice rs a nd
noncommissioned officers wi th Santander Battali on íor the mon lh o i June-Jul y '88, December '88 and
January '89. As for lhe pho togra p hs, ho wever, lhey replied that the ir response ,,"ould be forlheoming.

O n April 20, lhl' Chief o f lhe Arm y Personnel Departmenl replied to lhe Attorney-De legale,
sa ying lhat bccau se lhere Wl're so many pho togra phs, all a ttached lo the sen' ice record s, lhe legal
inq lli ry sho uld be cond ucled using those al lhe Perso ll lle l De pa rt n1l'n!. Mrs. Parra Rod ríguez a nd her
a ttorney lhen sen l severa l wilnesses lo Bogo ta, lo idcnlify lhe assaila n ls lhere al lhe very headquarters
o f lhe Mini stry of Dcfensc . O n Ma y 16, 1989, a large nu rnber o f p ho tog ra p hs o f m ili lary mcn in
lIn ifo rm were sp read o u t o n a la ble befo re lhe wilncsses . Tbose photographs had a lready been
malched againsl lhe members o f San land er Ba tta lion lisled by lhe at lorneys from the O ffice of lhe
Attomey-Delega le for lhe Mil ilary Forces. The w ilnesscs, however, d id not iden tiiy a nyone beca llse



-119-

the photographs were very srn a ll and very ol d . During the cou rse o f this p rocccdi ng, so rne th ing very
unusual occurrcd , whieh was that thc Attorncy-Dclogatc for thc Military Forccs con fu sed th c witnesscs
with questions s u eh a s "Ho w much m o ney ha s thc vic tim' s wifo offered yo u to rnakc thcse
s ta tcments?".

T he O ffice of th e Attorncy- Dclegatc fo r the Mili ta ry Forccs o rd ..' red a no the r pholographie
id cntification a nd to that c nd req ucs tcd . by a n order d a tcd Octobcr 8, 1991, thc tcchn ica l-scicntific
ad visory ass ístancc of the Spccia l In vcstigat ions Uni t a ttached to thc Oifice o f 111l' A tto rney Genera l of
the N a tio n. Thi s ass is ta nce was as foll ows: to take the photograph s o f vari ous o f íice rs and
noncornmissioncd officcrs a t the Arrny Com m and 's O ffi ce rs and Noncommissioned Offieers Scctions
(El) and al the C cncra l Archive s of thc M ini stry of Dcfr-nse a nd lo su pply the bio graphieal d ata o n
thcsc military m en o The Specia l lnvestigations Un it cornplctcd thi s assignment o n October 30, 1991 .

On [ anuary ] 5, ]992, th e O ffiee of the Attorncy-Dolcgatc for tho Military Forces rcquestcd the
cooperation of the Dcp u ty National Director o f Cr im ina l Investigation s so that , in co rnbina tion with
s taff o f that agcncy. he mi ght subm it va rious picces of evid cnce. Thc Dcputv Direc to r for C rim ina l
Invest igarions, in con ju nc t ion wi th the Techn ica l Corps o f the C ri m ina l lnves tigations Dcpa rtrncn t,
w ent to the community of Sa n Mart ín, Dcpa r tmcn t o f Ce sa r, to tako lest im o ny frorn C a rmen Belén
Aparicio de Ri vera, who confirmed thc s ta te-mcnts she had in thc presence of thc Scco nd Cri m ina l
Examining Magi s tratc a nd the faet tha t Luis Go nza lo Pinzón Fontceha had bccn a membcr o f th c
m ilitary patrol that deta ined Isidro Caba ll ero De lgado and María d el Carmen Sa n ta na . Shc addcd that
shc had lo lea ve tho region bccausc mil itary men told her th at thcy "d id n 't wa n t to sce her arou nd
thcre.'

That sarnc day, the offi cía ls in question wcnt to thc vi llage of C uad uas in th e di striet o f El Líbano,
municipal ity o f Sa n A lbe rto, specificall y to thc "El Da nubio" fa rm to takc thc testimo ny of Rosa Delia
Va ldcrra rna. Shc, too , confí rmcd th c s ta temcn t shc had mad e in the prcse nce o f the Exam ining
Magistrate a n d lo the Sa n Alberto Person era . Thi s w itness w a s shown a number of photographs and
asked whcther she recognized any of lhe members of lhe pa ln.1 Ihdt sl'i zed Is id ro C,lba lle ro a nd María
d el Ca rmen Sa n ta na . Almost three yea rs afler Iht' even t t()ok place, tlH' w itness a nswered thal n o, she
did no!.

T he Office of the Dcpu ty Directo r .liso eo nd ucled a lega l inspec lipn o f lhe seene of the even ts and
did a topographieaJ ma p of lhe "El Da nubio" farm w here the e ven t, transpi red .

The Office o f Ihe Dep u ty Direc to r of Cr imina l 1nves tiga tion requ esled that the Teehn iea l Corps of
the C r im ina l Investigations Depa r tmen l, Buea ra ma nga D ivision . eoopera te in in vest igating the
disappearance o f Isidro Caba llero Delgad (' and María del Ca rm en San ta na. To that end , they eon tacted
Gonzalo Aria s Altu ra, w ho was liv ing on St ree t 38 No . ()'-7 ] , in th e Lago s 1I Su bd ivis ion o f
Bucarama ng a, in lhe De pa r tment o f Sa n ta nd e r. In lhe re port Df May 4, 1992, lh l' C hief o f lhe
Invesli gati on s Sec tio n o f th e Techn ieal Corp s of Ih e C rim ina l Invest igalions Depa r lmen t s ta ted the
following in refcrence lo w ha l Arias A lluTll had said : "Those wlm killed tho se lwo guerr illas. Is idro
Caba llero a nd hi s co m pa nion, were then- Arrny Cap tai n Héctor Alirio Fo rero Q ui nlero, Army Corpora l
Plácido Chacón H ernández, Lui s C onzalo Pinzón Fontecha a nd h imsl'lf, who fo rmed a special g ro u p
that o pera ted in thal a rea und er lhe Fiflh Brig ad e ." W hen asked abou t lhe w herea bo u ts o f his
eom pa n ions, A rias Alturo said lh al "Ca p la in Q u in tero wa s perha ps in Bogot,í. thal he had reeenll y seen
Corp oral Plácido in Buea ra ma nga, and Ih ,]1 Lui s Go nza lo Pin z.ó n Fo n tcch a h ad been kill ed in
Aguachiea in late Feb rua ry a nd wa s buried here in Buea ramanga "; w hen the Sa nta nd er Fu nera l Parlor
at Stree t 45 No. ]3-47 was con tac led, it con firmed that on Februarv 29, a b u ríal seT\'ice was eond uc ted-for one Luis Conza lo Pinz{¡n Fo nteeha, w ho had been k illed in Agu aehica (Ce sa r ). This faet was later
corrobora ted by M rs . Rosario Fontecha , lllother of the deceased , who lives a t Sln 'et 48 Nn . 11-52. When
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Mr. Gonzalo Arias Alturo was asked about whcre the bodies of Isidro and María del Carmen were
buried, he statod lhat "thcy were killed the day lhey were in Guaduas; then other military untied thcm
and they were buried in a eom m on g rave sorne 1200 melers from thc house of Rosa Delia Valderrama,
on the right before the creek. where sorne cacao was growing al thc time." Howevcr, he rofuscd lo
provide any furthcr information in that rogard bccause "he was afraid of incrirninating himself and
others. lo the point that fiftccn (15) da ys ago, he could no longer be reachcd."

This report. signcd by Ricard o Va rgas L ópez, Chief of th o lnvcstigations Division o f thc
Technical Corps of the Criminal lnvestigations Dcpartment, providcs in formation that corrobora tes thc
fact that mililary units participatcd in these e vcn ts: a ttached lo the rcport was a copy of Gonza lo
Pinzón Fontecha' s d eath ccr tifica te.

Al the ínvcstíga tor's recommendation, Gonzal o Arias Alturo wa s to be followed a nd observcd:
howevcr, the report signed by Ricardo Vargas López sta tes that this plan was su spended duo lo "thc
shortage of personncl and th e unit' s many d u tics". In hi s rcport of Scptcrnber 28, 1992, th e investigalor
poinls out that thc new institu tional changos a nd the s tructu re o f the O ff ice of thc Attorncy Genera l of
thc Nation are su ch that he ca n no lon ger purslle the investiga ti on .

In addition to these preliminary inquirics cond uctcd by thc O ff ice of thc Attorncy-Dclcgatc for
the Military Forccs was thc scrvice record for Cap tai n Héctor Alirio Forero Quintero, which co ntained
d eci sions 164 o f April 26, 1990, a nd 39.t of Scp tcrnber 25 of that sa me yea r, rcqucst ing that he be
d iseharged as a result of the disappearancc of Ernesto Archila Martincz and H éctor Gómez Herrera in
cvents that occurrcd in San Vicente de C hucur í on February 10 a nd 11 , 1988. The prcl iminary
investigations also turned up this captain's medica! record which statcd that on Apnl 24, 1989, he was
admittcd lo the Cen tral Military Hospital, Psychiatrie Scrvi ce: the p atient's own obscrvations about
why he was admitted to the hospital werc as follows: "When I carne to the hospital l knew that I was
being hospitalized as par t of a plan to avoid court prosccution, as my statc o f hcalth wa s such that 1did
nol nccd hospitali zation." Thc psychia tric ana lysis stated the follo wing: "First d clusional brcakd own
with syrnp torns of paranoia, in a prcmorbid persona li ty with a paranoidal nuclous."

3. Extrajudicial measures

3.1. The remedy of complainl and pu blic protest

On February 9, 1989, certain mcmbors of thc INDUPALMA Union wcnt to the village of
Gu ad uas to inquire for Isidro Caball ero Delgado, when lhe latter did not relurn to San Alberlo. They
were told by the local s Ihal Isidro had been laken away by arm)' personnel. They immedialely nolified
lhe Sanlander Teilchers ' Union, wh ich in turn notified María Nodelia Parra and the fam il v.-

On February 10, 198'1, the Exeeuti ve Comm itlee of the Santa nder Tcachers' Union senl a ¡eller lo
lhe Governor of Sa nlil nde r requesting Ihat he intervenc lo secure the relea se of Isidro Caballe ro and
María d el Ca rmen San tana. That sam e d ay, after filing lhe applicali on for a writ of habeas corpu s,
María Nodelia Parra and two brothers oí Isidro Caballero Delgad o went lo San Alberto \0 spcak with
union rnembers and lo find oul whal had happened. They immediately went lo the Sanlander
Ballalion Encam pmen l, loeated in lhe di slricl of El Líbano. A Sergeanl Cárdenas spoke wilh lhem and
d enied th e arres!. He wen! on lo say that pcrhaps members o f the eou n lerguerrilla movement had
laken lhC'm . Latcr María Nod elia Parra went to Sanland er Battalion's Morrinson Base, where a
Lieulenanl Ríos told her lhal lhe two \Vere not being heId at lhat base.
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On February 12, 1989, an INDUPALMA Workers' Assembly was held; it agreed lo provide
economic assistancc lo defray thc cosl of thc legal actions lo secure the relcase of Isidro Caballero
Delgado who was working with that union on thc regional forum scheduled for February 16 of that
year.

On February 13, 1989, togethcr with her attorney, María Nodelia Parra spoke with thc Mayor of
San Alberto lo enlisl his cooperalion in efforls lo secure the release of Isidro Caballero Delgado; the
Mayor pul her in conlacl with the Guaduas Personera, who conducled the firsl inquines inlo this case.

On February 16, 1989, laking advanlage of the presence of thc Attorncy-Dclcgatc for Human
Rights, Bernardo Echcverri Ossa, he was askcd to intcrvcne: in response, he scnt thc Altorney-Delcgate
for the Military Forces to Santander Battalion's Morrinson Base to inquirc aboul the íatc of thc teacher
and his companion. Accompanying the Attorney-Dclcgate were members of thc Santander Teachcrs'
Union. Thcy were rnet by Col. Diego Hernán Velandia Pastrana, who denied that the lwo individuals
had bccn arrestcd.

On February 18, María Nodclia Parra rnct with House Represenlative Rafael Serrano Prada, who
knew Isidro Caballero Delgado since thc two had becn incmbcrs of the Cornmission for thc Regional
Dialogue for Peace; the representative promised to do everything possiblc to sccurc his rclcase. That
same day, thc Santander Teachcrs' Union mct with thc Covernor of thc Dcpartrncnt of Santander lo ask
that he intervene in the investígation into the disappearance of Isidro Caballero Delgado.

On February 19, 1989, Horrninda Caballero de Ballesteros, sistrr of Isidro Caballero Delgado,
went lo thc Bucaramanga Regional Prosecutor's Office lo cnquire about the complainl she filed on
February 13, 1989, in conneclion with her brother's disappearance. The official informed her that the
inquiries had bcon rcfcrrcd lo tho Bogota Office of thc Atlorney-Delegate for Human RighlS.

On February 20, thc trado unions decided to scnd communications to the Attorncy General of the
Nation, lo the Regional Prosccutor and thc Ministcr of Government, requesting thc immcdiato relcase
of Isidro Caballero Delgado.

On Fcbruary 20, tho Colombian Tcachcrs' Federation (FECODE) mct wilh the Attorney General
al the lime, Horacio Serpa Uribe. lo request an investigatíon in to the disappcarancc of a nurnbcr of
teachers who wcre membcrs of that organization.

On February 23 of that year, the teachers of Santander had a 24-hour work sloppage lo pressure
the Covcrnrncnt into releasing Isidro Caballero Delgado.

Upsel by thc way in which thc criminal proceedings wcn- being conducled, the tcachcrs' union
and the union movemcnt in general decided lo organize a national prolest work sloppage. On Sunday,
February 26, 1989, Colombian newspapers pllblished a notice paid for by lhe Colombia n Teachers'
Federalion (FECODE) and the Amalgamated Federation of Labour (Cenlral UI111aria de Trabajadores)
calling for a natíonal protesl work stoppagc on Thllrsday, March 2. The nolice also asked lhal lelters
and lelegrams be senl to lhe President of the Republic urging him to reveal the whereabouls of Isidro
Cabilllero, since wilnesses had stated, lInder oath, that the Army had arrested him and that lhe
Constitulion in force at the time provided, as does lhe present Constitution, thal the Presidenl of the
Republic is the "supreme administrative authorily and commander-in-chief of the armies of lhe
Republic"; as such he has the power to appoinl and remove, al any time, his collaboralors (1886
Nalional Constilulion, Arl. 120, and Law 48 of 1968, Arl. K).
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The dcmand wa s also prerniscd on the principle that whcn such serious charges are leveled
about a Chicf-of-State's Adrnini stration, said Chief-of-State has all the rncans nccessary lo suspend,
dismiss, or investigare any member o f the Arrned Forces. There are preccdents. as when the
Cornmandcr of the CATAM MiIitary Base was discharged for negligence in the theft o f a small a ircra ft
(April 14, 1988) or whcn thc Cornmandcr of the Marine Infantry was discharged for ncgligcnce in
palrolling the ECOPETROL o il pipeline terminal al Cove ñas (june 22, 1989).

On March 31, María Nodclia Parra spokc with the Allorney Ge ne ra l of thc Nation and with the
Deputy Attorney General. Omar Hcnry Ve lasco, who assured hcr that they would monitor the
investigation into the disappcarancc o f Isidro Caballero Delgado closcly.

Arnnesty lntcrnational processed an urgenl ac tion ca ll ing for the release of Isidro Caballero
Delgado and María d el Carmen Santana , as a rcsult of which countlcss cornm unica tions were scnt lo
thc Presidcnt of the Republic, the Minister of Government a nd the Minister o f Dcfonse.

The Ambassador o f the Cerrna n Federal Republ ic interceded with thc Ministry of Foreign Affairs
o f Colombia to requcst information about the disappcarance of these persons.

IV. CONCLUSIONS DRAWN FROM THE MEASURES TAKEN

The Co lo m bia n Government has rcpcatedl y told thi s Co m m issio n that "the d omestic
rnechan ísms are fully und er way ." Thc Co rn rnission's finding, however, was that thcsc rnechanisms
have been full y cxhaustcd, for the following reasons:

In the instant case, inasmuch as it concerns a disappcarancc, th c proper rcmedy is an application
for a wril o f habeas corpus. Thi s was the find ing o f the ínter-American Courl o f Human Rights in the
Velásquez Rodríguez Case, paragraph 64 and 65, whorc it s ta tcd the following:

. . .adequatc dorncstic remedies are thosc whi ch are suitable to address an infringement of
a legal right . A number of remedies cxist in the legal system of every cou n try, bul not a11
are appl ícable in cvery circu rnstancc. . .

. . .of the remedies citcd by the Covernmen t. habea;; corpus would be thc normal m cans o f
finding a person presumably d c taincd by the authorit ics, o f asccrtaining whethcr he is

' Iega lly d e ta incd a nd, given thc case, o f ob taining h is Iibcrty .

In thc instanl case, the ap plica tíon for a writ of habms corpus wa s filcd with thc First Superior Co urt
of Bucararnanga, by Marta Nodclia Parra Rodríguez, on Fcbruary lO, 1989, as notcd ca rlier. Thc Co urt
sc n t o fficia l comrnunications lo the Criminal Invcstigat ions Dcpa r rm cn t, to thc Bucaramanga Model
Prison, lo the Santander Sect ion o f thc Administrativo Security Dcpartment (DAS), and lo lhe Army's
Fiflh Brigade. All replied thal Isidro Caba llero Delgado was not being hcld in any of those facilities,
which is why the Firsl Su perior Cour l o f Bucilramanga declared lhat lhe pelition of habeas corpus was
inadmissible. Though the remedy did not p roduce any rcsul t, it \V as nonelheless exhau sted.

In lhe report on it s vi sit lo Colo m bia, belween September 25 a mi N ovember 2, 1988, the United
Nalions Working G rou p on Enforced o r Involunlary Disappea ra nces s ta tes the following in respecl of
habeas corpus:
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· ..Added to thesc limitations or gaps in the rules, thc lack of cxpcricncc in invoking habeas
corpus with a view to moving against thc very root of a dctcntion which is presumcd to be
arbitrary would seern to make this crucial guarantee for thc freedom of the individual very
weak in Colombia. There is also a factor which thc Working Group asccrtained in
intcrviews with relativos and human rights activists, namely, the fear of rcprisals, lndced.
if a person invokes habeas corpus, he or shc is obliged to indicate possible placcs of
dctention which are obviously the responsibility uf onc authority or anothcr. Thcre is a
fear of both de facto rcprisal s as \Ve]1 as legal reprisals (for instancc, a criminal chargc of
libel).
· .. in any cvcnt, thc wcakness of tho institution scriously aHects thc working of thc
institutional and legal apparatus whcn an cnforccd disappcarancc occurs.

Thcreforc, the Commission is of thc view that thc habeas corpus rcmcdv was incffcctive and that it
was, in any evcnt, exhaustcd. Another factor Ihat the Commission bclicves must be takcn into account
are the obstacles to the investigations, given that thc domestic remedies could not be cxcrciscd to the
full extcnt of the law:

1. María Nodelia Parra was rcpcatcdly thrcatr-ncd for pushing for the proceedings and for
being a civilian party to the criminal proceedings.

2. The attorney for the civilian party was thrcatcncd and coerced into not bcing active in thc
criminal proceedings, with the result that no appcal against tho acquittal handed down by thc Public
Order Judge was ever filcd.

3. The witnesses had to lcavc thc vicinity bccausc of thc thrcats made against them.

4. The Second Public Order Jlldge who conductcd thc criminal investigation was thrcatened
by Captain Hóctor Forero Quintero, (me of thl' suspccts in thc criminal investigations conducted into
these evcnts.

5. Thc Chief of the Bucaramanga Criminal Investigation Unit was torced to abandon the
investigation citing "thc shortage of pcrsonncl ami thc Unit's many dutics" and thc faet that he "was
never notified of any decision in that regard."

Under Article 46.2.b of thc Convention, exhaustion of thc remedies under domostic law is not
required when the party alleging violation of his right has bccn denicd access to those remedies or has
been prcvcnted from exhausting thcrn. In this rcgard, thc Court hcld thc following:

· ..if there is proof of the cxistcncc of a practico or policy ordcrod or tolerated by the
Covernrnent, the cffcct of which is to irnpcdc certain persons írorn invoking infernal
remedies that would normallv be availablc to others... resort to tlwse remedies becomes a,

senselcss formality. The exceptions of Article 46(2) \Vould be fully applicable in those
si tuations and wou Id d ischa rge the obl ig,ltion to exha us t interna I remed ies si nce they
cannot fulfill their objective in that ca s','. (Velásquez Rodríguez, supra 23, para. 68, ami
Fairén Garbi and Solís Corrales, judgment of March 15,1989, series C, Nos. 3 and 6, para.
93).

The foregoing notwilhstanding, María Nodelia Parra and hcr attorncy wcrc very active in trying
to secure the release of Isidro Caballero and María del Carmen Santana whom they knew had been
taken by the army in the municipality of San Alberto, Oepartmenl of Cesar. Their activities resulted in
a criminal proceeding, which ended when the Valledupar Second Public Order Judge handed down a
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verdict of acguittal; preliminary inquines instituted by Military Criminal Examinmg Magistrate 26
were likewise filed, as were sorne preliminary investigations by thc Office of tho Attorney-Delegate for
the Military Forces which did not result in any criminal or disciplinary sanctions.

Had the Commission acccptcd the contention tha t the remedies are fully undor way, the
exception to exhaustion of remedies under domestic law pro vided for in Articlc 46.2.c of thc
Convention would be obvious. That provisión states as follows: "There has bccn unwarrantcd delay in
rendering a final judgment und er the aforementioned remedies." This is something that the
Government docs not dcny, Instead it evcn admits it and tries to justify it by stating that there "are
legal formalities that must be observcd in conducting investigations and trials ... Hence, it is normal
for a legal proceeding of any kind to take scveral months to scttle: it oftcn happens that onc or scvcral
years may pass before it is concluded... In conclusion, bocauso the officcr of the court is obliged to
observe the formalities and rules of proccdure when instituting each stage in a proceeding, it is normal
for a criminal case to take several months or ycars." Noncthelcss, in thc instant case there is no
justification for thc delays that havo occurred in tbcsc proceedings:

1. The order instituting proceedings was not issued until August 1, oven though (me of tho
individuals who participated in thc criminal act had bccn identificd as carly as Mareh 17, 1989; under
the Code of Criminal Procedurc. as of that date the corresponding proceedings wcre to ha ve
commcnced.

2. The petition to be made a civilian party to thc criminal proeeedings was filed on March 18,
1989, the date on which thosc proceedings should havo been instituted: howevcr, it was not admitted
until April 5, 1990, eight months aftcr the ordcr instituting proceedings was given, and despitc the
Codo of Criminal Procedure in effect at the time, Article 43 of which allows a maximum of three days to
decide thc qucstíon of admissibility of the pctition, in this case threc days aftor thc investigation was
launchcd.

3. In cxpandcd testimony givcn on October 17, 1989, Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fontccha statcd
that his brother, Carlos Julio Pinzón Fontccha, had conícsscd to him his participation in tho events:
three years later an investigation against Carlos Julio Pinzón Fontecha was institutcd pursuant to an
action brought by the Director of Criminal lnvestigations in Barranquilla.

4. On April 6, 1989, preliminary proceedings werc institutcd in the Office of thc Attorney-
Delegare for the Military Forces: those proceedings are still classificd as preliminary and therofore no
one has bcen punishcd for thc dísappcarance of Isidro Caballero and María del Carmen Santana.

5. Since May 17, thc date on which thc Office of the Attorney-Delegate for the Military Forces
conducted the photographic identification Ihat relied on very old photographs, the attorney for María
Nodelia Parra has been reguesting an identification with more recenl photographs; via this
Commission, the Colombian Section of the Andean Commission of Jurists, the petitioner in the instant
case, has made the same reguest to the Government. However, it was not until January 15, 1992,
almost three years after the events in guestion occurred, that this photographic identification was
conducted.

Summing up, the remedies under domestic law have not only been exhausted, but a number of
the exceptions contemplated in Article 46.2 of the Convention obtain. They demonstrate impunity and
the failure to comply with the Convention.
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V. LEGAL GROUNDS

1. The enforced disappearance of persons: a cr ime against humani ty

In the guideli nes s ubmi tted lo the rncmbc r sta tus o f thc Organi zation of Ame rica n Sta tes for
prcparation o f an lntor-Arnc rica n Convcn rion agai nSl thc Fo rced Disappcara nce o f Pe rsons. the
Cornmission s ta tes that disappcarancc:

...can be d c fincd as thc du ten tion of an indi vidual by agcnrs of thc Sta tc or with its
acquicscence. wi thout a warran t from a co m pe te n t a u thori ty, a nd wherein the delen tion is
denied and thcre is no information as lo thc fa le or whercabouts of thc d ctai nce. . .

. . .in a case of cnforced disappca rancc, the v ic ti rn 's co n fi nenwn t must be d on icd by thc
authoritie s... This is a eonscious and d elibera le denial 01a dctcntion tha t has occu rred bu t
d enied in o rder lo avoid responsibility for tlu - arrest itsclf and for thc p hys iea l wcll-bci ng
and Iife o f the dctai ncc.

In resolut íon AG /RES.666 (X II I·O/83), the Genera l Asscmbly o f thc O rgani za tion of American
Sta tes d cclared that ". ..The pract icc of thc torced disappcara ncc o f persons in thc Amerieas is a n
affron t lo the conscicnce o f thc hcmisphcre a nd co ns ti tu tcs a crime aga insl hurnani ty .' It has a lso
s ta ted that d isappcarance is "cruel and inhuman, mocks the ru le of la w, and u nd crrnincs those norms
whieh gua ra n tcc p rotcct ion aga insl a rbi tra ry dc tcntion and thc right lo persona l secur íty and sa fcty"
(AG/ RES.742).

In its jud gemen l o f Ju ly 29, 1988 in th o Vel ásqucz Rod ríguez Case, the Courl fou nd thc fo llo wing:

The pract ico 01 d isappeara nccs. in addi tion to di rcct ly vi nlating many provisions o f
the Convcntion, such as IhoSL' notcd abo ye, consti tu íos a rad ica l breaeh of thc trcatv in tha t,
it shows a crass aba ndonrncn t o f thc v.ilucs w hich emanan- fro m the concept o f hu man
d ignity a nd of the rnos t bas ic principies o f thc in tcr-Amcrican sys tcrr. and thc Con vention.
The exis tcncc of thi s practico, mo rco vc r, cvinccs a disrcgard o f the d u ty lO organizo thc
S ta te in s uch a manne r as lo g uara n tee thc righ ts recog ni zed in the Co n vc n tio n .
(paragraph 158).

The [urísprudcnce o f the Court has fo und tha t cnforccd d isa p pca ra nce invol ves transgression of
a number o f the rights rewgnized in domcs ti c la w a nd in thc Conventio n, w hich the Sta tes a re obliged
lo respect and g uaranlee. Thc p racti co of c nfo rccd disappcara ncc, thc Co ur l m ai nrains. o ftcn involves
secret exccu tion w ithout bcnefit o f lria l, follo wed by eOl1eea lrnen t o ( lhe body to guara n lec impu nily.
Th is, lhe Co u r l has hcld , is a fla gran t vio lat iol1 o f the r igh t to life reco g n ized in Artide 4 of lhe
Conven lion,

The Co u r l h as .l Iso hel d lhat 111l' p ro lo n ged a nd in volu ntary iso la tio n tha t e n fo reed
disappearance involves cons ti tu lcs cruel and inhuman trcalment , harmful to the psychol ogical and
moral inlegrily of lhe person a nd a vio la tion of the rig hl of a ny d elainee to ha ve his inheren l d ign ity as
a human being respeclcd , a nd is a viola tion o f Artide 5 o f the Convenlion. To deny a n individ ua l hi s
o r her freedom arbi lra rily is nol o n ly a viola tion of lh e r ight lo perso na lliberly bul .liso of lhose rights
upheld in paragraphs 1 lo 6 o f A rt id e 7 of lh e Con ven lion . Isidro Caballero Delgado a nd Ma ría d el
Carmen San la na \Vere no! a llowed to exercbe any o f the rights recognized lhcre .
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In the in stant case, Sa n tander Ba tta lio n aggrava ted the crirnc of a rbi tra ry a nd unla wful
deprivation o f li berty by denying that Isid ro Caba llero and María d el Carmen San tana were in its
power, cvcn though it had unlawfully dctai ned thcm, as the sta temcn ts rnad o by the witnesscs show,
especially the witncss who ovcrheard the Battalion commander requesting orders, via radio, as to what
they should do with their victims, The "a rbitrary arrest" madc by the army thus becamc a n "cnforced
disappearance,"

"Crirnes against hurnanity" are offenses thal aHecl not only an indi vidual or a group bul all
mankind, inasrnuch as they deny the possibil ity o f civilized coexistcnce among mcn. 11 is for that
reason that scveral intcrnat ional convcntio ns have sough t lo punish such crimcs wi th the utmost
severity:

By making thern not subjcct lo any sta tu te of limitati on (meaning that the passage of
time will never cxemp t the crimina l from prosecut ion).

- By making thern subjcct to universal jurisdie tion (meaning that such cri rnes can be
heard by a cornpetcnt court anywhcre in the world ).

By punishíng not only the direct authors, but also the instigators, aceomp liees and
accessories after the fa et.

According lo the Uni ted Na tions Worki ng Grou p on Enforced or Involunla ry Disappearances:

.. . enforced or involu nta ry d isap pea ra nces constitu te the rnost comprchensive
d eni al of human righ ts in ou r times, brínging bo und less agony to thcir victims, ru inous
consequenccs to the fa milies, both soeially and psycho logieally, and moral ha voc to thc
socicties in which they occur. 1t is indeed a gruesome fo rm of human nghts violation that
warrants the conti nucd atlcn tio n of the internal ional eom mun itv. (Documen t E/CN-,
4/1 985/15 ).

In its Special Report on Enforced or Involuntary Dísappoarances in Colombia , thc United
Nations Working Croup stated that it was a common praetice there.

2. The responsibility of lh e Colombian Stale
•

. 2.1 For íts Iailure lo respecl rights

The viola tions of righ ts recogni zed in the Co nven tion thus far mcntioncd are a trribu table to the
Colombia n Sta te and it is thcrcfore intcrna tionally responsible for the violation of thcse righ ts.

Fro m Arti cle 1.1 e ma na re t wo u bliga tions incu rnbcn t upon a state party, namcly, that of
respecting the rights and libcrties rccognized in thc Co nven tion and that of guaranteeing full and free
cxercise of those rights to persons undcr its jurisd iction ,

Colombia has fa iled in its obliga tíons lo rcspcct the rights and liberti es u pheld in the Convention .
The d isappcarances uf Isid ro Ca ballero Delgado a nd María del Carmen San tana and thc violations of
the rights rccognized in thc Convon tion were committed by lhe Colombian a rmy, by a p ublic organ, by
people whose modus operandi is lo abuse Ihe power thal lhe Sta te has invested in them. The en fo rced
disappearances and the viula tions \Vcrc committed wi lh the aid and aequiescence of thc publi e powcrs .
From Ihe foregoing it fo llows tha t Colombia is di reetly responsiblc for lhese viola tions.
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The Courl s ta ted thc following in th is rcgard :

. . .any viola tion o f rig hts rccog n ized by the Convcn ti on ca r r icd o u t by an a ct o f pu bl ic
authority or by persons w ho u se the ir position of autho rity is impu table to tho S ta tc.
(Judgmenl of Iuly 29, 1988, Vel ásquoz Rodríguez, paragraph ] 72).

2.2. For nol guaranleeing rlghts

Arlic\e 1.1 o b liges the S ta tes parties to g ua ran tee the free a nd full c xc rcise o f the righ ts
recognized in the Convcn tion. In the Ve l ásqucz Rod ríguez Case, thc Cou rt in tcrp ro tcd th is p ro vision
as lhe duty o f the Sta tc lo in vcstigatc violation s cornmittcd within its jurisd ic tion, lo idcntify thosc
resp onsiblc, lo impo se thc a p p ropria te pu nishrnen t and lo cn su re thc vi cti m ad cq ua te cornpcnsa tion
(see paragraphs 166 and 174).

Colom bia has fa iled lo hono r this ob liga tio n . Thc First Superior Cour t of Bucaramanga fo u nd
that thcre was "no cause" for th e wri t o f habeas corpus. Thc p reli mi nary inves tiga tions tha t Mi li ta ry
Criminal Exa m in ing Magistrate 26 co nd ucted wore filcd : the proceedi ngs conducted in the Second
Public Order Ju d ge end ed with a verd ict o f acqu itta J; thc p reliminary invcs tigat ions conducted b y the
O ffice of the Atto rney-Dclcgatc for the Mi lila ry Forccs ha ve had no rcsults, No o ne has bcc n punishod
for the disappcarance of Isid ro Caba llero and María del Ca rmen Santana . Lastly, no c ffo rt has bcen
m ade lo com pensa le the relati vos o f thc disappca rcd. Q ui te thc con tra ry , in a hear ing a t the
Commission's e ig h ty-second scssion, o n Septe mbcr 25, \992, the Colo rnbia n C o vc rn rnc nt sta ted that
one reason it cou ld not cornp ly with thc rccomrncndat ion in Report 3 1/91 tha t fair co rnpcnsa tion be
paid was that 50 far as the Covernmen t was co ncerned that rocommcnd ati on was no t bi nd ing upon it,
a s a judgment by the Cou rt would be; instead , thc Commission 's was a simple rccomrncnd ati on w hich
Colom bia n officia ls were unab le lo e xccute without vio la ting d orncs ti c la ws, The fai lu re lo p rosccu te
and punish cr im es a nd to pay fai r co rnpcnsa tio n for d arnagcs ca used cons titu tes a fla grant vio lat ion o f
the obliga tion to g ua ra n tce free and full cxc rcise of thc rights recog nized in th c Co nvcn tion .

When it addresscd th is o bliga tion in the ad visory opin ion uf Au g u st 10, 1990 (OC -ll / 90,
paragraph 34), the Cou r t stated the follo wing :

. ..ta king a ll necessary measures to rcrn o ve a ny obs taclcs obstructing a n individ ua l's iu ll
exe rcise o f the r ights that the Con ven tio n recognizes . H c nce, a Statc's tolcra ncc of
circu msta nccs o r cond it ions that p rcvc n t individ ua ls t ro m avai ling themselves o f lhe
proper in terna l remed ie s ior protecting their r ig h ts is a vio la tion of Article ]. 1 o i the
Convcntion. . .

As exa mi ned in lhe seclion o n exhaustion of thl' re med ies under d omeslic la\\', lhe exercise of
such remedies has been obstructed by a number of circu msta nces: ih rea ts aga ins t wi tnesses and
judges; d el ays in lega l proceedi ngs; the Sla ll"s fai lun.' lo coOpl' ra te with examining magi slra les, w ho
ha ve been iorced lo abandon lines of inqui ry impor tan t for the investigali o ns. The Co lom bia n Sta te has
done nothing to prevent these obstacles a nd has thereby tolera ted the circumstances that have
obstrucled proper exercise o i d omestic remed ies.

As a consequencc, the viola lions a re att ribu table to the Colombia n Sta te inasmuch as lhey a re
a cts oí publ ic a u tho ri ties o r ca rried o u t by persons who abused lhei r positi on o f a u thority. a nd
inasmuch as il fail ed lo idenlify lhe au lhors o f lh e violalions, fai led lo wmpensate the viclims' ne xl-of­
kin and was nol dul y d iligent in preve nt íng lhe viola tions.
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2.3. For not adopling domestic measures and failing to comply wilh the Commission's
recommendations:

Under Article 2 oi the Co nven tion, the Sta les Pa rties undertake lo adop l such lcgisla tive or o ther
m easures as m ay be neccssa ry lo give cffcc t lo the rights and frecdorns recognized in the Conven tion.
Article 51.2 provides tha t the Sta tes are obliga ted lo eom p ly with the rccornmcndations tha t thc
Comm ission makes lo thc go vernments in its rcports .

The Co lo m bian Covernme n t did not take any rnca sure lo protect the rights o f Isid ro Caballero
and María d el Carmen Sa ntana, and d cspitc assid uous efforts by relat ives o f the victi rns, the g uil ty
partics ha ve not becn p unished . Thercforc, although there a re g ua ran tees under Colombian law, the
necessary measu res lo cnforce those g ua ranlees have not becn takcn .

Fur ther, the Colo rnbian Gove rn men t íailed to ae l upon thc rcco rnmcndations conla ined in rcport
31/91 of the Cornmission, which thc Covc rnmcnt did no t consider binding. By di sregard ing them, it
has thus far failcd lo compensa re thc relati vos of Isidro Caballe ro a nd María del Carmen Sa n tana and to
protect the witncsses who coopcra tcd with thc Commission lo shed lighl on thc íacts in thi s case.

3. [urisprudence of the Colombian courls on the subject of unlawful arrests

When it examined the cons ti tu tionality of the con trovers ia l Deeree 180/88 (called th e "An ti­
Terrori sm Sta tu tc"), Articl e 40 of wh ieh au thorizcd mcrnbcrs o f the Armed Forccs. the Police and the
DAS, in urgenl cases, "lo arrcs t, withou t a wa rra nt . pcrsons suspec tcd of pa rtic ipa ting in terrorist
activi tics". the Colom bia n Su p rem o Cou rt fo und the a rt icle unco nst itu tional. reasoning as follo ws:

. . .the jurisprudence of tha t Courl has bccn very ck-a r in finding that thc "writtcn orde r
from a competcnt authority" that the Consti tution requircs io r the purposcs p ro vided in
Article 23, rc fcrs lo thc wa rrant that is o nc's guaranlce in thc cvcnt that an at tcmpt is mad e
to cu rta il o nc's personal and physica l libcr ty and brcach thc inviolabili ty of onc's d omicilc."
(Su premo Court Ru ling No. 21, March 3, 1988, File 1776 (265-E).

The provisions of the Code of Cr imin al Procedure

For its part, thc Code of Criminal Proced u re in force a l thc time Isid ro Caballero and Ma ría del
Carmen San tana disappeared . p rovidcd the iollowing:

Anyonc arrcstcd shal! bc immcdiatctqa duiscd o[ thc [ol/oiVillg: 1) tire reasons [or ihc arrest alld the
official wllo ordcrcd it; 2) "/IC 'S riglrl lo meet unth all attorneu; 3 ) one's rigll l lo indicale whom lo
Ilotify o[ onc's arrcst. 7he aUlllorily responsilJle [or lile arresl shall immedialely YL7JOrt sume lo ¡hc
individuals specified by ¡he arres lcd party. (Article 4(3 ).

The provisions of lhe Penal Code

For its part, the Penal Code makes it a crime to unlawfully deprive one of one's freed om (Article
272). The punishment for any oHicia l who com rnits said crime sha ll be one to five years' impri sonmenl
and dismi ssaJ.

Moreo ver, in response to an inquiry from a group o i jurists, lh l' Altorney Genera l o f lhe Na lion
speci fied that under Colombian la \\! "mili ta ry un ils a re not indica led as cen te rs for eo niinemen t of
priva te cilizens; they can o nly be USl'd to confine military personne l, under lhe provis ions o f Decree
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250/58 or the Code o f Military C rim ina l [u s ticc . o r under Articl c 427 o f thc Cod c o f Criminal
Procedure" , (lcttcr d ated July 28, 1988, addrcsscd to the "Collcctivc Atto r nevs' Co rpora tio n ),

4. Violaled provisions of international law in force under Colombian law

Apart from the Constitut ion a nd othcr dom estic laws, internationall aws that are also laws of thc
Republic wcre also violatcd, among them thosc con ta ined in th c International Covenant on Civil and
PolilicaI Rights (signed by the Sta te of Colo m b ia on Decembcr 21 ,1966, adopted through La w 74 o f
1968, and ratified with the UN cm Oclober 29, 1969) and the American Convention on Human Rights
(signed by Colom b ia on N ovcm bcr 22, 1969, adop ted through Law 16 o f 1972 a nd ratificd with thc OAS
on May 18, 1973) which stipu la te: that no one sha l1 be arres ted o r dctaincd arbitraril y (Covenant, 9. 1;
Convention. 7.3); that no o nc sha ll be arrcstcd excc p t o n g ro llnds es tab lishcd by law a nd in accordance
with the procedures established thcrcin (Covcna n t, 9.1; Convention, 7.2); that a nyone who is a r res tcd
shall be adviscd , a t thc time of arrcst, o f thc reasons íor the a rrest a nd promp tlv in fo rmed o f a ny
cha rges aga insl h irn (Covena n t 9 .2; Convcn tion, 7.4); that a nyone arrcs tcd or dctai ncd o n a cr im ina l
cha rge sha ll be brought promptly before a jlldge or o ther o ff icer au thorizcd by law lo excrcisc judi cial
power (Coven an t 9 .3; Con ven tion 7.5 ); that an yo ne d c prived of his libcrty by a r rcs t or dc ten tio n shall
b e entitled lo takc proceedings beforc a cou r t. in ord er that it m ay decid e without d elay on the
lawfulncss o f the d etenti on and o rd cr thc ind ivid ua l's rcl case if tho dc tcn tion is not Ia wful (Covc na n t,
9 .4; C onvenlion 7.6), a nd that a nvonc w ho has bccn thc victirn o f unlawful a rrcst o r d ctcnt ion sha ll,
have an cnforceabl e righ t to co m pensa tio n (Co vcnan t, 9.5).

Articles 26 and 27 o f thc Vi c nna Con ve n tio n on the La w of Treatic s ha ve al so bccn viola tcd .
Article 26 requirc s th at Sta les perform internationaJ trcat ies in good faith, while Article 27 prohib it s
States frorn invoking th eir in te rna l laws as justifica tion fo r fa iling lo pcrform in ternational trcaties. Thc
C o vernrncn t of Colombia contcnd s that it ca nno t pay compe nsa tio n to thc victims' íarn ilics bccausc it
does not h ave the internal mechani sm s to allo w it to pa y such com pensa tion . It has turthcr s ta ted th at
in Colombia it is "n o rm a l (or a criminal case to take several months or years . . ."

VI. PROO F

The Commission is exh ib i t ing e vid cn tia ry matcri al that p oinl s lo and provcs the C o lom b ia n
Government's responsibility for the facts in the instant case and, accard ing ly, w ill e n tcr into evidence
a nd substanliatc the follo wing p roo fs in thes(~ lega l procced ings :

(a) Doculllentarv : consisti ng of the d ocu lllen ls listed under section 1.1 . a nd those Ii sted under
sec tion 2.1. , which the Co ur t w il l kil1d ly rL'ques t fro m the Governm cnt of the Rcpu b lic o f Co lo m bia so
that they m ay b e m a d e ava ilable to the judges and membcrs o f the Courl a nd to the par ties for
pllrposes o( s lu dy, d iscussion amI a llegatiol1s:

Offered by the Com m ission

1.1. Testimony

1. 1.1. Std te m c n t by And clfo I'é- rez Gelve z ll1 the p resencc of th L' Second
C rim ina l Examining MagistralL', Ma rch 10, 1989.
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1.1.2. Statcrnent by Gu ill erm o Guerrero Zambrano, in the presence of the
Second Criminal Examining Magistrale, March 9, 1989.

1.1 .3. Sta tcmcnt by Rosa Delia Valderra ma, in thc prcscnce of thc Municipal
Personera o f San Alber to, Februa ry 13, 1989, as well as th ose she m ad e before thc
Valledupar Sccond Public Order [udgc, March 18, 1989, and bcforc the Dopu ty Director for
Crim ina l lnves tiga lions, [anuary 22, 1992.

1.1.4. Staterncnt by Sobeid a Quintero, given in thc prcscnce of thc San Alberto
Municipal Personera on February 13, 1989.

1.1 .5. Sta tcmcnt by Carmen Bd én Aparicio de Ri vero, given in tho presence o í
the Second Examining Magistra te, March 2,1 989, and the sta tcmcn t rnade in thc presence
of the Deputy Director for Crimina l lnves tiga tions on [anuary 22, 1991.

1.1.6. Sra tcrncn t by Ja vier PiÍez in thc p rescncc of th e Vallcd upa r Sccond
C rim ina l Exam ining Magi stratc, Ma rch 17, 1989, the sta tcmcnt mad c in the Office of the
Attorney-Dclcgatc for the Mi litary Forces, May 26, 1989, the s ta tcmcn t m ad e in the
presence o f the Second Crim inal Examin ing Magi stral e , [une 12, 1989, the line-up
identification by th e wi tness that sa rne day, th c s ta tcmcn t rnade in the prescncc of the
Second Public O rder [udgo. April 3, 1990, and thc line-u p idcn tification on April 4, 1990.

1.1.7. Sta tcm cnt by Elida GonziÍ il'z Vergel , in the presence o f the Second
Crim ina l Exa mi ning Mag ístratc of the Vallcdupa r C ircu ir, March 21, 1989.

1.1.8. Sta tement madc undcr questioning by Lu is Gonzalo Pinzón Fontecha, in
the prcscnce o f thc Second I'ubl ic Ord er Judge, October 17, 1989.

1.1.9 . Co m pla in l fi lcd by María Nodelia Pa rra with thc Seco nd Cri m ina l
Exa mini ng Magis tra te of the Vallcd upar Ci rcu it , March 2. 1989, and the testimony shc
ga ve befare that magi strate on [uly 27, 1989.

1. 1.1 0. Sta temcnt by a tto rney jorge Gómez Li z,¡razo in the O ffice of the Dcputy
Prosecu to r, where in he rcq ucsr s tha t the witnesscs ident ify thc office rs a nd
noncornmissioncd officers in Santander Battalion attachcd to Morrinson Base.

1.2. Com m llnications

1.2.1. Cornm unica tion 846 from the Seco nd Public O rder Magistra tc to the
Ch ief of lntelligence o f th c Ad rn inistrat ivc Securi ty Depa rtmcn t (DAS), Vall edupar
Section, wh ich recounts thc threat s reccivcd (rorn Captain Héctor Ali rio Fore ro Quintero.

1.2.2. Lettcr ad d rcsscd lo Dr. Víc to r Enriq ue Navarro [irn ónc z, National
Deputy Director of C rimina l lnvcst igati ons, frorn the Ch ief of lnvcstigations of th e
Technical Corps of thc Criminal lnvestiga tions Dcpa rtrncnt, Bucararnanga scction. Ricardo
Vargas L ópez, da tcd May 4, 1992. w hcrein he rcports thc find ings o f thc investigations into
the di sappearance of Is id ro and María d el Ca rmen.
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1.2.3. Communication No. SN-CTPj 236-92, dated june 3, 1992, from the Offico
of the National Deputy Director of the Technical Corps of the Criminal Investigations
Departrnent, signed by Dr. Víctor Enrique Navarro and addressed to thc Attorney­
Delegate for the Military Forces. reporting thc progre5S made in thc investigation.

1.2.4. Report No. 01/FGN-UNPL dated Septernbcr 28, 1992, addresscd to thc
Director of the Technicallnvestigations Unit under the Office of the Attorney General of
the Nation, reporting dcveloprncnts in the investigation being conducted by Ricardo
Vargas López, a specialized criminal investigator, into the disappearance of Isidro
Caballero and María del Carmen Santana.

1.2.5. Communication No. FCN-DIDNCT 167-92, dated Scptcmber 29, 1992,
from the National Director of the Technicallnvestigation Unit to the Attorney-Delegate for
the Military Forces, whcrcin he reports on the progress made in the investigations into the
disappearance of Isidro Caballero and María del Carmen Santana.

1.3 Service records

1.3.1. An cxcerpt from the scrvice record of Army Captain (r) Héctor Alirio
Forero Quintero, with a clínical history of his hospitalization. issued by the Central
Military Hospital, attachcd.

1.3.2.
Báez Báez.

1.4 Press cliRPings

Excerpts from the scrvice record of Corporal Second Class (r) Norberto

1.4.1. Prcss clipping from the Vanguardia Liberal, dated june 9, 1987, wherein
Isidro Caballero is shown as a mcrnbcr of thc Steering Committee of the Northcastcrn
Work Stoppage; also shown is Cristian Roa, who also disappcarcd in thc sarne rnanner.

1.4.2. Prcss clipping from the Vanguardia Liberal, dated Scptcrnbcr 24, 1988,
wherein Isidro Caballero is shown as the organizer of thc pcace wcck, an cvcnt undcrway
in Bucaramanga at that time.

1.4.3. Press clipping from thc Vanguardia Liberal, dated Scptcrnbcr 29, 1988,
showing highlights of peace wcck 111 Santander, which Isidro Caballero Delgado hclpod to
orgarnze.

1.4.4. Press clípping from the Vanguardia Liberal, dated February 15, 1989,
wherein the Santander Tcachcrs' Union rcports that Isidro Caballero was arrcstcd by
military on Fcbruary 7, in the village of Guaduas; it also dcnounccs thc disappcarancc of
other teachcrs in that union.

1.4.5. Prcss clipping from the Vanguardia Liberal, datcd Fcbruary 23, 1989,
reporting on the work stoppage conducted by the Santander tcachcrs to pro test the
disappearance of their collcaguc Isidro Caballero Delgado.

1.4.6. Press clipping from thc Vanguardia Liberal, dated March 1, 1989,
reporting that thc Barrancabermeja Teachcrs had agrccd to the work stoppage proposed
by the Colombian Tcachers' Fcdcration (FECODE) to prcssure thc Government into
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releasing Isidro Caballero Delgado, a tcacher, alive; the report sta les that he was arrested
by the army on Fcbruary 7, 1989, in the municipality of San Alberto, Dcpartrnent of Cesar;
the repon also dcnounccs thc attempts madc against various tcachcrs in Santander.

1.4.7. Press clipping from thc Vanguardia Liberal, dated March 10, 1989,
containing an intcrview with María Nodclia Parra, wherein she blamcs thc army for the
disappearance of Isidro Caballero Delgado.

1.4.8. Prcss clip ping from the Vanguardia Liberal, dated March 10, 1989,
reporting that thc Santander Tcachers' Union had takcn over the residcnce of the
Archbishop of Bucaramanga to draw the authoritics' attent ion to the criminal attacks
againsl teachers in that union and spccifícally mentioning the disappearance of Isidro
Caballero Delgado.

1.4.9. Prcss elip pi ng rrom the Vanguardia Liberal, dated March 22, 1989,
reporting that Ca p ta in H éctor Em ilio Forero Quintero, Corporal Sccond Class Norberto
Báez Báez and cnlistcd mcn Luis Conzalo Pinzón Fontccha a nd Conzalo Arias were laken
after having robbcd a nurnbcr of motcls and ga soline stations in thc municipalitics of
Bucararnanga (Santander) and El Copoy (Cesar); these persons wcre considc red suspccts
in the disappcarance of Isidro Caball ero and María del Carmen San tana .

1.4.10 Press cl ipping fro m the v anguardia Liberal, datcd March 28, 1990,
denouncing the faet thal three cases o f disappearances had gone cornpletcl y unpuni shcd.
one of thcrn thc case of Isidro Caba lle ro Delgado.

1.4.11. Prcss clipping from the Vanguardia Liberal, datcd May 15, 1990, reporting
the disappcaranco of a nurnbcr of tea chcrs in Santander, among thcm Isidro Caballero
Delgado.

1.5. Plans and ma~

1.5.1. Sketch of the "El Danubio" properly in the Village of Cuaduas, district of
El Líbano, rnunicipality of San Alberto, Dcpartrncnt of Cesar, the sccnc of the cvcnts.

1.5.2 A map o f thc municipallty of San Alberto, Departrncnt of Cesar,
prepared by the Agustín Codazzi Geograph ie lnstitute.

1.6. Reports

1.6.1.
[ournal No. 11.

Report on huma n rights.
Bogota, Septcmbcr 1991.

O ffice of thc Attorney General of the Nation.

1.6.2. Report o f the Un ited Nations Working Group on Enforeed and
lnvoluntary Disappearanccs on its visit to Colombia.
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Documents that the Colombian Governmenl must su pp ly

The Commission is pctitioning thc Court to rcquire that the Colo rnbia n Government su p p ly the
following documents:

2.1. Case files

2.1.1. File from thc proceeding s cond uc ted by thc Second Public O rder Judge
oí the Valledupar Circuir. in con nec tio n with the abduct ion o i Isidro Caba llero and María
del Carmen Santana, against Caplain Héctor Alirio Forero Q u in te ro, Sg t. Second Class
N orberto Báez B ácz, Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fontccha a nd Gonza lo Arias Alturo .

2.1.2 Fil e irom thc preliminary inqu ines con d uc tcd by Military Cr im ina l
Examining Magis trate 26, into thc di sappcnrancc of Isid ro Ca ba llero and Ma r ía d el
Carm en Sa n ta na .

2.1.3 Case file from thc preliminary inquiries cond u c ted by thc O ff ice of the
Attorncv-Del cga tc for Ih e M ili ta ry Forccs into t he de te n lion a nd su bscqucn t
d isappcarancc of Isidro Caba llero ami María d el Carmen Santana .

2.1 .4. File from the pro ceeding cond uc tcd by the First Magistratc of the
Valledupar Circu it, for the cr imes of agg rava ted thcft . a bu se of trust a nd iIIegal posscssion
of weapon s, against Captain H éctor Aliri o Forero Quinte ro , Corporal Second Class
Norberto Báez Bácz, Luis Gonza lo Pinzón Fon techa a nd Gonzalo Ari a s Alturo , for cvents
that occurred o n Ma rch 18 a nd 19,1 989, in thc municipa lities o f Bucaramanga, Dcpar tment
of Santander, and Ciénaga, Depa rtmen t of Magd ¡¡l ena .

2. 1.5. Case fil e takcn frorn the o ra l procccd ings of the Cour t Mart ial . Octobcr
25,1990, conducted by the Fi íth Brigade againsl Ca p ta in H éctor Forero Quintero, for the
crimes of ab use o f tru st, aggr,w¡¡tcd thcf t and illega l posscssi o n o f arrns.

2.1.6. Case file for thc o ra l p roceed ings in thc Cou r t Mart ial o f Oc robcr 18,
1992, con d uc ted by the Fi f th Brigadc againSI Norber to B ácz B áez, for the cr irnes o f thcft,
manufacture, possession, and traffi ck ing in a rms, munitions and ex plosivos.

2.1.7. A cop y of thc case file in thc disciplinary procccdings conductcd against
Captain H éctor Alirio Forero Qu intero by the Ofiice o f the Attorncy-Delcgatc for the
Mil itary Forccs, fo r thc disappcarancc o f Ernes to Archila Ma rtinez a nd H écror C ómez,
cvcn ts that occu rrcd o n Fcbruary 11) a nd 11 , 1988.

2.1.8. A co py o f t he m q u irics cond uc ted b y thc Firs t Su per io r Cour t o f
Bucaramanga on thc applicat ion for a writ o f habms corpus.

2.2. Dccisio ns

2.2.1. A copy of Dccision No. 104 o f Apri l 26, 1990, and Decisi ón No. 394 o f
September 25, 1990, whcrcby thc military pro sccutor se n tcnccd Ca p ta in H éctor Alirio
Forero Quintero lo dismissal from thc scrvicc ,
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2.2.2. Copy of Fi fth Brigade Dec ision No. 0016, o( March 4, 1992, whercby
Norberto B áez B áez was pcrmanently sevcred frorn scrvice.

2.3. Service records

2.3.1. A copy of the se rvicc record of Captain Héctor Alirio Forero Quintero,

2.3 .2. A copy of the service record of Corpora l Second Class Norberto Báez B áez,

2.3.3. A copy o f the service record o! noncornmissioncd o fficcr Plácido Chacón
Hern ándcz.

2.3.4. A copy of thc serv íce record o f enlistcd man Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fontccha.

2.3.5. A copy of thc se rvicc record of enlistcd man Gonzalo Arias Alturo .

(b) Testimony: con sisti ng of sta tcmen ts by cyewitnesscs whose narncs appear in th ose case
files and all of whom will be citcd, so that lo the cxtent possiblc, Ihey loo may appear before the Court
lo confirm and expand upon their staterncnts: and statcmcnts by persons who have knowledge of other
circumstances that have a bearing upon the facts:

1. O ((ercd by Ihe Commission

1.1. Luis Alber to Gil, Prcsid ent of th e Santa nder Tcachcrs' Un i ón, a resident of
Bucaramanga , Depa rtment of San tander, lo d escribe for the Cour l Isid ro Caballero's
ac tivi tios and the pcrsecu tion to wh ich mcrnbcrs of the Santa nder Teachcrs' Union are
sub jcctcd.

1.2. Dr. Rafael Serra no Prad a, a representativo lo th e House and mcmber of the
Santander Regional Dialogu e C:om mission, to describe for the Court the mcasurcs he look
in thc case o f Isidro Caball ero and the artiviti cs ca rried out in connection with thc national
dialogue.

1.3. Professor Juan Fcrn ándcz Ca rrasqu illa, a litigating a ttorney in Colombia and
an export in crim inal proccd urcs and habeas corpus, lo describe for the Court thc workings
of these mechanisms in Colombia.

1.4. Jorge Castellanos Pu lido, Di recto r of the Ed ucatio n and Popu lar C ulture
Found al ion a nd a m c mbcr of thc No r thcas ter n Pub lic Stee r ing Co m m ittee in
Bucaramanga, to d escri be for the Cour t the human rights si tua rion in th e Magdalena
Medio a rca a t thc time thcsc cvcn ts occu rred a nd Is idro Caballc ro's role in the work
stop page in thc nortncastcrn sector of Colombia .

1.5. Hcrrninda Caballe ro de Balleste ros, sister of Isidro Caballero Delgad o, who
lived in thc municipal sca t of the municipality of Piedecuesta, Departrncnt of Santander, lo
describe for the Cou rt the mensu res shc took lo locate Isidro Caballe ro.

1.6. Dr. David Za fra Ca lderó n, Secrcta ry Genera l of th e Colombia n Tcachers'
Fed cration (FECODE), to describe for th e Cour t thc persccution of ed uca tors in Colombia
and the vio lcnce targeted aga ins t them.
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1.7. Dr. Javier Jerez, w ho al the lime of the cven ts was cha ir man of thc Perrnanent
Com mittce on Human Rights in San tander. lo d escribe for thc Courl Isidro Caba llcro's role
in the national dialogue.

1.8. María Nodclia Parra María, com mon-la w wifc of Isidro Caballero, who
resides in Bucararnanga, Dcpartment of San tander, lo d escribe for thc Court the threats
againsl Isidro Caball ero, th e cffo r ts m ade subscqu cnt lo hi s d isa ppearancc and their
results,

1.9. Rosa Delia Valderra ma, who livcs o n th e "El Danubio" farm in the village of
Cuaduas, municipalily of San Alberto, Dcpartrnent of El Cesa r, lo d escribe for the Courl
the circurnstances surrou nd ing the dctention of Isid ro Caba llero and María d el Ca rmen
Santana .

1.10. Sobeida Qu in te ro, who livcs in tho municipality o f Cu ru rnaní, Dcpartment of
Cesar, lo describe for thc Court th c circumstances surrou nd ing thc dctcnti on of Isid ro
Caballero and María d el Carmen San lana.

1.11. Elida Gon zá \cz Vergel, who livcs in the municipality of Oca ña. Dcpartment of
Norte de Santander. lo d escribe for the Court the cí rcu mstanccs su rrou nd ing the dctcnt ion
of Isidro Caballero and María d el Carmen Sanlana .

1.1 2. Javier P ácz. who can be located in the Congrcss of the Rcpubli c. in San ta f é d e
Bogola, lo tcll the Cou rt what he knows concerning tho ci rcu rnsta nres su rround ing th e
d etention of Isid ro Ca ba lle ro a nd María del Ca rmen Sa nta na .

1.13. Guillermo G uerrero Zambrano, who resid es in San Alberto a nd is a mcmber of
thc Indupalma union, lo d escribe for the Cour t Isid ro Caballc ros ac tivi tics in the Sa n
Alberto area and the measures taken lo locate h is whcrcabou ts .

1.14. Profcssor N igel Rodl ey . Dcan of the Law School of thc Universi ty of Essex .
former Legal Director of Amnesty lnternational. to describe ior the Cou rt the phenomenon
of enforced o r in voluntary di sap pcarancc in Colom bia .

2. Wilnesses who should be sum moned by the Colombian Covcrnrncn t: Becau se thcy are or have
been civil servan ts, the Go vernmenl of the Republ ic of Colombia is in a position lo establish thc prescnt
whereabouts of the following witnesses and cnsu re their ap pea ra nce before th e Cou rt:

2.1. Dr. Víctor Enrique Nava rro , a n oHicia l wi th the OHice o f th c Atlorney Genera l of the
Nation, lo inform thc Cou rt the (acts he asccrta íned in co nd ucti ng the ín ves tí ga tí o n into the
disappearancc of Isid ro Caba lle ro and María del Carmen San tana.

2.2. Ricardo Vargas L ópez, a n oHicial of the Office of the Attorney Genera l of thc Nation, in the
city of Bucaramanga, Departrnent o i Santander. lo describe for the Cou rt the investigation he
cond ucted inlo the disappearancc of Isidro Caballero.

2.3. Dr. Elizabcth Monsal ve Ca m acho, who wa s serving as Municipal Personera ior Sa n
Alberto. Department of Cesa r, a t thc lime o i thc cvcnts, lo describe for the Cour t th e mea sures
she look in the case of thc d isa ppcara ncc of Isidro Ca ballero a nd María d el Ca rmen San tana .
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2.4. Dr. José Manuel [aimcs Quintero, who wa s scrving as Sccond Crimina l Examining
Magistrate of the Vallcdupar Circuit at the time of these evcnts, to describe for the Court the
criminal proceedings cond uc ted in thc case of the d ísappcaranco of Isidro Caballe ro a nd María
del Carmen Santana .

2.5. Dr. Blas Almanza Mart ínez. who was scrving as Second Public Ordor Judge of Valledupar
al the time of these even ts, lo inform the Court of the facts he lcarncd, both judicially and
extrajudicially , conccrning the disa p pearance of Isid ro Caballe ro and María d el Carmen
Santana.

2.6. Lt. Col .Ir) Diego Hernán Vc landia Pastrana, Cornrnandcr of Infantry Battalion No. 15
Santander a t the time of thesc cven ts, to d escribe for the Cour t the military opera tio ns he
ordered in the Sa n Alberto a rca a l thc lime of the d isappea rancc of Isid ro Caballero a nd María
del Carmen Santana, thc circurnstances surround ing the detention of thcsc two citizcns and thc
preci se location of the victi ms at thc prescnt time.

2.7. Cap tai n (r) H éctor Aliri o Forero Quintero, Company Com mander in Cald as Battalion,
hcadquartcred in Bucaramanga, Dcpartment of Santander, to describe for thc Court the
circurnstances under which he was transfcrred to San Alberto, the opcra tions he conducted on
orders in lhal area , the circu msta nces surround ing the dctention of Isidro Caballero, the precise
location o f the victims at the p rcscn t time and his rela tionship lo Norberto Báez Bácz. Plácido
C hacón, Gonzalo Arias and Gonza lo Pinzón .

2.8. Corporal Second Class (r) Norberto Bácz Bácz, noncommiss ioned officcr with Caldas
Battalion, headq uartercd in Buca ramanga al the lime of thcsc cvcn ts, lo d escribe for the Court
his acti vitics in the Sa n Alberto arca, the circumstances of thc dctcnt ion of Isidro Caballero and
María del Carmen Santana and thcir precise locarion at the prcsont time.

2.9. Noncornmissíoned Officer Plácido C hacón Hcrn ándcz (no further information available)
lo d escribe for the Cour t the circumslances of the d etcntion o f Isidro Caballero and María del
Carmen Sa ntana and their location a l thc prescnt lime.

2.10. Gonza lo Arias Alturo, a rcsidcnt of Bucaramanga, Dcpa rtrnent o f San ta nder, al Ca lle
38 No. 60-71, Barr io Lagos ll, to desc ribe ío r thc Co u rt thc circum stances of the d e ten tion of
Isidro and María del Ca rmen a nd their precise local ion a l the prosen t lime.

(d) fuerl testimony : In thc cvcn t th at thc Covcm rncn t of Colom bia indicatcs the precise
locatíon whcre Isidro C aba llero a nd Ma ría d el Ca rmen San ta na are buricd , it is rcquestcd that an
exhumation, by technical cxpcrts the Comrnission will supply, be cond ucted for purposes o f verifying
the identity o f tho victims,

VIL FINDINGS IN THE CASE

In the proceeding s conductcd by the Corn rnission, the following facts have becn subs tan tia ted and
establish the Colombian Covcrnrncn t's responsibility:

a) Isid ro Caba llero and María d el Ca rmen San tana, accompa nied by Javier I'áez, tra vcled to
the village of Cuadua s in thc municipality of San Alberto to hclp plan thc "Mee ting for
Cocxis tencc a nd Normalization" that was to be held a few days later in tha t place. Their
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guide, Javier P áez, left thcm upon their arrival in Guaduas, promising to rcturn for thcm.
Upon his return he, loo, was takcn by the Army;

b) Isidro and María de) Carmen wcre interccpted and detaincd by an Army Ballalion dressed
in camouflage suits:

el Isidro and María del Carmen wcre takcn away by the Army, lo sorne unknown
deslination;

d) While in army custod y, Isidro Caballero was dressed in the same camou fl age suits worn
by the sold iers;

e) Isidro and María del Carmen were taken lo sorne unknown place, near a crcck: while they
were being held therc by the army, Mr. Javier Páez was also detaincd when he rcturned lo
pick up Isidro and María del Ca rmen and lcarncd o f thcir presence whcn he ovcrheard the
sold iers mention that they had also d ctained Isidro and María del Carmen;

f) In spite of all of thesc confirmations, the army refused to tell the truth, denymg that army
personnel had detained Isidro Caballero and María del Carmen; it failcd in its obligalion to
hand them over lo the judicial au tho rities, which thc regimenl chicf acknowledged was the
arrny's duty:

gl The Army was the first and on ly source lo revcal that Isidro Caballe ro and María del
Carmen had becn found dead along one of the roads in thc arca ; this inforrnation wa s told
lo the witness Carmen Belén Aparicio who. on the day of thesc indi viduals wcrc detained
and disappearcd, was visitcd a t hornc by a Santander Battalion patrol to cstablish a link
betwcen her and Isidro and María del Carmen, saying that Is idro had said that he was on
his way to buy sorne provisions for her.

h) Thal sorne lime later, Gonza lo Arias Alturo acknowledged his role a nd that of certain
other soldíers in thc commission of these acts.

To the foregoing. which ostabli shes the Colombian Covcrnrnent's objcctive responsibility for acts
committed by its agcnts, rnust be added thc dircct responsibility borne by the Colombia n Government
itself by virtue of acts cornm it tcd by its admini strati on, in volving ncgligcncc. cornplicity,
irnprovidence, abetmcnt. obslruction of justicc, noncompl iance with s tanda rds of in ternat ional law or
violation thereof, all of which thc Com mission sha ll duly d crnonstratc to thc Co urt in thc cou rse of
thesc proceedings.

VIII. COURT COSTS AND ATTORNEYS' FEES

In due course the Court will establish thc court costs and attorncys' Ices that thc Covcrnment of
the Republic o f Colombia must pay lo d efray the expenses incurred in prosecuting the instant case .
The attorneys who represent the victirns in thc instant case have informed thc Com mission that they
will waive any individual Ices a nd will d ona le the co rrespond ing su rns lo cerlain nonprofit
humanitarian organizations which shall be idontified in due course.
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IX. APPOINTMENT OF DELEGATES

The Commission is designating to the Cou rt, as the delegare lo act on its behalf and as its
representative in the instant case, Dr. Leo Valladares Lanza, a member of the Cornmission. He sh all be
assisted by Dr. Edith Márquez Rodríguez, Execu tivc Sccrctary of the Com mission, and by an attorney
with the Com mission, Dr. Manuel Velasco Cla rk. O ther delega les or adviscrs may even tua lly be
d esignated .

X. DESIGNATION OF ADVISERS

The Com rmssion's legal representat ivos sha ll be assis tcd by the following adviscrs: Dr. Gusta vo
Gallón Ciraldo, Dr. María Consuelo d el Río, Dr. Jorge Gómez Lizarazo, Dr. Juan E. M éndez and Dr.
José Miguel Vivanco, who were co-pctitioners in the instant case and are representing the relatives of
the victims.

C iven the foregoing, Ihe Commission is requcsting the mcrnbers of thc Cou rt to ad rnit, notify
and process this petit íon and , in duc cou rsc. decl are it admi ssible, iinding that thc Colomb ia n
Government, by the aclions of its agents or its own acts. has violated , in thc case of Isidro Caballero and
María del Carmen Santana , its dutics ro respcct and guaran tcc th c ío llowing rights:

1. The right lo personal li bcrty, recognized in Art icle 7 of thc Conven tion, in rel ation to
Articlc 1.1 thereof;

')_.

3.

4 .

5.

The right to humane trcatrncnt recognized in Article 5 of Ihe Conven tion, in relation lO
Article 1.1 thereof;

The right lo life recognized in Article 4 of the Convention, in rclation to Article 1.1 thereof;

The righl to a fair trial , recogni zed in Article 8 of the Convention, in rclation lo Article 1.1
Ihereoi;

The right lo a judi cial protection. recogni zod in Article 25 o f the Co nvcn tion, in relalion to
Article 1.1 thcrcof:

6. The State's duty lo adopt d orncstic legal provisions, as recogni zed in Article 2 of th e
Convention.

7. The obliga lion lo corn ply wit h the Cornrniss ion 's recommendations In good faith ,
recognized in Article 51 .2, in rclati on to Article 29.c of the Convention.

Finally, thc Com mission is pctitioning the Cou rt to decl are that the Government of Colombia
must pay fair compensation to thc victims' ncxt -of-kin, which co mpensa tion sha ll be iixed by the Court
in the process of executing thc judgment.

Washington, D.C., December 21 , 1992
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them on February 7, 1989. The witness stated that upon rea ching the village at the a ppo in ted time, he
was seized by army personncl, who asked him whcther he knew Isidro Caballero; whcn thc witncss
a nsw ered that he did, they accused him of being a g ue rrilla, tortured hirn, and then rcleased him .
During hi s capti vity, he hcard the military patrol con tact Morrinson Base to rcqucst instructions as lo
what to do with the two guerrillas they had captured and to report that they had captured a third .
Javier Páez knew onc of his abductors, whom he idcntificd as Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fontccha.

Bccause of thcse s ta terncn ts and othcrs he ruado to tho O ffice of the Prosecutor. Ja vier Páez was
threatened and had to Ir-a ve the San Alberto vicinity.

On March 18, 1989, thc exa m ining jud gc too k testimony from Elida Conz álcz, who had bccn
detained by the army thc sam e day and in thc sarn c village as Isid ro Caballero and María del Carmen
Santana , as she wa s en routc to her mother's hornc. The witncss s ta ted that Isidro Caballero Delgado,
whom she identified in a photograph, was drcssed in a military camou flage suit and had a yo ung
woman with him.

That sa me day, March 18, María Nodelia Parra, acting lhrough her a tto rncy.. fil cd thc petit io n
seeking lo become a civilian party lo the legal proceedings.

On March 22, 1989, the newspaper Vanguardia Liberal carricd a n í tem tit lcd "Maraud ing So ld iers
Captured" which reponed th at Cap ta in H éctor Forero Qu intero, Corporal Seco nd Class N orberlo Bácz
B áez and cnlisted mcn Gonza lo Pinzón Fontecha and Go nza lo Arias. wi th the Francisco José de Caldas
Army Battalion, were ca p tu red in thc mun icipality of El Copey. in the Depa rtrnen t o f Cesar, a fter they
held up a nurnbcr o f rnotels and gaso li ne sta tions and stole severa! vchicles . They wcre brought bcforc
the First Public Order Judge oi Val ledupar.

In a line-up o n June 12, 1989, Ja vier P áez ident ifíed Luis Gonza lo Pinzón Fontecha as o ne o i thc
individuals in the patrol th at had arrestcd him and that had takcn Isidro Caba llero Delgado the d ay
bcfore. This p rocedure was cond ucted by the Second Crimi na l Examining Magistrate al the Valledupar
gaol whcre Pinzón Fontecha was being held on o rders frorn th e Fi rsl Public Order [udgc, Two days
later. the Examining Judge rcíerrcd the case for assignment to a Vallcdupar public ordcr judge with the
rcsult that the Second [udge rcccivcd the case.

Even though by Ma rch 17 th crc werc alrcady legal ground s to ordcr tha t p rocced ings or a n
investigation be instituted as thcrc wcrc known suspoc ts, it was not unt il Augu st l . 1989 that the
Seco nd Public O rder [ud ge insti tu ted proceedi ngs and, wi th lhat, lallnched Ihe co rrespondi ng
invesligation. Under qUE'Slioning on August 3, 1989, Luis Go nza lo Pin zón Fo n lech,1 was linked to lhe
case and on Augusl 8 lhe judge issued lhe warrant lo have Pinzón Fontecha a rresled.

O n Augll st 22, 1989, via Com m ll nica lion No. 989, the Firs l Public O rder Judge informed lhe
Second Judge Ihal besides Luis Gonzalo Pinzón Fonlecha , Caplain Héclor Forero Quin tero . Corporal
Sccond C1ass Norberto Báez Báez and enlisled man Gonzalo Arias Altura were a!so ca p tll red . Under
qllestioning they. too , were linked lo lhe case; the Second Public O rder Judge o rd e red that Héclor
Forero Quintero and Gonzalo Arias Allura be held in cus!od v, but nol Norberto Báez Báez .,

O n Janu ary 3 ] , 1990, the a lto rney ior Ca p la in Héclo r Alirio F(lrerO Q uin lero reqll esled
nullification oi the arresl warrant, a reqllest denied by lhe Second Publi c O rder jlldge. The altorney
then a ppea led that decision with the Firs t Public Order Jlldgl'. who nullified lhe a rresl warranl in a
ruling of May 8, 1990, and orc!ered lhe immec! ia te release o i Captain Héclor Forero Quintero.
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STATUS OF RATIFICATIONS AND ADHERENCES

AMERICAN CONVENTION ON HUMAN RIGHTS
"PACT OF SAN JOSE, COSTA RICA"

Signed at San [osé, Costa Rica, on November 22,1969,
at the Inter-American Specialized Conference on Human Rights

ENTRY INTO FORCE:

DEPOSITORY:

TEXT:

UN REGISTRATION:

18 july 1978, in accordance with Article 74.2 of the Convention.

OAS General Sccrctariat (Original instrument and ratifications).

OAS Treaty Series, No. 36.

27 August 1979, No. 17955.

Signatory
CQllilb:ies

Date of

~

Date of Deposit of
Instrument of Ratifi­

ruiQn Qr Adherence

Date of Acceptance
of the Jurisdiction

Qf fue CQ\!.!1

Argentina 02/Il/84 05/IX/84 05/IX/84
Barbados 20/V1/78 05/X1/81
Boli via 19/VIl/79
Brazil 25/1X/92
Chile 22/XI/69 21/VIII/90 21/VIll/90
Colombia 22/XI/69 31/VII/73 21/VI/85
Costa Rica 22/XI/69 08/IV /70 02/VlI/80
Dominican Rep. 07/1X/77 19/IV/78
Ecuador 22/X1/69 28/XlI/77 24/VI1/84
El Salvador 22/XI/69 23/V1/78
Grenada 14/VIl/78 18/V1I/78
Guatemala 22/XI/69 25/V /78 09/111/87
Hai ti 27/IX/77
Honduras 22/XI/69 08/IX/77 09/IX/81
jamaica 16/1X/77 07/VIII/78
Mcxico 24/X1/81
Nicaragua 22/XI/69 25/IX/79 12/H/91
Panama 22/X1/69 22/V1/78 9/V /90
Paraguay 22/X1/69 24/VIII/89 *
Peru 27/VII/77 28/VIl/78 21/1/81
Suriname 12/XI/87 12/XI/87
Trinidad y Tobago 29/V /91 29/V /91
United Sta tes 0l/VI/77
Uruguay 22/XI/69 19/IV /85 19/IV/85
Venezuela 22/XI/69 09/VIlI/77 24/VI/81

* After the period covered by this report, on March 26, 1993, Paraguay ratified the competence of the
Court.
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ADDITIONAL PROTOCOL TO THE AMERICAN CONVENTION ON
HUMAN RIGHTS IN THE AREA OF ECONOMIC,

SOCIAL, AND CULTURAL RIGHTS
"PROTOCOL OF SAN SALVADOR"

Signed a t San Sal vador, El Salvador, on November 17, 1988,
at the Eighteenth Regular Session of the General Assembly

ENTRY INTO FORCE:

DEPOSITORY:

TEXT:

UN REGISTRATION:

When eleven Sta tes havo dcposíted their respective instrurnents of
ratificalion or accession.

OAS General Secretariat (Original instrumcnt and ratifícations).

OAS Treaty Series, No. 69.

Signatory
Countries

Argentina
Bolivia
Costa Rica
Dorninican Republic
Ecuador
El Salvador
Guatemala
Ha i t i
Mexico
Nicaragua
Panama
Paraguay
Peru
Suriname
Uruguay
Venezuela

Date of
fugnatyre

17/ XI/SS
17/XI/SS
17/XI/8S
17/ X1/8S
17/ XI / 88
17/ XI / 88
17/ X1/8S
17/ X1/8S
17/ X1/88
17/ X1/8S
17/ XI / 8S
17/ XI/88
17/ XI /SS

17/XI/S8
27/1/89

Date of Deposit of
Instrument of Ratifi­
cation Qr Adherence

*

**

10/VI1/90

* After the period covered by this report , on March 25, 1993, Ecuador depositcd the lnstrumenl of
Ra tifica tion.

** After the period covcred by this report, on February 18, 1993, Panamá depositcd the Instrument of
Ratification.
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UN REGISTRATION:
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PROTOCOL TO THE AMERICAN CONVENTION
ON HUMAN RIGHTS TO ABOLISH

DEATH PENALTY

Signed al Asunción, Paraguay, on [une 9,1990,
al thc Twcntieth Regular Session of tho

Cencral Asscrnbly

For the Statcs which ratify or adhcre lo it, upon the deposit of the
respective instrurncnt of ratification or accession.

OAS Ccneral Sccrctariat (Original inslrument and ratifications.)

OAS, Trcatv Series, No. 73
~

Signatory
Countries

Date of
Signature

Dale of Deposit of
Instrument of Ralifi­
cation or Adherence

Costa Rica 28/X/91

Ecuador 27/VIII/90

Nicaragua 30/VIII/90

Panama 26/XI/90 28/VIII/91

Uruguay 02/X/90
•

Venezuela 25/IX/90
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2.4. Action taken by the Attorney-Delegate for the M ili tary forces

At the rcqucst of thc reg ional hu man rig h ts co m mi ttees, thc Attorncy-Dclega tc for the Milita ry
Forccs, Dr. Manuel Sa lvad o r Be ta ncu r. tra vcled by hel icoptcr to th c region on Feb ruary 17. For
"rcasons of secu rity". as rcportcd, he land cd in thc com m u nity of Aguachica and frorn therc wcn t
ovcrland to San Alberto: bcfore d oi ng 50, howcvcr. he tclephoncd Col. Veland ia. the Cornmander of
San tander Battali on a t Morrinson Base in the Dist riet of El Líbano, lo announcc tha t he would shortly
be a rriv ing a t the ba se in sca rch of Isid ro Caballe ro; as the pcti tioncrs obscr vcd , he thcrcby gave the
Comma nder advancc not ice. whieh allowed him su fficient time lo c íthcr hide or transfcr the p ríso ners.

Du ring the convcrsation bctwcc n the Attorney-Dclcgatc and the Com mand er of Sa nta nder
Battalion, accord ing lo tcachcrs a nd membcrs of human rights co rn rni ttccs who werc present , Col.
Vclandia said th at he was a la w-abiding eiti zen and that had he takcn anyone in to custody, he would
have turned that individual ovcr lo th c proper au thori ti cs. The Attomcy-Delega tc thcn cond uc tcd his
"scarch" of thc mililary ba se and lef t for Bogola . According to report s. he di d not agree to thc teachcrs'
requcst th at he go to tho villnge of C uad uas to qucstion the wi tnesscs. He made no record of the visit,
a rguing that it had becn very informa l. f le tole! thc tcachcrs th a t thc coloncl had promiscd to spare no
effort in his scarch for Isidro ,

2.5. The replies frorn the Corn rn ande rs

Through Com mu nica tion 00 I296-8 R-S-COO -928 d a ted Fcbruarv 27, 1989, Cenera! Vacca Perilla,
Co m ma nder o f thc Fif th Brigad c. dcnicd ha ving hcld Isid ro and Ma rta del Ca rmen in cus tod y and
reponed that in view o f the cha rges. a d ecisio n had bccn mado to la u neh an inves tiga tion through
Milita ry Crim ina l Examining Magistratc 26, sea tcd in Oca ña.

Acco rdi ng lo reports . in his rc ply o f March 4, 1989 (Co mmunicar io n 476-BR-S-COBISAN- 789J,
Co l. Vcland ia was even more cmp ha tic in dc nying these facts . 1'0 p rove his point tha t thc d isappcared
wcre not a l Morrinson Ba se, Col. Vela ndia mad e allu sion lo th c visi t madc thcrc by thc Atto rncy­
Dclcga tc for th e Milita ry Forccs: he d cnicd tha t thcrc wcre any ordcrs ío r opcra tions "e ithcr
frilgmentilry or nonfragmcntary, since the Carnp's solc pu rpose was lo co nd uc t the dai ly chccks and
early morning reconnai ssanee missi('ns on llrde rs fro m the Ba se Com mil nder, for w hich no operation
o rd ers a re required as il is th e ba lt il lion's sole iunetion .'" He su pplied lhe nilmes of the 32 sold ie rs
a tlaehed lo lhe El Líbano Cam p ilnd a!so repo rted lhil l o lhe r individua ls -all o f lhem farm managers
had di S<'lppeared in Sa n Al berlo ilnd Ihil l lhey were "la ken il l va rious fa rms by lIni formed ind ividuals
c\iliming lo be sold iers, ea rryi ng long ¡1l1d sho rl weapons ,m e! who sa iJ , as lhey look lhe disilppeared
il way, lhilt lhey eou ld be c\ilimed lhe nexl d ay a l Morrinson Ba se ." To corrobora te this, he il llilehed a
eopy of a eom p la in l lo lha l effee l fil ed al the Office of lhe M(mi eipa l Inspeel ion by Sg t. Mil jar José
Sera fín O rejuela Cañiza les. He il lso infl' rmed the Allorney lha t as a result o f lhe d isappeara nces of
Is idro and María d el Ca rm en , "1 h il ve been lhe targe t of every conee ivable type of threal il n d
psychologiea l coercion, through co u n tlcss Jetters and teleg ram s wri tlen in English and in a lher
languages"; he was no d ou bt rcferring to the letters from humanilaria n o rga niza tions around lhe
world, implonng that lhe life and personil l inlegrily Di the di sappeilred be respecled.

2.6. Overtures with lhe Office of lhe Deputy Attorney General of the Nalion

The hu man rights co m mi tlees illso mild e o vertures lo lhe O fiiee o f the Depll ty Altornl.'Y C enera l
of the Nalion . As a result, o n March 1, 1989,lhe Depllly Allo rney Cenera l, Dr. O ma r Henry Velazeo,



THE ORGANIZATION OF AMERICAN STATES

The purposes of the Organization of American States (OAS) are to strengthen the peace and
security of the Hemisphere; to prevent possible causes of difficulties and to ensure the pacific
settlement of disputes that may arise among the member states; ro provide for common action
on the pan of those states in the event of aggression; to seek the solution of political, juridical,
and economic problems that may arise among them; and to promote, by cooperative action,

. their economic, social, and cultural development.

To achieve these objectives, the OAS acts through the General Assembly; the Meeting of
Consultation of Ministers of Foreign Affairs; the three Councils (the Permanent Council, the
Inter-Arnerican Economic and Social Council, and the Inter-American Council for Education,
Science, and Culture); the Inter-American Juridical Committee; the Inter-American
Commission on Human Rights; the General Secretariat: the Specialized Conferences; and the
Specialized Organizations.

The General Assembly holds regular sessions once a year and special sessions when
circumstances warrant. The Meeting of Consultationis convened to consider urgent matters of
common interest and 10 serve as Organ of Consultation in the application of the ínter-American
Treaty of Reciprocal Assistance (known as the Rio Treaty), which is the main instrument for
joint action in the event of aggression. The Permanent Council takes cognizance of matters
referred to it by the General Assembly or the Meeting of Consultation and carnes out the
decisions of borh when their implementation has not been assigned to any other body; monitors
the maintenance of friendly relations among the member states and the observance of the

. standards governing General Secretariat operations; and, in certain instances specified in the
Charter of the Organization, acts provisionally as Organ of Consultation under the Rio Treaty.
The other two Councils, each of which has a Permanent Executive Committee, organize inter­
American action in their areas and hold regular meetings once ayear. The General Secretariat
is the central, permanent organ of the OAS. The headquarters of both the Permanent Council
and the.General Secretariat is in Washington, D.C.

The Organization of American States is the oldest regional society of nations in the world,
dating back 10 the First International Conference of American States, held in Washington,
D.C., which on April 14, 1890, established the International Union of American Republics.
When the United Nations was established, the OAS joined it as a regional organization. Its
Charter was signed in Bogota in 1948 and entered into force on December 13, 1951. It was
amended by the Protocol of Buenos Aires signed in 1967 and in force since February 27, 1970.
It was later amended by the Protocol of Cartagena de Indias signed in 1985 and in force since
Novembcr 16,1988. Today the OAS has thirty-three member states,

MEMBER STATES: Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, The Bahamas (Commonwealth oí),
Barbados. Bolivia, Brazil, Cariada. Chile. Colombia, Costa Rica, Cuba, Dominica
(Commonwealth oí), Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Grenada, Guatemala, Haití,
Honduras, Jamaica, Mexico, Nicaragua, Panama, Paraguay, Peru, S1. Kitts and Nevis;Saint
Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, Trinidad and Tobago, Unitetr'States~:
Uruguay, Venezuela.
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